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Forward-Looking StatementsWhen used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the words a€ceanticipates,a€ a€cebelieves,a€ a€cecould,a€ a€oeseeks,a€
a€ceestimates,a€ a€oeexpects,a€ a€ceintends,a€ a€cemay,a€ a€ceplansa€ a€mepotential, &€ a€cepredicts,a€ d€meprojects,a€ a€ceshould,a€ a€oewill,a€
a€cewoulda€ or similar expressions and negatives of those terms are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These are statements that relate to future
periods and include statements about our future results, sources of revenue, our dividend, our continued growth, our gross margins, market trends, our product
development, our introduction of new products, technological developments, the features, benefits and performance of our current and future products, the
ability of our products to address a variety of markets, our growth strategies, future prices, our competitive status, our efforts to mitigate shortages of
components used to manufacture our products, our dependence on our senior management and our ability to attract and retain key personnel, dependency on
and concentration of our distributors, our employee relations, current and potential litigation, current or potential indemnification liabilities, the effects of
government regulations, the impact of tariffs, the expected impact of taxes on our liquidity and results of operations, our compliance with laws and regulations,
our expected future operating costs and expenses and expenditure levels for research and development, selling, general and administrative expenses,
fluctuations in operating results, fluctuations in our stock price, our payment of dividends, our future liquidity and cash needs, and the adequacy of and our
reliance on our source of liquidity to meet such needs, the Facilities (as defined herein), future acquisitions of and investments in complimentary businesses, the
expected impact of various accounting policies and rules adopted by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ,the military conflict between Russia and
Ukraine and the escalating tensions between China and Taiwan on our business and results of operations. Forward-looking statements are subject to risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the impact of
the global shortage of components and pricing inflation associated therewith, the impact of U.S. tariffs on results of operations, our ability to procure products,
our ability to manage our growth, our ability to sustain or increase profitability, demand for our products, our ability to compete, our ability to rapidly develop
new technology and introduce new products, our ability to safeguard our intellectual property, trends in the markets that we compete and fluctuations in
general economic conditions, the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine and the escalating tensions between China and Taiwan on our business, results
and liquidity, and the risks set forth throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including under Item 1, &€ceBusinessa€ and under Item 1A, 4€eRisk
Factors.a€ These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date hereof. Except as required by law, we expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to
release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto or
any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.This Annual Report on Form 10-K also contains estimates and other
information concerning our industry, including market size and growth rates, which are based on industry publications, surveys and forecasts. This information
involves a number of assumptions and limitations, and you are cautioned not to give undue weight to these estimates. These industry publications, surveys and
forecasts generally indicate that their information has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable. While we believe these industry publications, surveys
and forecasts are reliable, we have not independently verified such data. The industry in which we operate is subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk
due to a variety of factors, including those described under Item 1A. &€eeRisk Factors.a€Unless the context requires otherwise, the words é€(BweA,é€ a€oeus,a€
&€ceoura€ 4€ceCompanya€ and 4€ceUbiquitia€ refer to Ubiquiti Inc. and its subsidiaries as a whole. Ubiquiti refers to the fiscal years ended JuneA 30, 2024,
2023 and 2022 as fiscal 2024, fiscal 2023 and fiscal 2022, respectively. ItemA 1. BusinessBusiness Overview The Company was founded by Robert Pera in 2005.
We sell equipment, and provide the related software platforms, worldwide through a network of over 100 distributors, on-line retailers and direct to customers
through our webstores. Ubiquiti Inc. is focused on democratizing network technology on a global scale. Our devices play a role in creating networking
infrastructure in over 200 countries and territories around the world. Our professional networking products are powered by our UISP and UniFi OS software
platforms to provide high-capacity distributed Internet access and unified information technology management, respectively.We develop technology platforms
for high-capacity distributed Internet access, unified information technology, and consumer electronics for professional, home and personal use. We categorize




our solutions into three main categories: high performance networking technology for enterprises, service providers and consumers. We target the enterprise
and service provider markets through our highly engaged community of service providers, distributors, value added resellers, webstores, systems integrators
and corporate IT professionals, which we refer to as the Ubiquiti Community. We target consumers through digital marketing, including 4Table of
Contentsthrough our webstores, retail chains and, to a lesser extent, the Ubiquiti Community.In addition to Mr. Pera, our founder, Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer, who is central to our business, the majority of our human capital resources consist of entrepreneurial and de-centralized research and
development (d4€ceR&Da€) personnel. We do not employ a traditional direct sales force, but instead drive brand awareness through online reviews and
publications, our website, our distributors and the Companya€™s user community where customers can interface directly with our R&D, marketing, and support
teams. Our technology platforms were designed from the ground up with a focus on delivering highly-advanced and easily-deployable solutions that appeal to a
global customer base.We offer a broad and expanding portfolio of networking products and solutions for operator-owners of wireless internet services
(&€eWISPa€ ™ sa€), enterprises and smart homes. Our operator-owner service-provider-product platforms provide carrier-class network infrastructure for fixed
wireless broadband, wireless backhaul systems and routing and the related software for WISPa€™s to easily control, track and bill their customers. Our
enterprise product platforms provide wireless LAN (a€0eWLANA&€) infrastructure, video surveillance products, switching and routing solutions, security
gateways, door access systems, and other complimentary WLAN products along with a unique software platform, which enables users to control their network
from one simple, easy to use software interface. Our consumer products are targeted to the smart home and highly connected consumers. We believe that our
products are differentiated due to our proprietary software, firmware expertise, and hardware design capabilities.We operate our business as one reportable
and operating segment. Further information regarding Segments can be found in NoteA 13 to our Consolidated Financial Statements. Our revenues were $1.9
billion, $1.9 billion and $1.7 billion in the fiscal years ended JuneA 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We reported net income of $350.0 million, $407.6
million and $378.7 million in the fiscal years ended _]uneA 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Refer to our Consolidated Financial Statements included under
Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more financial information.Industry Overview Internet traffic worldwide has grown rapidly in recent
years, driven by an increase in the number of users, increasing mobility of those users and high bandwidth applications, such as video, audio, cloud-based
applications, online gaming and social networking. Wired networking solutions have traditionally been used to address increasing consumer and enterprise
bandwidth needs. However, the high initial capital requirements and ongoing operating costs and long market lead times associated with building and installing
infrastructure for wired networks has severely limited the widespread deployment of these networks in underserved and underpenetrated markets. Wireless
networks have emerged as an attractive alternative for addressing the broadband access needs of underserved and underpenetrated markets in both emerging
and developed countries.Our Technology and ProductsWe offer products and solutions based on our proprietary technology across multiple markets. Utilizing
low-cost hardware and innovative software and firmware, we seek to build price- performance solutions to address both enterprises and service providers.Key
Technology PlatformsOur current Enterprise Provider solutions include:a€¢UniFi Cloud Gateway - UniFi Cloud Gateway is an Enterprise class internet and
security gateway device that provides reliable routing, advanced cybersecurity and powerful site management.a€¢UniFi WiFi - An enterprise WiFi system that
combines state-of-the-art hardware with intuitive software management for configuration of access points at scale.&€¢UniFi Protect - our UniFi Protect platform
is a video surveillance platform with private local storage, secure remote access and cameras designed for every deployment. 4€¢UniFi Switch - UniFi Switch is
a versatile switching platform that delivers high-capacity performance, and power over ethernet to scale enterprise networks.a€¢UniFi Access - UniFi Access is
a state-of-the art door access solution that is easily expandable with touchscreen readers, live video, and mobile application credential support.a€¢UniFi Talk -
UniFi Talk is a plug-and-play business phone system and VoIP subscription service designed to elevate productivity in organizations. 5Table of ContentsOur
current Service Provider and carrier solutions include:a€¢airMAX - our airMAX platform includes proprietary protocols developed by us that contain advanced
technologies for minimizing signal noise. Devices on the airMAX platform, such as customer premise equipment (34€eCPE&€), base station, and backhaul, are
able to support a wireless network that can scale to hundreds of clients per base station over long distances while maintaining low latency and high
throughput.a€¢airFiber - our airFiber platform is a wireless backhaul point-to-point radio system, a wireless method of transmitting data to and from network
backbone. Components of the airFiber products were designed to provide low latency with high throughput. Our airFiber product uses an integrated split
antenna and a global positioning system to simultaneously send data packets from each side of the link.4€¢UFiber GPON - UFiber GPON platform, a plug and
play fiber network technology, that allows users to build passive optical network deployment with minimal effort and cost. It is designed to enable internet
providers (a€ceISPsa€) to quickly build high speed fiber internet networks for many users and over long distance.a€¢Wave - Products built on the proprietary
Wave Technology platform are engineered to maximize speed/performance across long distances using the worldwide, unlicensed 60GHz band.Research and
DevelopmentOur research and development organization is responsible for the design, development and testing of our products. Our geographically-distributed
engineering team has deep expertise and experience in networking and antenna design, and we have a number of personnel with longstanding experience with
network architecture and operation. We have developed and intend to continue to develop our technology in part by operating with a relatively flat reporting
structure that relies on individual contributors or small development teams to develop, test and obtain feedback for our products.As of JuneA 30, 2024, our
research and development team consisted of 1,134 full time equivalent employees, including contractors, located in the United States, Taiwan, China, Latvia, the
Czech Republic, Lithuania, Ukraine, Sweden, and elsewhere. Our research and development operations work on product development of new products and new
versions of existing products. Our research and development expenses were $159.8 million, $145.2 million and $137.7 million for fiscal 2024, fiscal 2023 and
fiscal 2022, respectively. We expect that the number of our research and development personnel will increase over time and that our research and development
expenses will also increase. For a further discussion of the uncertainties and business risks associated with our international workforce and operations, refer to
risk factors under d€cePart I - Item 1A. Risk Factors - Risks Related to Our International Operations.a&€Manufacturing and SuppliersWe use contract
manufacturers, primarily located in Vietnam and China, to manufacture our products. Over the long term, our contract manufacturers are not required to
manufacture our products for any specific period or in any specific quantity. If necessary, we expect that it would take approximately three to six months to
transition manufacturing, quality assurance and shipping services to new providers. For a further discussion of the uncertainties and risks associated with our
contract manufacturers, see a€cePart I - Item 1A. Risk Factors - Risks Related to Our Business and Industry - We rely on a limited number of contract
manufacturers to produce our products. Shortages of components or manufacturing capacity could increase our costs or delay our ability to fulfill future orders
and could have a material adverse impact on our business and results of operations.a€We rely on third party components and technology to build and operate
our products, and we rely on our contract manufacturers to obtain the components, subassemblies and products necessary for the manufacture of our products.
While components and supplies in the past have been generally available from a variety of sources, we and our contract manufacturers currently depend on a
single or limited number of suppliers for several components for our products. We and our contract manufacturers rely on purchase orders rather than long-
term contracts with these suppliers. The majority of our product revenues are dependent upon the sale of products that incorporate components from a small
number of suppliers. We are party to non-exclusive license agreements with some of these suppliers whereby we license certain technology that we incorporate
into our products. These agreements generally automatically renew for successive one-year periods unless the agreements are terminated by written notice of
nonrenewal with advance notice prior to the end of their then-current term. The Company has not received any termination notice as of the date of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. We depend on these license agreements to modify and replace firmware on certain chipsets with our proprietary firmware. While our
agreements with suppliers remains effective, the terms of these agreements, allow either party to terminate the agreements without cause at the end of the
annual contract term.We have experienced in the past, particularly from 2020 to 2023, and may experience in the future, periodic volatility in the supply of
components used to manufacture our products. This has resulted in supply constraints and corresponding increases in component delivery lead times and costs
to obtain components, and resulted in delays in product production. 6Table of ContentsWe do not stockpile sufficient components, to cover the time it would
take to re-engineer our products to replace the components used to manufacture our products and we generally do not have any guaranteed supply
arrangements with our suppliers for these components (including the chipsets). While we have attempted to mitigate supply shortages through our contract
manufacturers and exploring open-market avenues to procure the necessary components, there is no assurance that we will be able to obtain sufficient supply of
such components on suitable terms, including the pricing terms. If we need to seek a suitable second source for these components for our products, there can be
no assurance that we would be able to successfully source our chipsets on suitable terms, if at all. In any event, our use of chipsets from multiple sources may
require us to significantly modify our designs and manufacturing processes to accommodate these different chipsets. We believe any shortage or delay in the
supply of these components would harm our ability to continue to manufacture and supply our products, which would adversely affect our product offerings and
revenues. For a further discussion of the uncertainties and business risks associated with the shortages of components, see a&€cePart I - Item 1A. Risk Factors -
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry - We rely upon a limited number of suppliers. If these sources fail to satisfy our supply requirements or we are
unable to manage our supply requirements through other sources, it could disrupt our business or have a material adverse effect on our results of operations
and financial condition.a€We have experienced significant supply constraints caused, in part, by the COVID-19 pandemic. Our efforts to mitigate these supply
constraints have included, for example, increasing our inventory build in an attempt to secure supply and meet customer demand, paying higher component and
shipping costs to secure supply and modifying our product designs to leverage alternate suppliers. Although these mitigation efforts are intended to optimize
our access to the components required to meet customer demand for our products, we have limited visibility into future sales, which makes it difficult to forecast
our future results of operations. These mitigation efforts have caused our inventory and vendor deposit balances to increase in the past, and they may cause
such increases in the future. These mitigation efforts therefore significantly increase the risks of future material excess, obsolete inventory and related losses.
We believe that we have taken the right actions to mitigate these supply constraints; however, we recognize the associated risks. For a further discussion of the
uncertainties and business risks associated with the supply constraints, refer to a&€cePart I - Item 1A. Risk Factors - Risks Related to Our Business and Industry -
Our contract manufacturers, logistics centers and certain administrative and research and development operations, as well as our customers and suppliers, are
located in areas likely to be subject to natural disasters, public health problems, military conflicts and geopolitical tensions, which could adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial condition.a€TariffsIn June 2018, the Office of the United States Trade Representative announced new proposed
tariffs for certain products imported into the U.S. from China. The vast majority of our products that are imported into the U.S. from China are currently subject
to tariffs that range between 7.5% and 25%. On January 22, 2020, the United States of Trade Representative announced it will reduce Section 301 List 4A
additional tariffs from 15% to 7.5% and the List 4B tariffs would not go into effect. These tariffs have affected our operating results and margins. For so long as
such tariffs are in effect, we expect it will continue to affect our operating results and margins. As a result, our historical and current gross profit margins may
not be indicative of our gross profit margins for future periods. Refer to a€cePart I - Item 1A. Risk Factors - Risks Related to Our International Operationsa€. Our
business may be negatively affected by political events and foreign policy responsesa€ for additional information.Sales and DistributionWe sell our products and
solutions globally to enterprises and service providers primarily through our extensive network of distributors, and, to a lesser extent, direct customers. During
fiscal 2024, we sold our products to over 100 distributors and direct to customers through our webstores (collectively, &€cecustomersa€) in over 75 countries. In
fiscal 2024, 2023, and 2022, there were no customers that represented 10% or more of our revenue. Refer to NoteA 13 in our Notes to Consolidated Financial



Statements for more information regarding financial data by geographic areas.A majority of our sales are made outside the United States and we anticipate that
non-U.S. sales will continue to be a significant portion of our revenues. We do not have any visibility on the location or extent of purchases of our products by
individual network operators and service providers from our distributors. For further discussion of the risks associated with foreign operations, see a€cePartA I -
Item 1A. Risk Factors-Risks Related to Our International Operationsa€.BacklogOur sales are primarily made through standard sale orders for delivery of
products. Our inability to procure sufficient product due to COVID-19 and the worldwide chip shortage had led to a significant increase in our backlog of
unfulfilled orders in fiscal 2022. However, with the abatement of supply constraints, we were able to reduce our backlog of unfulfilled orders in 2023 and 2024.
However, we do not believe our backlog information is a reliable indicator of our ability to achieve any particular level of revenue or financial
performance.7Table of ContentsCompetitionThe markets for networking solutions for service providers, enterprise WLAN, video surveillance, microwave
backhaul and machine-to-machine communications technology are highly competitive and are influenced by the following competitive factors, among

others:A d€¢total cost of ownership and return on investment associated with the solutions;a€ ¢simplicity of deployment and use of the solutions;a€¢ability to
rapidly develop high performance integrated solutions;a€¢reliability and scalability of the solutions;a€¢market awareness of a particular brand;a€¢ability to
provide secure access to wireless networks;a€¢ability to offer a suite of products and solutions;a€¢ability to allow centralized management of the solutions;
anda€¢ability to provide quality product support.We believe we compete favorably with respect to these factors. We have been successful in rapidly developing
high performance integrated solutions because we use individual contributors and small, experienced development teams that focus on the key needs of the
markets. Our products and solutions are designed to meet the price- performance characteristics demanded by our customers to achieve a strong overall return
on their investment. Our products are designed to operate in growing networks without degradation in performance or operational complexity.In the backhaul
market, our competitors include Cambium Networks, Ceragon Networks, MikroTA®kls, Airspan and Trango. In the CPE market, our competitors include
Cambium Networks, MikroTA®kls, Ruckus Wireless (CommScope), TP-Link Technologies and Tarana Wireless. In the antenna market, we primarily compete
with PCTEL, ARC, ITELITE and Radio Waves. In the enterprise WLAN market, we primarily compete with Aerohive Networks, Aruba Networks (HPE), Cisco
Meraki and Cisco and Ruckus Wireless (CommScope). In the video surveillance market, we primarily compete with Axis Communications, HIKVISION, Hanwha
Vision and Vivotek. We expect increased competition from other established and emerging companies if our market continues to develop and expand. As we
enter new markets, we expect to face competition from incumbent and new market participants.Intellectual PropertyWe rely on a combination of patent,
copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual restrictions, to establish and protect our proprietary rights.
These laws, procedures and restrictions provide only limited protection and the legal standards relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of
intellectual property rights are uncertain and still evolving. Furthermore, effective patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret protection may not be available
in every country in which our services and products are available. We seek patent protection for certain of our key concepts, components, protocols, processes
and other inventions.We have obtained a number of patents and trademarks in the United States and other countries. We have also filed, and will continue to
file, patent applications and trademark applications in the United States and other countries where we believe there to be a strategic technological or business
reason to do so. Any patents or trademarks issued to us now or in the future may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented and may not provide sufficiently
broad protection or may not prove to be enforceable in actions against alleged infringers. There can be no assurance that others will not assert intellectual
property rights to technologies that are relevant to us or that our intellectual property rights will give us competitive advantage.We endeavor to enter into
agreements with our employees and contractors and with parties with whom we do business in order to limit access to and disclosure of our proprietary
information. We cannot be certain that the steps we have taken will prevent unauthorized use or reverse engineering of our technology. Moreover, others may
independently develop technologies that are competitive with ours or that infringe on our intellectual property. The enforcement of our intellectual property
rights also depends on the success of our legal actions against infringers and counterfeiters, but these actions may not be successful, even when our rights have
been infringed. For further discussion of the risks associated with intellectual property, see 4€cePartA I - Item 1A. Risk Factors - Risks Related to Intellectual
Propertya€.Environmental mattersWe are subject to various environmental regulations governing materials usage, packaging and other environmental impacts
in the United States and in various countries where our products are manufactured and sold. We are also subject to regulatory developments, including SEC
disclosure regulations relating to "conflict minerals," relating to ethically responsible sourcing of the 8Table of Contentscomponents and materials used in our
products. To date, compliance with federal, state, local, and foreign laws enacted for the protection of the environment has had no material effect on our capital
expenditures, earnings, or competitive position.Human Capital ManagementEmployee OverviewOur employees are at the center of everything we do at Ubiquiti
and are the driving force for our innovation and success. Ubiquiti seeks to provide a safe, inclusive and positive employee experience for all its employees. It is
our policy to make employment decisions and opportunities based on merit, qualifications, potential and competency. As of JuneA 30, 2024, we employed and or
contracted with 1,515 full time equivalent employees, of which 1,134 were in research and development, 264 in operations, and 117 in sales, general and
administrative. Our workforce is diversified across multiple locations with 64%, 23% and 13% located in (i) Asia Pacific, (ii) Europe, the Middle East, and Africa
(&€eEMEAA&€) and (iii) the Americas, respectively. The Company believes that its entrepreneurial, decentralized, and diversified work environment has
contributed to its success. We seek to maintain a culture of accountability and performance that enables us to deliver highly-advanced and easily deployable
solutions that appeal to a global market.Talent and Human Capital ManagementWe believe that human capital management is key to our continued growth and
success, and is critical to our ability to attract, retain and develop talented and skilled employees. We hire and compensate our talent based on their role,
experiences, contributions and performance, regardless of their gender, race or ethnic background or other personal characteristics.Our human capital is
governed by employment regulations in each country in which we operate. We monitor key employment activities, such as hiring, termination and pay practices
to comply with established regulations across the world.Incentive PlansOur incentive plans are designed to increase stockholder value by attracting, retaining
and motivating high value personnel through the granting of equity and non-equity-based compensation awards. The principal purpose of our incentive plans is
to motivate individuals to perform to the best of their abilities to achieve our short- and long-term objectivesAvailable InformationThe Companya€™s Annual
Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to reports filed or furnished pursuant to Sections 13(a)
and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (d€ceExchange Acta€), are filed or furnished with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(the 4€eSECA&€). Such reports and other information filed or furnished by the Company with the SEC are available free of charge on the Companya€™s website
atA http://ir.ui.com when such reports are available on the SEC website. Reports of beneficial ownership filed pursuant to Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act are
also available on our website. Also posted on our website on the Corporate Governance page is the Companya€™s Code of Ethics for Principal Executive and
Senior Financial Officers and Section 16 Officers. We will, if required, disclose future amendments to our Code of Ethics that apply to our principal executive
officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or persons performing similar functions, or certain waivers of such provisions granted to such
persons, on our website identified above.The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information
regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC atA www.sec.gov. Our executive office is located at 685 Third Avenue, 27th Floor, New York, New York
10017. Our website address is www.ui.com. From time to time, we may use our website and its subdomains as a channel of distribution of material information.
The information on, or that can be assessed through, any websites cited herein are not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Further, the Company's
references to any URLSs for any websites cited herein are intended to be inactive textual references only. 9ItemA 1A. Risk FactorsThis Annual Report on Form
10-K contains forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected.
These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, the risk factors set forth below. These risks and uncertainties are not the only ones we face. If any
event related to these known or unknown risks or uncertainties actually occurs, our business prospects, operating results, and financial condition could be
materially adversely affected.Risk Factors Summarya€¢our limited ability to forecast our results of operations and sales;a€¢volatility and competition in the
markets we serve or our inability to compete effectively with our competitors;a€¢our reliance on a limited number of distributors for our products and the
inability of our distributors to manage inventory of our products effectively, timely sell our products or estimate future demand for our products;a€¢our
inventory decisions, including, without limitation, for new product introductions, are based on assumptions and forecasts, which, if inaccurate, may result in
write-downs of inventory or components and increases of vendor deposits;a€¢our inability to keep pace with rapid technological and market changes or to
maintain competitive prices for products;a€¢the technological complexity of our products, which may contain undetected hardware defects or software bugs;a€
¢our inability to anticipate or mitigate cyberattacks, security vulnerabilities or other fraudulent or illegal activity;a€¢our inability to manage our growth and
expand our operations;a€¢our inability to maintain or enhance the strength of our brand;a€¢our reliance on a limited number of contract manufacturers to
manufacture our products, and potential quality or product supply problems for our products if we are unable to secure sufficient components for our products
or there is a shortage of manufacturing capacity;a€¢our reliance on a limited number of suppliers and our inability to predict shortages in components or other
supply disruptions as a result of, including, without limitation, the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine, the escalating tensions between China and
Taiwan, or our failure to identify or qualify alternative suppliers;a€¢disruption to the manufacturing or shipping of our products due to natural disasters, labor
shortages or operational reductions from outbreaks of diseases or other public health events, the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine, the escalating
tensions between China and Taiwan, or similar disruptions in the countries or regions in which our contract manufacturers or logistics contractors are
located;a€¢a global economic downturn;a€¢lower than expected returns and exposure to increased operational risks from our investments in business lines,
products, services, technologies, joint ventures and other strategic transactions;a€¢the ineffective management of product introductions, product transitions
and marketing or our inability to remain competitive and stimulate customer demand for our products;a€¢our inability to anticipate consumer preferences and
develop desirable products and solutions, or to execute our strategy for our products or develop our sales channels;a€¢general credit, liquidity, market, and
interest rate risks to our investment securities;a€¢exposure to adverse developments affecting financial institutions at which we maintain depositsa€¢exposure
to increased economic and operational uncertainties from our international operations, including, without limitation, as a result of foreign policy and geopolitical
developments, particularly those involving China and Russia, varying legal and regulatory regimes and the effects of foreign currency exchange rates;a€¢the
failure of our foreign warehouse and logistics providers to safeguard, manage and properly report our inventory;a€¢exposure to increased operational risks and
liability to the extent we develop our own foreign manufacturing capacity;a€¢our inability to manage geographically dispersed research and development
teams;a€¢our limited ability to obtain and enforce our intellectual property rights, particularly in China, Russia and South America;a€¢the misappropriation of
our intellectual property and trade secrets by our contract manufacturers or others to manufacture competitive products or counterfeit products;a€¢our
exposure to extensive intellectual property litigation;a€¢the risks of using open source software in our products;a€¢our use of artificial intelligence technologies
which may present business, compliance, and reputational risks:a€¢our debt levels and the impact our debt levels may have on our ability to raise capital or
otherwise finance our business;a€¢the risks of expanding our product offerings or our operations or increases in our operating expenses;a€¢our reliance on
third-party software and services for certain aspects of our operations, including, without limitation, our financial reporting functions;a€¢our reliance on our
founder and chief executive officer, who owns a majority of our common stock;a€¢volatility in the price of our common stock due to volatility in our results of
operations or our failure to pay cash dividends or to repurchase shares of our common stock;10a€¢the reliance of our products on unlicensed radio frequency



spectrum, and the increasing reliance of consumer and other products on the same spectrum or from the introduction of regulation of such spectrum;a€
¢potential liability under trade protection, anti-corruption, and other laws resulting from our global operations;a€¢changes in laws and regulations relating to
the handling of personal data; 4€¢the adverse impact from litigation matters;a€¢the adverse impact to our results of operations from successful warranty claims,
product losses or recalls;a€¢indemnification claims against us for intellectual property infringement, defective products, and security vulnerabilities;a€¢our
inability to maintain an effective system of internal controls; anda€¢changes in tax laws and regulations or reviews or audits of our tax returns.Risks Related to
Our Business and IndustryWe have limited visibility into future sales as a result of our reliance on distributors, which may increase volatility in our results and
makes it difficult to forecast our future results of operations. Because of our limited visibility into end customer demand and channel inventory levels, our ability
to accurately forecast our future sales is limited. We sell our products and solutions globally to network operators, service providers and consumers, primarily
through our network of distributors and resellers. We do not employ a traditional direct sales force. Sales to our distributors have accounted for the majority of
our revenues. Our distributors do not make long term purchase commitments to us, and do not typically provide us with information about market demand for
our products. We endeavor to obtain information on inventory levels and sales data from our distributors. This information has been generally difficult to obtain
in a timely manner, and we cannot always be certain that the information is reliable. If we over forecast demand, we may build excess inventory, increase
vendor deposits and we may not be able to decrease our expenses in time to offset any shortfall in revenues and we may be required to record write-downs for
excess or obsolete inventory, which could harm our ability to achieve or sustain expected results of operations. If we under forecast demand, our ability to fulfill
sales orders will be compromised and sales to distributors may be deferred or lost altogether, which may impair our distributor relationships, would reduce our
revenues and could harm our ability to achieve or sustain expected results of operations.Our distributors purchase and maintain their own inventories of our
products, and we do not control their inventory management. Distributors may manage their inventories in a manner that causes significant fluctuations in their
purchases from quarter to quarter, and which may not be in alignment with the actual demand of end customers for our products. If some distributors decide to
purchase more of our products than are required to satisfy their customersa€™ demand in any particular quarter, because they do not accurately forecast
demand or otherwise, they may reduce future orders until their inventory levels realign with their customersa€™ demand. If some distributors decide to
purchase less of our products than are required to satisfy their customersa€™ demand in any particular quarter, because they do not accurately forecast
demand or otherwise, sales of our products may be deferred or lost altogether, which could materially adversely affect our results of operations.In addition, the
lead times that we face for the procurement of components and subsequent manufacturing of our products are usually much longer than the lead time from our
customersa€™ orders to the expected delivery date. This increases the risk that we may manufacture too many or not enough products in any given period. This
risk may be further exacerbated by supply chain constraints on the global supply of components that we use to manufacture our products, as well as longer
shipping lead times and delays.The markets we serve can be especially volatile, and weakness in orders could harm our future results of operations.Weakness in
orders, directly or indirectly, from the markets we serve, including as a result of any slowdown in capital expenditures by the markets we serve (which may be
more prevalent during a global economic downturn, or periods of economic, political or regulatory uncertainty), could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, liquidity and financial condition. Such slowdowns may continue or recur in future periods. Orders from the markets we serve
could decline for many reasons other than the competitiveness of our products and services within their respective markets. These conditions have harmed our
business and results of operations in the past, and some of these or other conditions in the markets we serve could affect our business and results of operations,
liquidity or financial condition in any future period of such slowdowns.We may need to build inventory for new product announcements and shipments or decide
to increase or maintain higher levels of inventory, which may result in inventory write-downs and/or increased vendor deposits.The Company must order
components for its products, build inventory, both of finished products and components, and in certain cases, pay vendor deposits in advance of new product
announcements and shipments. Decisions to build inventory for new products or to increase or maintain higher inventory levels and vendor deposit levels are
typically based upon uncertain forecasts or other assumptions and may expose us to a greater risk of carrying excess or obsolete inventory. Because the markets
in which the Company competes are volatile, competitive and subject to rapid technology changes, price changes, shortages and other disruptions, if the
assumptions on which we base these decisions turn out to be incorrect, our financial performance could suffer and we could be required to write-off the value of
excess products or components inventory, increase vendor deposits or not fully utilize firm purchase commitments.11We rely upon a limited number of
distributors, and changes in our relationships with our distributors or changes within our distributors may disrupt our sales.Although we have a large number of
distributors in numerous countries who sell our products, a limited number of these distributors represent a significant portion of our sales. One or more of our
major distributors may suffer from a decline in their financial condition, decrease in demand from their customers, or a decline in other aspects of their business
which could impair their ability to purchase and resell our products. Any distributor may also cease doing business with us at any time with little or no notice.
The termination of a relationship with a major distributor, either by us or by the distributor, could result in a temporary or permanent loss of revenues, slower or
impaired collection on accounts receivable and costly and time-consuming litigation or arbitration. We may not be successful in finding other suitable
distributors on satisfactory terms, or at all, and this could adversely affect our ability to sell in certain geographic markets or to certain network operators and
service providers. We do not generally obtain letters of credit or other security for payment from the distributors, so we are not protected against accounts
receivable default by the distributors.We may not be able to enhance our products to keep pace with technological and market developments while offering
competitive prices. The market for our wireless broadband networking equipment is characterized by rapid technological change, evolving industry standards,
frequent new product introductions and short product life cycles. The markets for enterprise networking equipment and consumer products possess similar
characteristics of rapid technological updates, evolving industry standards, frequent changes in consumer preferences, frequent new product introductions and
short and unpredictable product life cycles. Our ability to keep pace in these markets depends upon our ability to enhance our current products, and to continue
to develop and introduce new products rapidly and at competitive prices. The success of new product introductions or updates on existing products depends on
a number of factors including, but not limited to, timely and successful product development, market acceptance, development of sales channels, our ability to
manage the risks associated with new product forecast, production ramp-up, the effective management of our inventory and manufacturing schedule and the
risk that new products may have defects or other deficiencies in the early stages of introduction.The development of our products is complex and costly, and we
typically have several products in development at the same time. Given the complexity, we occasionally have experienced, and could experience in the future,
lower than expected yields on new or enhanced products and delays in completing the development and introduction of new products and enhancements to
existing products, including the maintenance of compatibility between older and newer versions of our products. In addition, new products may have lower
selling prices or higher costs than existing products and may be more prone to technical problems, which could negatively impact our results of operations. Our
ability to compete successfully will depend in large measure on our ability to maintain a technically skilled development and engineering staff, to successfully
innovate, and to adapt to technological changes and advances in the industry. Development and delivery schedules for our products are difficult to predict. We
may fail to introduce new products or enhancements to existing products in a timely fashion. If new releases of our products are delayed, our distributors may
curtail their efforts to market and promote our products and our users may switch to competing products.The markets in which we compete are highly
competitive. The networking, enterprise WLAN, routing, switching, video surveillance, door access, VoIP, wireless backhaul, machine-to-machine
communications and consumer markets in which we primarily compete are highly competitive and are influenced by competitive factors including:a€¢ our
ability to rapidly develop and introduce new high-performance integrated solutions;a€¢ the price and total cost of ownership and return on investment
associated with the solutions;a€¢ the simplicity of deployment and use of the solutions;a€¢ the reliability and scalability of the solutions;a€¢ the market
awareness of a particular brand;a€¢ our ability to provide secure access to wireless networks;a€¢ our ability to offer a suite of products and solutions;a€¢ our
ability to allow centralized management of the solutions; anda€¢ our ability to provide product support.New entrants seeking to gain market share by
introducing new technology and new products may also make it more difficult for us to sell our products, and could create increased pricing pressure. In
addition, broadband equipment providers or system integrators may also offer wireless broadband infrastructure equipment for free or as part of a bundled
offering, which could force us to reduce our prices or change our selling model to remain competitive.If there is a shift in the market such that network
operators and service providers begin to use closed network solutions that only operate with other equipment from the same vendor, we could experience a
significant decline in sales because our products would not be interoperable.12We expect competition to continuously intensify as other established and new
companies introduce new products in the same markets that we serve or intend to enter, as these markets consolidate. Our business, results of operations,
liquidity and financial condition will suffer if we do not maintain our competitiveness.A number of our current or potential competitors have longer operating
histories, greater brand recognition, larger customer bases and significantly greater resources than we do. As we move into new markets for different types of
products, our brand may not be as well-known as the incumbentsa€™ brands in those markets. Potential customers may prefer to purchase from their existing
suppliers or well-known brands rather than a new supplier, regardless of product performance or features. We expect increased competition from other
established and emerging companies as our market continues to develop and expand. As we enter new markets, we expect to face competition from incumbent
and new market participants and there is no assurance that our entry into new markets will be successful. Many of these companies have significantly greater
financial, technical, marketing, distribution and other resources than we do and are better positioned to acquire and offer complementary products and
technologies.Industry consolidation, acquisitions and other arrangements among competitors may adversely affect our competitiveness because it may be more
difficult to compete with entities that have access to their combined resources. As a result of such consolidation, acquisition or other arrangements, our current
and potential competitors might be able to adapt more quickly to new technologies and consumer preference, devote greater resources to the marketing and
promotion of their products, initiate or withstand price competition, and take advantage of acquisitions or other opportunities more readily and develop and
expand their products more quickly than we do. These combinations may also affect customersa€™ perceptions regarding the viability of companies of our size
and, consequently, affect their willingness to purchase our products.The complexity of our products could result in unforeseen delays or expenses caused by
undetected defects or bugs. Our products may contain defects and bugs when they are introduced, or as new versions are released. Due to our rapid product
introductions, defects and bugs that may be contained in our products may not yet have manifested. We have in the past experienced, and may in the future
experience, defects and bugs. If any of our products contain material defects or bugs, or have reliability, quality or compatibility problems, we may not be able
to correct these problems promptly or successfully. The existence of defects or bugs in our products may damage our reputation and disrupt our sales. If any of
these problems are not found until after we have commenced commercial production and distribution of a new product, we may be required to incur additional
development costs, repair or replacement costs, and other costs relating to regulatory proceedings, product recalls and litigation, which could harm our
reputation and results of operations. Undetected defects or bugs may lead to negative online Internet reviews of our products, which are increasingly becoming
a significant factor in the success of our new product launches. If we are unable to quickly respond to negative reviews, including end user reviews posted on
various prominent online retailers, our ability to sell these products will be harmed. Moreover, we may offer stock rotation rights to our distributors. If we
experience greater returns from retailers or end customers, or greater warranty claims, in excess of our reserves, our business, revenue and results of
operations could be harmed.Security vulnerabilities in our or our service providers' products, services and systems, in our distribution channel, or supply chain



could lead to reduced revenues and claims against us.The quality and performance of some of our products and services may depend upon their ability to
withstand cyber-attacks. Third parties may develop and deploy viruses, worms and other malicious software programs, some of which may be designed to attack
our products, systems, or networks. Because we use our products in our own operations, any security vulnerabilities in our products could be disruptive to our
business and harm our reputation. Some of our products and services also involve the storage and transmission of usersa€™ and customersa€™ proprietary
information which may be the target of cyber-attacks. Hardware and software that we produce or procure from third parties also may contain defects in
manufacture or design, including bugs and other problems, which could compromise their ability to withstand cyber-attacks. In addition, customers not
deploying security updates in a timely manner or deciding not to upgrade products, services or solutions could result in claims of liability against us, damage our
reputation or otherwise materially harm our business.Additionally, our sales to end customers through our webstores have increased, which may expose us to
liabilities associated with the online collection of customer data, including credit card information, and the costs we may incur to mitigate such risks. Our sales
to end customers through our webstores require the transmission of confidential information, including credit card information, securely over public networks.
Third parties may have the technology or knowledge to breach the security of customer transaction data. Although we and our service providers have security
measures related to our systems and the privacy of our end customers, we cannot guarantee these measures will effectively prevent others from obtaining
unauthorized access to our information and our customersa€™ information. Any person who circumvents our security measures could destroy or steal valuable
information and/or disrupt our operations. Any security breach could also expose us and our service providers to risks of data loss, litigation and liability, and
could seriously disrupt operations and harm our reputation, any of which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. In addition,
state and federal laws and regulations are increasingly enacted to protect consumers against identity theft. These laws and regulations will likely increase the
costs of doing business and if we or our service providers fail to implement appropriate security measures, or to detect and provide prompt notice of
unauthorized access as required by some of these laws and 13regulations, we could be subject to potential claims for damages and other remedies, which could
adversely affect our business and results of operations. For additional information regarding the impact of privacy regulations applicable to our business, see
a€mea€”Risks Related to Regulatory, Legal and Tax Matters &€” Our failure to comply with U.S. and foreign laws related to privacy, data security, cybersecurity
and data protection, such as the E.U. Data Protection Directive and China Cybersecurity Law, could adversely affect our financial condition, results of
operations, and our brand.4€We and certain of our vendors have experienced cyber-attacks in the past, and we, our vendors, suppliers, and distributors may
experience cyber-attacks in the future. As a result, unauthorized parties have obtained, and may in the future obtain, access to our systems, our confidential
business information and data and may have obtained, and may in the future obtain, our usersa€™ or customersa€™ data. Our security measures have in the
past, and may in the future, be breached due to human error, malfeasance, or otherwise. Third parties may also attempt to induce employees, users, or
customers or those of our vendors to disclose sensitive information in order to gain access to our data or our usersa€™ or customersa€™ data. Any such breach
or unauthorized access could result in significant legal and financial exposure, costly and time-intensive notice requirements or other remediation efforts,
damage to our reputation, and a loss of confidence in the security of our products and services. Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access,
disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems change frequently, and often are not recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate
these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures.For example, in January 2021, we became aware that certain of our information technology
systems hosted by a third-party cloud provider were improperly accessed and certain of our source code and the credentials used to access the information
technology systems themselves had been compromised. We received a threat to publicly release these materials unless we made a payment, which we did not do
and the party responsible was ultimately prosecuted. As a result, it is possible that the source code and other information could be publicly disclosed or made
available to our competitors. Due to the nature of the source code and the other information that we believe was improperly accessed, we at this time do not
believe that any public disclosure will have a material adverse effect on our business or operations, but it is impossible to gauge the precise impact of any such
disclosure. We have taken, and will continue to take, steps to remediate access controls to our information technology systems.The costs to us to eliminate or
alleviate security vulnerabilities in our products, services and system can be significant, and our efforts to address these problems may not be successful and
could result in interruptions, delays, cessation of service and loss of existing or potential customers that may impede our sales, manufacturing, distribution or
other critical functions, as well as potential liability to the company. The risk that these types of events could seriously harm our business is likely to increase as
we expand the products and services that we offer.We may be unable to anticipate or fail to adequately mitigate against increasingly sophisticated methods to
engage in illegal or fraudulent activities against us.Despite any defensive measures we take to manage threats to our business, our risk and exposure to these
matters remain heightened because of, among other things, the evolving nature of such threats in light of advances in computer capabilities and artificial
intelligence, new discoveries in the field of cryptography, new and sophisticated methods used by criminals including phishing, social engineering or other illicit
acts, the increasing use of our webstores by customers, or other events or developments that we may be unable to anticipate or fail to adequately mitigate. In
June 2015, we determined that we were the victim of criminal fraud known to law enforcement authorities as business e-mail compromise fraud which involved
employee impersonation and fraudulent requests targeting our finance department. The fraud resulted in transfers of funds aggregating $46.7 million held by a
Company subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong to other overseas accounts held by third parties. As of March 2021, the Company has recovered $18.6 million.
No additional recoveries have been made since March 31, 2021. Any additional recoveries are likely remote and therefore cannot be assured.While we do not
expect the fraud to have a material impact on our business, we have borne, and will continue to bear additional expenses in connection with the remediation and
investigation of the fraud.Any future illegal acts such as phishing, social engineering or other fraudulent conduct that go undetected may have significant
negative impacts on our reputation, operating results and stock price.Our business and prospects depend on the strength of our brand. Maintaining and
enhancing our brand is critical to expanding our base of distributors and end customers. Maintaining and enhancing our brand will depend largely on our ability
to continue to develop and provide products and solutions that address the price performance characteristics sought by end customers and the users of our
products and services, particularly in developing markets which comprise a significant part of our business. If we fail to promote, maintain and protect our
brand successfully, our ability to sustain and expand our business and enter new markets will suffer.14We may fail to effectively manage the challenges
associated with our growth. Over the past several years we have expanded, and continue to expand, our product offerings, the number of customers we sell to,
our transaction volumes, the number and type of our facilities, and the number of contract manufacturers that we utilize to produce our products. Failure to
effectively manage the increased complexity associated with this expansion, particularly in light of our lean management structure, would make it difficult to
conduct our business, fulfill customer orders, and pursue our strategies. We may also need to increase costs to add personnel, upgrade or replace our existing
reporting systems, as well as improve our business processes and controls as a result of these changes. If we fail to effectively manage any of these challenges,
we could suffer inefficiencies, errors and disruptions in our business, which in turn would adversely affect our results of operations.We rely upon a limited
number of contract manufacturers to produce our products. Shortages of components or manufacturing capacity could increase our costs or delay our ability to
fulfill future orders and could have a material adverse impact on our business and results of operations. We retain contract manufacturers, located primarily in
Vietnam and China, to manufacture our products. Any significant change in our relationship with these manufacturers could have a material adverse effect on
our business, results of operations and financial condition. Our reliance on contract manufacturers for manufacturing our products can present significant risks
to us because, among other things, we do not have direct control over their activities. If we fail to manage our relationship with our manufacturers effectively, or
if they experience operational difficulties, our ability to ship products to our retailers and distributors could be impaired and our competitive position and
reputation could be harmed.We significantly depend upon our contract manufacturers to:a€¢ assure the quality of our products;a€¢ manage capacity during
periods of volatile demand;a€¢ qualify appropriate component suppliers;a€¢ ensure adequate supplies of components and materials;a€¢ deliver finished
products at agreed upon prices and schedules; anda€¢ safeguard materials and finished goods.The ability and willingness of our contract manufacturers to
perform is largely outside our control.Additionally, from time to time, unexpected events, such as health crises or pandemics, have had, and may have in the
future, adverse effects on the ability of our contract manufacturers to fulfill their obligations to us due to, among other things, work stoppages or slowdowns due
to facility closures or other social distancing mitigation efforts, and the inability of our contract manufacturers to procure adequate supplies of the components
to manufacture our products. A shortage of adequate component supply or manufacturing capacity could increase our costs by requiring us to use alternative
contract manufacturers or component suppliers, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all. Moreover, our use of chipsets from different or
multiple sources may require us to significantly modify our designs and manufacturing processes to accommodate these different chipsets, which would also
increase our manufacturing costs and could delay our ability to manufacture products and result in decreased sales of our products. These increases in
manufacturing costs or delays in manufacturing could have a material adverse impact on our business and results of operations. For additional discussion of the
risks associated with supply chain issues or supplies of components, see the risk factor below captioned &€eWe rely upon a limited number of suppliers. If these
sources fail to satisfy our supply requirements or we are unable to manage our supply requirements through other sources, it could disrupt our business or have
a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.a€In the event that we receive shipments of products that fail to comply with our
technical specifications or that fail to conform to our quality control standards, and we are not able to obtain replacement products in a timely manner, we risk
revenue losses from the inability to sell those products, increased administrative and shipping costs, and lower profitability. Additionally, if defects are not
discovered until after distributors and/or end users purchase our products, they could lose confidence in the technical attributes of our products and our
business and results of operations could be harmed.We do not control our contract manufacturers or suppliers, including their labor, environmental or other
practices. Environmental regulations or changes in the supply, demand or available sources of natural resources may affect the availability and cost of goods
and services necessary to run our business. Non-compliance or deliberate violations of labor, environmental or other laws by our contract manufacturer or
suppliers, or a failure of these parties to follow ethical business practices, could lead to negative publicity and harm our reputation or brand.We believe that our
orders may not represent a material portion of our contract manufacturersa€™ total orders and, as a result, fulfilling our orders may not be a priority in the
event our contract manufacturers are constrained in their capacity. If any of our contract 15manufacturers experiences problems in its manufacturing
operations, or if we have to change or add additional contract manufacturers, our ability to ship products to our customers would be impaired.Additionally, any
or all of the following could either limit supply or increase costs, directly or indirectly, to us or our contract manufacturers:a€¢ labor strikes or shortages;a€¢
financial problems of either contract manufacturers or component suppliers;a€¢ reservation of manufacturing capacity at our contract manufactures by other
companies, inside or outside of our industry;a€¢ changes or uncertainty in tariffs, economic sanctions, and other trade barriers; anda€¢ industry consolidation
occurring within one or more component supplier markets, such as the semiconductor market.We rely upon a limited number of suppliers. If these sources fail
to satisfy our supply requirements or we are unable to manage our supply requirements through other sources, it could disrupt our business or have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.We use components that are subject to price fluctuations, shortages or interruptions of supply.
The cost, quality and availability of these components are essential to the production and sale of all of our products and disruptions in our supply of these
components could delay or disrupt the supply of our products and affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. In 2020 and through most of
2023, we experienced reduced availability of components used to manufacture our products, especially the chipsets, which impacted our ability and costs to



manufacture our products. These supply shortages have resulted in increased component delivery lead times and increased costs to obtain components,
particularly chipsets, and resulted in delays in product production. We do not stockpile sufficient components, particularly the chipsets, to cover the time it
would take to re-engineer our products to replace the components used to manufacture our products. If there are shortages of chipsets or other components
used to manufacture our products, while we expect to work closely with our suppliers and contract manufacturers to minimize the potential adverse impacts of
such supply shortage, there are many companies seeking to purchase the same components, many of which have greater resources and larger market share
than we have, which may limit the effectiveness of our efforts. There is also no assurance that we will be able to obtain sufficient chipsets or other components
on acceptable terms, if at all, which could delay or disrupt the supply of our products and affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.We
purchase components, directly or through our contract manufacturers, from third parties that are necessary for the manufacture of our products. Shortages in
the supply of components or other supply disruptions, including, without limitation, due to increasing demand for electronics and reductions in supply as a result
of unforeseen events such as health crises or pandemics, geopolitical conditions (including China-Taiwan relations) or commercial disputes with the suppliers,
may not be predicted in time to design-in different components or qualify other suppliers. Shortages or supply disruptions may also increase the prices of
components due to market conditions and reduce our gross margin and profitability if we are unable to pass these price increases through to our customers.
While many components are generally available from a variety of sources, we and our contract manufacturers currently depend on a single or limited number of
suppliers for several components for our products. For example, we currently rely upon some chipset suppliers, such as Qualcomm and Broadcom, as single-
source suppliers of certain components for some of our products, and a disruption in the supply of those components would significantly disrupt our business.We
and our contract manufacturers generally rely on short-term purchase orders rather than long-term contracts with the suppliers of components for our products,
particularly chipsets. As a result, even if the components for our products (including chipsets) are available, we and our contract manufacturers may not be able
to procure sufficient components at reasonable prices to build our products in a timely manner. Further, in order to minimize their inventory risk, our
manufacturers might not order components from third-party suppliers with adequate lead time, thereby impacting our ability to meet our demand forecast. We
may, therefore, be unable to meet customer demand for our products, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.Our products, especially new products, sometimes utilize custom components available from only one or limited number of sources. When a
component or product uses new technologies, capacity constraints may exist until the suppliersa€™ yields have matured or manufacturing capacity has
increased. Many factors may affect the continued availability of these components at acceptable prices, including if those suppliers decide to concentrate on the
production of common components instead of components customized to meet our requirements. There is no assurance that the supply of such components will
not be delayed or constrained.Our contract manufacturers, logistics centers and certain administrative and research and development operations, as well as our
customers and suppliers, are located in areas likely to be subject to natural disasters, public health problems, military conflicts and geopolitical tensions, which
could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.The manufacturing or shipping of our products at one or more facilities may be
disrupted because our manufacturing and logistics contractors are primarily located in Vietnam and China. Our principal executive offices are located in New
York, New York and we 16have operations in Ukraine, Taiwan and their surrounding countries. The risks of earthquakes, extreme storms and other natural
disasters (including as a result of climate change), military conflicts or geopolitical tensions in these geographic areas are significant. In addition, global climate
change may result in significant natural disasters occurring more frequently or with greater intensity, such as drought, wildfires, storm, sea-level rise, changing
precipitation and flooding. Any disruption resulting from these events could cause significant delays in product development or shipments of our products until
we are able to shift our development, manufacturing or logistics centers from the affected contractor to another vendor, or shift the affected administrative or
research and development activities to another location. Our business may be materially adversely affected by public health problems, particularly in China. For
example, in the last decade, China has suffered health crises related to the outbreak of avian influenza, severe acute respiratory syndrome and COVID-19. The
COVID-19 pandemic, the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine, the escalating tensions between China and Taiwan and resulting global disruptions have
caused significant volatility in financial markets and the domestic and global economy. This disruption can contribute to potential payment delays or defaults in
our accounts receivable, affect asset valuations resulting in impairment charges, and affect the availability of financing credit as well as other segments of the
credit markets. Public health problems may also result in quarantines, business closures, unavailability of key personnel, domestic and international
transportation restrictions, import and export complications, and otherwise cause shortages in the supply of components or cause other disruptions within our
supply chain. Public health problems have caused and, along with the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine and the escalating tensions between China
and Taiwan, may cause in the future disruptions, delays, shortages, and increased costs within our supply chain, and distribution channels. In addition, public
health problems may require us to take precautionary measures to minimize the risk to our employees, including requiring our employees to work remotely and
suspending non-essential travel, which could negatively affect our business. Additionally, when our suppliersa€™ ability to manufacture or provide key
components or services is impacted by supply chain disruptions, we have incurred, and may incur in the future, additional costs to expedite deliveries of
components and services. As a result of the transition to a remote working environment, we may experience disruptions or inefficiencies in our ability to operate
our business. The continuation of these remote working measures also introduces additional operational risk, including increased cybersecurity risk. These
cybersecurity risks include greater phishing, social engineering, malware, and other cybersecurity attacks, greater risk of a security breach resulting in the
unauthorized release, destruction or misuse of valuable information, and potential impairment of our ability to perform critical functions, all of which could
expose us to risks of data or financial loss, litigation and liability and could seriously disrupt our operations, which could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition or results of operations. Public health problems may expose us to unanticipated liability or require us to change our business
practices in a manner materially adverse to our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, the outbreak of communicable diseases could
result in a widespread health crisis that could adversely affect general commercial activity and the economies and financial markets of many countries which
may affect the demand for our products and services and our ability to obtain financing for our business. The extent to which public health problems may impact
our business, results of operations and financial conditions will depend on developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. Such developments
may include the geographic spread of the public health problems, the severity of the public health problems, the duration of the outbreak and the type and
duration of actions that may be taken by various governmental authorities in response to the outbreak and the impact on the U.S. and the global economy. An
outbreak of public health problems, or the perception that such an outbreak could occur, and the measures taken by the government of countries affected, could
adversely affect our business, results of operations, liquidity and financial condition.Additionally, the extent to which the military conflict between Russia and
Ukraine or the escalating tensions between China and Taiwan may impact our business or results of operations in future periods will depend on future
developments, including the severity and duration of the conflicts, their impact on regional and global economic conditions, as well as their impact on
surrounding countries, including their impact on our employees and contractors in Ukraine, Taiwan, China and their surrounding countries, and its impact on
global supply chains. A worsening of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine or the tensions between China and Taiwan, or the spread of either conflict to
surrounding countries could adversely affect our business, results of operations, liquidity, and financial condition.General global economic downturns and
macroeconomic trends, including inflation or slowed economic growth, may negatively affect our customers and their ability to purchase our products. A
downturn or such other trends may decrease our revenues and increase our costs and may increase credit risk with our customers and impact our ability to
collect account receivable and recognize revenue.The global macroeconomic environment has been challenging and inconsistent caused by inflation, instability
in the global credit markets, the impact of uncertainty regarding global central bank monetary policy, and the instability in the geopolitical environment in many
parts of the world. Inflation in the United States and the other countries that we operate has decreased from its previous elevated level, however, it is uncertain
whether inflation will continue to decrease or whether it may rise again. Rising inflation could have an adverse impact on our expenses. Our costs are subject to
fluctuations, including due to the costs of raw materials, labor, transportation and energy. Therefore, our business results depend, in part, on our continued
ability to manage these fluctuations through pricing actions, cost 17saving projects and sourcing decisions, while maintaining and improving margins and
market share. Failure to manage these fluctuations could adversely impact our results of operations or financial conditions.Unfavorable macroeconomic
conditions, such as a recession or continued slowed economic growth, may negatively affect demand for our products and exacerbate some of the other risks
that affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. Factors affecting the level of consumer spending include general market conditions,
macroeconomic conditions, fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and interest rates, and other factors such as consumer confidence, the availability and cost of
consumer credit, levels of unemployment and tax rates. A tighter credit market for consumer, business, and service provider spending may have several adverse
effects, including reduced demand for our products, increased price competition or deferment of purchases and orders by our customers. If global economic
conditions are volatile or if economic conditions deteriorate, the consumer demand for our products may not reach our sales targets. Additional effects of
unfavorable macroeconomic conditions may include increased demand for customer finance, difficulties in collection of accounts receivable, higher overhead
costs as a percentage of revenue and higher interest expense, risk of supply constraints, risk of excess and obsolete inventories, risk of excess facilities and
manufacturing capacity and increased risk of counterparty failures. Our sensitivity to economic cycles and any related fluctuation in consumer demand could
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.We have been investing and expect to continue to invest in growth areas in our
enterprise and service provider technologies, and if the return on these investments is lower or develops more slowly than we expect, our results of operations
may be harmed.We have and we may continue to invest and dedicate resources into new growth areas, such as expansion in our enterprise and service provider
technologies and subscription services. However, the return on our investments may be lower, or may develop more slowly, than we expect. If we do not achieve
the benefits anticipated from these investments (including if our selection of areas for investment does not play out as we expect), or if the achievement of these
benefits is delayed, our results of operations may be adversely affected. Additionally, as we invest and dedicate resources into new growth areas, there is no
assurance that we may succeed at maintaining our competitive position in existing enterprise and service provider technologies.To remain competitive and
stimulate customer demand, we must effectively manage product introductions, product transitions and marketing.We believe that we must continually develop
and introduce new products, enhance our existing products, effectively stimulate customer demand for new and upgraded products, and successfully manage
the transition to these new and upgraded products to maintain or increase our revenue. The success of new product introductions depends on a number of
factors including, but not limited to, timely and successful research and development, pricing, market and consumer acceptance, the effective forecasting and
management of product demand, purchase commitments, inventory levels and vendor deposit levels, the availability of products in appropriate quantities to
meet anticipated demand, the management of manufacturing and supply costs, the management of risks associated with new product production ramp-up
issues, and the risk that new products may have quality issues or other defects or bugs in the early stages of introduction. Therefore, we may not correctly
determine in advance the ultimate effect of new product introductions and transitions. Additionally, if the assumptions on which we based our forecasts and
management of product demand, purchase commitments, inventory levels or vendor deposit levels turn out to be incorrect, our financial performance could
suffer and we could be required to write-off the value of excess products or components inventory, increase the vendor deposit levels, or not fully utilize firm
purchase commitments.In addition, the introduction or announcement of new products or product enhancements may shorten the life cycle of our existing



products or reduce demand for our current products, thereby offsetting any benefits of successful product introductions and potentially lead to challenges in
managing inventory of existing products. Failure to complete product transitions effectively or in a timely manner could harm our brand and lead to, among
other things, lower revenue, excess prior generation product inventory, or a deficit of new product inventory and reduced profitability.In connection with
introduction of new products, we may spend significant amount on advertising and other marketing campaigns, such as television, print advertising, social
media and others, as well as increased promotional activities, to build brand awareness and acquire new users. While we seek to structure our advertising
campaigns in the manner that we believe is most likely to encourage people to use our products and services, we may fail to identify advertising opportunities
that satisfy our anticipated return on advertising spend, accurately predict customer acquisition, or fully understand or estimate the conditions and behaviors
that drive customer behavior. Our strategy for our products depends upon effectively maintaining and further developing our sales channels, including
developing and supporting our retail sales channel and distributors.We depend upon effective sales channels to reach the customers who are the ultimate
purchasers of our products. We sell our products through a mix of retail channels, including our webstores, distributors, e-commerce, big box, mid-market and
specialty retailers.With some of our products, we depend on third party retailers to provide adequate and attractive placement for our products in their stores,
both physical and online. We further depend on these retailers to employ, educate and motivate their sales personnel to 18effectively sell our products. If our
retailers do not adequately display our products, choose to reduce the space for our products in their stores or locate them in less than premium positioning,
choose not to carry some or all of our products or promote competitorsa€™ products over ours, or do not effectively explain to customers the advantages of our
products, our sales could decrease and our business could be harmed. Similarly, our business could be adversely affected if any of our distributors and other
retail partners were to experience financial difficulties, or change the focus of their businesses in a way that de-emphasized the sale of our products.Our
distributors generally offer products from several different manufacturers. Accordingly, we are at risk that these distributors may give higher priority to selling
other companiesa€™ products. We have limited number of distributors in certain regions, and if we were to lose the services of a distributor, we might need to
find another distributor in that area and there can be no assurance of our ability to do so in a timely manner or on favorable terms. Further, our distributors
build inventory in anticipation of future sales, and if such sales do not occur as rapidly as they anticipate, our distributors will decrease the size of their future
product orders. We are also subject to the risks of our distributors encountering financial difficulties, which could impede their effectiveness and also expose us
to financial risk if they are unable to pay for the products they purchase from us. Additionally, our international distributors buy from us in U.S. dollars and
generally sell to retailers in local currency so significant currency fluctuations could impact their profitability, and in turn, affect their ability to buy future
products from us.Any reduction in sales by our current distributors, loss of key distributors or decrease in revenue from our distributors could adversely affect
our revenue, results of operations and financial condition.We may experience risks in our investments due to changes in the market, which could adversely
affect the value or liquidity of our investments.From time to time, we may maintain a portfolio of marketable securities in a variety of instruments, which may
include, but not be limited to, money market funds, corporate bonds, U.S. agency bonds and commercial papers. These investments are subject to general
credit, liquidity, market, and interest rate risks. As a result, we may experience a reduction in value or loss of liquidity of our investments. These market risks
associated with our investment portfolio may have a negative adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.We maintain cash
deposits in excess of federally insured limits. Adverse developments affecting financial institutions, including bank failures, could adversely affect our liquidity
and financial performance.We maintain domestic cash deposits in Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (a€ceFDICa€) insured banks that exceed the FDIC
insurance limits. We also maintain cash deposits in foreign banks where we operate, some of which are not insured or are only partially insured by the FDIC or
similar agencies. Bank failures, events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance, or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions, or
concerns or rumors about such events, may lead to liquidity constraints. For example, on March 10, 2023, Silicon Valley Bank, in which we did not have deposits
at the time, failed and was taken into receivership by the FDIC. The failure of a bank, or other adverse conditions in the financial or credit markets impacting
financial institutions at which we maintain balances, could adversely impact our liquidity and financial performance. There can be no assurance that our
deposits in excess of the FDIC or other comparable insurance limits will be backstopped by the U.S. or applicable foreign government, or that any bank or
financial institution with which we do business will be able to obtain needed liquidity from other banks, government institutions, or by acquisition in the event of
a failure or liquidity crisis.Our reputation and/or business could be negatively impacted by ESG matters and/or our reporting of such matters.There is an
increasing focus from regulators, certain investors, and other stakeholders concerning environmental, social, and governance (ESG) matters, both in the United
States and internationally. ESG-related initiatives, goals, and/or commitments such as those regarding environmental matters, diversity, responsible sourcing
and social investments, and other matters, could be difficult to achieve and costly to implement. The achievement of any goals that we may announce may rely
on the accuracy of our estimates and assumptions supporting those goals. We could fail to achieve, or be perceived to fail to achieve, ESG-related initiatives,
goals or commitments that we might set, and the timing, scope or nature of these initiatives, goals, or commitments, or for any revisions to them may not be
acceptable to the Securities and Exchange Commission or other regulators or stakeholders, including our shareholders. Our actual or perceived failure to adopt
or achieve any ESG-related initiatives, goals, or commitments that we make could negatively impact our reputation or otherwise materially harm our business.If
we are unable to anticipate customer preferences and successfully develop desirable products and solutions, we might not be able to maintain or increase
revenue and profitability.Our success depends on our ability to identify and originate product trends as well as to anticipate, gauge and react to changing
customer demands in a timely manner. All of our products are subject to changing preferences that cannot be predicted with certainty and lead times for our
products may make it more difficult for us to respond rapidly to new or changing product or consumer preferences. If we are unable to introduce appealing new
consumer products or novel technologies in a timely manner, or our new products or technologies are not accepted or adopted by customers, our competitors
may increase their market share, which could hurt our competitive position. It is also possible that competitors could introduce new products and services that
negatively impact 19customer preference in the type of products that we supply, which could result in decreased sales of our product and a loss in market share.
We may not be able to achieve an acceptable return, if any, on our research and development efforts, and our business, results of operations, liquidity and
financial condition may be adversely affected. As we continually seek to enhance our products, we will incur additional costs to incorporate new or revised
features. We might not be able to, or determine that it is not in our interests to, raise prices to compensate for any additional costs.Risks Related to Our
International OperationsOur business is susceptible to risks associated with operations outside of the United States. We have operations in China, the Czech
Republic, Lithuania, Poland, Latvia, Ukraine, India, Taiwan, Vietnam and elsewhere, with our operations in Taiwan and Vietnam, in particular, increasingly
important to our overall business. We also sell to distributors in numerous countries throughout the world. Our operations outside of the United States subject
us to risks that we generally do not face in the United States. These include:a€¢the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws and regulations,
and the risks of non-compliance, including the increased burden of complying with anti-bribery regulations, such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
(&€eFCPAA&€) of the United States, and the risk associated with non-compliance with such laws;a€¢fluctuations in currency exchange rates;a€¢impact of
inflation on local economies;a€¢import and export license requirements, tariffs, economic sanctions, contractual limitations and other trade barriers;a€
¢increasing labor costs, especially in Vietnam and China;a€¢difficulties in managing the geographically remote personnel;a€¢the complexities of foreign tax
systems and changes in their tax rates and rules;a€¢stringent consumer protection and product compliance regulations that are costly to comply with and may
vary from country to country;a€¢limited protection and enforcement regimes for intellectual property rights in some countries;a€c¢business disruptions created
by health crises, pandemics and outbreaks of communicable diseases, especially in China, such as the outbreak of COVID-19;a€¢increased financial accounting
and reporting burdens and complexity; anda€¢political, social and economic instability in some jurisdictions, including impacts of the military conflict between
Russia and Ukraine, the escalating tensions between China and Taiwan and the responses by governments worldwide to such conflicts.Additionally, changes in
the local political, social and economic environment in the countries in which we operate, including Taiwan and Ukraine and its surrounding countries, could
adversely affect our operations outside of the United States, as well as our business, results of operations and financial condition.If any of these risks were to
come to fruition, it could negatively affect our business outside the United States and, consequently, our results of operations. Additionally, operating in markets
outside the United States requires significant management attention and financial resources. We cannot be certain that the investment and additional resources
required to establish, acquire or integrate operations in other countries will produce anticipated levels of revenues or profitability.Our third-party logistics and
warehousing providers in Vietnam and China and elsewhere may fail to safeguard and accurately manage and report our inventory.We use third-party logistics
and warehousing providers located in Vietnam, China and other countries to fulfill a portion of our worldwide sales. We also rely on our third-party logistics and
warehousing providers to safeguard and manage and report on the status of our products at their warehouse and in transit. These service providers may fail to
safeguard our products, fail to accurately segregate and report our inventory, or fail to manage and track the delivery of our products, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.We face significant political risks associated with doing business in
mainland China and Taiwan, particularly due to the tense relationship between mainland China and Taiwan, that could negatively affect our business. We
conduct a portion of our business in mainland China and Taiwan, and our operations in mainland China and Taiwan are critical to our business. For example, we
currently operate significant R&D activities and a warehousing facility in Taiwan. Accordingly, our product development, supply chain operation and overall
business, financial condition and results of operations and the market price of our shares may be affected by changes in governmental policies, taxation,
inflation or interest rates in mainland China and Taiwan and by social instability and diplomatic developments in or affecting mainland China and Taiwan, which
are outside of our control. Relations between mainland China and Taiwan and other factors affecting military, political or economic conditions in mainland China
and Taiwan, including responses by governments worldwide to the geopolitical tension or conflict between mainland China and Taiwan, could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, both China and 20Taiwan are leading manufacturers of the worlda€™s
semiconductor supply. Conflict between China and Taiwan might lead to trade sanctions, technology disputes, or supply chain disruptions, which could, in
particular, affect the semiconductor industry, which might result in reduced availability of components used to manufacture our products, especially chipsets,
which may impact our ability and costs to manufacture our products. To the extent that we develop some of our own manufacturing capacity, we will be subject
to various risks associated with such activities. We invested in developing our own manufacturing capacity to support our product development and prototyping.
To the extent that we may invest in and expand or relocate these manufacturing capabilities, and increasingly rely upon such activities, we will face increased
risks associated with:a4€¢bearing the fixed costs of these activities;a€¢directly procuring components and materials;a€¢regulatory and other compliance
requirements, including import and export license requirements, tariffs, economic sanctions, contractual limitations and other trade barriers;a€¢exposure to
casualty loss and other disruptions; 4€¢quality control; &€¢labor relations; and &€¢our limited experience in operating manufacturing facilities. Since these
activities are currently conducted in Vietnam, Taiwan and China and could be expanded to other foreign countries, some of these risks may be more significant
due to the less predictable legal and political environment. Additionally, changes in the local political, social and economic environment could adversely affect
our ability and plans to develop our own manufacturing capacity.Our business may be negatively affected by political events and foreign policy
responses.Geopolitical uncertainties and events could cause damage or disruption to international commerce and the global economy, and thus could have a
material adverse effect on us, our suppliers, logistics providers, manufacturing vendors and customers, including our distributors and other channel partners.



Changes in commodity prices may also cause political uncertainty and increase currency volatility that can affect economic activity. For example, escalating
tensions between the U.S., China and other countries may result in changes in laws or regulations that will affect our ability to manufacture and sell our
products. The vast majority of our products that are imported into the U.S. from China are currently subject to tariffs that range between 7.5% and 25%. These
tariffs have affected our operating results and margins. Additionally, the imposition of tariffs is dependent upon the classification of items under the Harmonized
Tariff System (4€ceHTS4a€), the value determination of the item and the country of origin of the item. Determination of the HTS, the value and the origin of the
item is a technical matter that can be subjective in nature. Accordingly, although we believe our valuation determinations and classifications of HTS and origin
are appropriate, there is no certainty that government agencies will agree with us. If these agencies do not agree with our determinations, we could be subject
to investigation and could be required to pay additional amounts, including potential penalties which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition. The progress and continuation of trade negotiations between the U.S. and China continues to be uncertain and a
further escalation of the trade war remains a possibility. These tariffs have, and will continue to have, an adverse effect on our results of operations and
margins. We can provide no assurance regarding the magnitude, scope or duration of the imposed tariffs or the magnitude, scope or duration from any relief in
increases to such tariffs, as well as the potential for additional tariffs or trade barriers by the U.S., China or other countries, nor that any strategies we may
implement to mitigate the impact of such tariffs or other trade actions will be successful.Changes in U.S. social, political, regulatory and economic conditions or
in laws and policies governing foreign trade, manufacturing, development and investment in the territories and countries where we currently develop and sell
products, and any negative sentiments towards the U.S. as a result of such changes, could also adversely affect our business. For example, if the U.S.
government withdraws or materially modifies existing or proposed trade agreements, places greater restriction on free trade generally or imposes increases on
tariffs on goods imported into the U.S., particularly from China, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. In
addition, negative sentiments towards the U.S. among non-U.S. customers and among non-U.S. employees or prospective employees could adversely affect sales
or hiring and retention, respectively.The foreign policies of governments may be volatile and may result in rapid changes to import and export requirements,
customs classifications, tariffs, trade sanctions and embargoes or other retaliatory trade measures that may cause us to raise prices, prevent us from offering
products or providing services to particular entities or markets, may cause us to make changes to our operations, or create delays and inefficiencies in our
supply chain. For example, political unrest and uncertainties in the Middle East, Eastern Europe and Asia Pacific, including the military conflict between Russia
and Ukraine and the escalating tensions between China and Taiwan, 21may lead to disruptions in commerce in those regions, which would in turn impact our
sales to those regions. Furthermore, if the U.S. government imposes new sanctions against certain countries or entities, such sanctions could sufficiently restrict
our ability to market and sell our products and may materially adversely affect our results of operations.In addition, reports of certain intelligence gathering
methods of the U.S. government could affect customersa€™ perception of the products of companies based in the United States. Trust and confidence in us as
an equipment supplier is critical to the development and growth of our markets. Impairment of that trust, or foreign regulatory actions taken in response to
reports of certain intelligence gathering methods of the U.S. government, could affect the demand for our products from customers outside of the United States
and could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.Our ability to introduce new products and support our existing products depends on our ability to
manage geographically dispersed research and development teams.Significant parts of our research and development operations are conducted in
geographically dispersed localities. Our success depends on the effectiveness of our research and development activities. We must successfully manage these
geographically dispersed teams in order to meet our objectives for new product introduction, product quality and product support. It can be difficult to
effectively manage geographically dispersed research and development teams. If we fail to do so, we could incur unexpected costs or delays in product
development.Risks Related to Intellectual PropertyWe have limited ability to obtain and enforce intellectual property rights, and may fail to effectively obtain
and enforce such rights. Our success can depend significantly upon our intellectual property rights. We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark,
trade secret laws, and contractual rights to establish, maintain and protect these intellectual property rights, all of which afford only limited protection. Our
patent rights, and the prospective rights sought in our pending patent applications, may not be meaningful or provide us with any commercial advantage and
they could be opposed, contested, circumvented or designed around by our competitors or be declared invalid or unenforceable in legal proceedings. In addition,
patents may not be issued from any of our current or future patent applications. Any failure of our patents or other intellectual property rights to adequately
protect our technology might make it easier for our competitors to offer similar products or technologies.We may fail to apply for patents on important products,
services, technologies or designs in a timely fashion, or at all. We may not have sufficient intellectual property rights in all countries where unauthorized third
party copying or use of our proprietary technology occurs and the scope of our intellectual property might be more limited in certain countries. Our existing and
future patents may not be sufficient to protect our products, services, technologies or designs and/or may not prevent others from developing competing
products, services, technologies or designs. We cannot predict the validity and enforceability of our patents and other intellectual property with certainty.We
have registered, and applied to register, certain of our trademarks in several jurisdictions worldwide. In some of those jurisdictions, third party filings exist for
the same, similar or otherwise related products or services, which could block the registration of our marks. Even if we are able to register our marks,
competitors may adopt or file similar marks to ours, register domain names that mimic or incorporate our marks, or otherwise infringe upon our trademark
rights. Although we police our trademark rights carefully, there can be no assurance that we are aware of all third party uses or that we will prevail in enforcing
our rights in all such instances. Any of these negative outcomes could impact the strength, value and effectiveness of our brand, as well as our ability to market
our products. We have also registered domain names for websites, or URLs, that we use in our business, such as www.ui.com. If we are unable to protect our
domain names, our brand, business, and results of operations could be adversely affected. Domain names similar to ours have already been registered in the
United States and elsewhere, and we may be unable to prevent third parties from acquiring and using domain names that infringe, are similar to, or otherwise
decrease the value of, our brand or our trademarks. In addition, although we own www.ui.com and various other global top-level domains, we might not be able
to, or may choose not to, acquire or maintain other country-specific URLs in which we currently conduct or intend to conduct business.Confidentiality
agreements with our employees, licensees, independent contractors and others may not effectively prevent disclosure of our trade secrets, and may not provide
an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of our trade secrets. We may also fail or have failed to obtain such agreements from such
persons due to administrative oversights or other reasons. Monitoring unauthorized use of our intellectual property is difficult and costly. Unauthorized use of
our intellectual property, such as the production of counterfeits of our products, and unauthorized registration and use of our trademarks by third parties, is a
matter of ongoing concern. The steps we have taken may not prevent unauthorized use of our intellectual property. We may fail to detect infringements of, or
take appropriate steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights. Our competitors might independently develop similar technology without infringing our
intellectual property rights. Our inability or failure to effectively protect our intellectual property could reduce the value of our technology and could impair our
ability to compete. Any inability or failure by us to 22meaningfully protect our intellectual property could result in competitors offering products that
incorporate our most technologically advanced features.We have initiated and may continue to initiate legal proceedings to enforce our intellectual property
rights. Litigation, whether we are a plaintiff or a defendant, can be expensive and time-consuming, may place our intellectual property at risk of being
invalidated or narrowed in scope, and may divert the efforts of our technical staff and managerial personnel.Enforcement of our intellectual property rights
abroad, particularly in China, Russia and South America, is limited. The intellectual property protection and enforcement regimes in certain countries outside
the United States are generally not as comprehensive as in the United States, and may not adequately protect our intellectual property. The legal regimes
relating to the recognition and enforcement of intellectual property rights in China, Russia and South America are particularly limited. Legal proceedings to
enforce our intellectual property in these jurisdictions may progress slowly, during which time infringement may continue largely unimpeded. Countries that
have relatively inefficient intellectual property protection and enforcement regimes represent a significant portion of the demand for our products. These factors
may make it more challenging for us to enforce our intellectual property rights against infringement. The infringement of our intellectual property rights,
particularly in these jurisdictions, may materially harm our business in these markets and elsewhere by reducing our sales, and adversely affecting our results of
operations, and diluting our brand or reputation.Our contract manufacturers may not respect our intellectual property, and may produce products that compete
with ours. Our contract manufacturers operate primarily in Vietnam and China, where the prosecution of intellectual property infringement and trade secret
theft is more difficult than in the United States. In the past, our contract manufacturers, their affiliates, their other customers or their suppliers have attempted
to participate in efforts to misappropriate our intellectual property and trade secrets to manufacture our products for themselves or others without our
knowledge. Even if the agreements with our contract manufacturers, and applicable laws, prohibit them from misusing our intellectual property and trade
secrets, we may be unsuccessful in monitoring and enforcing our intellectual property rights against them. We have in the past, and may continue to discover,
counterfeit goods being sold as our products or as other brands.We operate in an industry with extensive intellectual property litigation. Our commercial
success depends in part upon us and our component suppliers not infringing intellectual property rights owned by others, and being able to resolve intellectual
property claims without major financial expenditures. Our key component suppliers are often targets of intellectual property claims, and we are subject to
claims as well.There are numerous patents and patent applications in the United States and other countries relating to communications technologies. It can be
difficult or impossible to conduct meaningful searches for patents relating to our technologies, or to approach third parties to seek a license to their patents.
Even extensive searches for patents that may be relevant to our products may not uncover all relevant patents and patent applications. Because of the existence
of a large number of patents in the networking field, the secrecy of some pending patents, and the rapid rate of issuance of new patents, it is not economically
practical or even possible to determine in advance whether a product or any of its components infringes or will infringe on the patent rights of others. The
asserted claims and/or initiated litigation can include claims against us or our manufacturers, suppliers, or customers, alleging infringement of their proprietary
rights with respect to our existing or future products or components of those products. Regardless of the merit of these claims, they can be time-consuming,
result in costly litigation and diversion of technical and management personnel, or require us to develop a non-infringing technology or enter into license
agreements. Where claims are made by customers, resistance even to unmeritorious claims could damage customer relationships.We cannot determine with
certainty whether any existing or future third-party intellectual property rights would require us to alter our technologies, obtain licenses or cease certain
activities. There can be no assurance that licenses will be available on acceptable terms and conditions, if at all, or that our suppliers will indemnify us, or that
any indemnification will be adequate to cover our costs if a claim were brought directly against us or our customers. Furthermore, because of the potential for
high court awards that are not necessarily predictable, it is not unusual to find even arguably unmeritorious claims settled for significant amounts.We have
received, and may in the future receive, claims from third parties, including competitors and non-practicing entities, asserting intellectual property infringement
and other related claims. We expect to continue to receive such intellectual property claims in the future. As our revenues grow and our profile increases, the
frequency and significance of these claims may increase.Whether or not there is merit to a given claim, it can be time consuming and costly to defend against,
and could:a€¢adversely affect our relationships with our current or future users, customers and suppliers;a€¢cause delays or stoppages in the shipment of our
products;a€¢cause us to modify or redesign our products;23a€¢cause us to rebrand our products or services;a€¢subject us to a temporary or permanent
injunction;a€¢divert managementa€™ s attention and resources;a€¢subject us to significant damages or settlements;a€¢cause us to give up some of our



intellectual property;a€¢require us to enter into costly licensing agreements; ora€¢require us to cease offering certain of our products or services.Some of our
competitors may have substantially greater resources than we do and may be able to sustain the costs of complex intellectual property litigation to a greater
degree and for longer periods of time than we could. In addition, patent holding companies and other third-party non-practicing entities that focus on extracting
royalties and settlements by enforcing patent rights may target our component suppliers, manufacturers, us, our distributors, members of our sales channels,
our network operators and service providers, or other purchasers of our products. These companies typically have little or no product revenues and therefore
our patents may provide little or no deterrence against such companies filing patent infringement lawsuits against our component suppliers, manufacturers, us,
our distributors, members of our sales channels, network operators and service providers, or other purchasers of our products.In addition to liability for
monetary damages against us or, in certain circumstances, against end users of our products, we may be prohibited from developing, commercializing or
continuing to provide certain of our products unless we obtain licenses from the holders of the patents or other intellectual property rights. We cannot assure
you that we will be able to obtain any such licenses on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If we do not obtain licenses, our business, results of operations
and financial condition could be materially affected and we could, for example, be required to cease offering our products or be required to materially alter our
products, which could involve substantial costs and time to develop.The production of counterfeit versions of our products may reduce our sales levels and
damage our brand. We have in the past and continue to discover counterfeit versions of our products. Although we have taken steps to combat counterfeiting, it
is difficult or impossible to detect or prevent all instances of counterfeiting. Particularly if the quality of counterfeit products is poor, damage could be done to
our brand. Counterfeit sales, to the extent they replace otherwise legitimate sales, could also adversely affect our operating results. Combating counterfeiting is
difficult and expensive, and may not be successful, especially in countries that have a relatively weak legal regime for the protection of intellectual property.We
use open source software in our products that may subject source code to public release or require us to re-engineer our products.We use open source software
in certain of our products, and may use more open source software in the future. There have been claims challenging the ownership of software and claims of
copyright infringement against companies that use open source software in the development of their products. We could become subject to claims regarding the
ownership of what we believe to be our proprietary software and claims of copyright infringement.Usage of open source software can also lead to greater risks
than the use of third-party commercial software, because open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on origin of the software.Some
open source licenses contain requirements that users make available and license the source code for the modifications or derivative works that they create
based upon the open source software. If we combine our proprietary software with open source software we could, in some circumstances, be required to
release our proprietary source code publicly or license such source code on unfavorable terms or at no cost. That could significantly diminish the value of some
of our products and negatively affect our business.We are incorporating artificial intelligence technologies into our products, services and processes. These
technologies may present business, compliance, and reputational risks.Recent technological advances in artificial intelligence (Al) and machine-learning
technology both present opportunities and pose risks to us. If we fail to keep pace with rapidly evolving technological developments in Al, our competitive
position and business results may suffer. At the same time, use of Al has recently become the source of significant media attention and political debate. The
introduction of these technologies, particularly generative Al, into internal processes, new and existing offerings may result in new or expanded risks and
liabilities, including due to enhanced governmental or regulatory scrutiny, litigation, compliance issues, ethical concerns, confidentiality or security risks, as
well as other factors that could adversely affect our business, reputation, and financial results. In addition, our personnel could, unbeknownst to us, improperly
utilize AI and machine learning-technology while carrying out their responsibilities. The use of artificial intelligence can lead to unintended consequences,
including generating content that appears correct but is factually inaccurate, misleading or otherwise flawed, or that results in unintended biases and
discriminatory outcomes, which could harm our reputation and business and expose us to risks related to inaccuracies or errors in the output of such
24technologies. We also face risks of competitive disadvantage if our competitors more effectively use Al to create new or enhanced products or services that
we are unable to compete against.Risks Related to Our Management and StructureWe are reliant on our founder and Chief Executive Officer, Robert J. Pera,
and the departure or loss of Mr. Pera or other key personnel would disrupt our business.Our success and future growth depend on the skills, working
relationships and continued services of our founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Robert J. Pera, as well as the other members of our management
team. We do not maintain any significant key person insurance with regard to any of our personnel. Mr. Pera, in particular, is central to our product
development efforts and overall strategic direction. The departure or loss of Mr. Pera or any of the other members of our management team and the inability to
identify and hire a qualified replacement timely would adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. Our business model relies in
part on leanly staffed, independent and efficient research and development teams. Our research and development teams are organized around small groups or
individual contributors for a given platform, and there is little overlap in knowledge and responsibilities. In the event that we are unable to retain the services of
any key contributors or are unable to identify and attract additional contributors, we may be unable to bring our products or product improvements to market in
a timely manner, if at all, due to disruption in our development activities.Our future success also depends on our ability to attract, retain and motivate our
management and skilled personnel. Competition for personnel exists in the industries in which we participate, particularly for persons with specialized
experience in areas such as antenna design and radio frequency equipment. If we are unable to attract and retain the necessary personnel our business, results
of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.We may fail to manage our growth effectively and develop and implement
appropriate control systems.We have substantially expanded our business and operations in recent periods, including increases in the number of our
distributors, contract manufacturers, headcount locations and facilities. This rapid expansion places a significant strain on our managerial, administrative, and
operational resources. Our business model reflects our decision to operate with streamlined infrastructure, with lower support and administrative headcount.
This may increase the risks associated with managing our growth, and we may not have sufficient internal resources to adapt or respond to unexpected
challenges and compliance requirements.Our profitability may decline as we expand into new product areas.We receive a substantial majority of our revenues
from the sale of outdoor wireless networking equipment and enterprise WLAN. As we expand into other products and services, such as video surveillance
equipment, voice communication equipment, security access equipment, wireless backhaul, consumer electronics, and Software-as-a-Services, we may not be
able to compete effectively with existing market participants and may not be able to realize a positive return on the investment we have made in these products
or services. Entering these markets may result in increased product development costs, and our new products may have extended time to market relative to our
current products. If our introduction of a new product is not successful, or if we are not able to achieve the revenues or margins that we expect, our results of
operations may be harmed and we may not recover our product development and marketing expenditures.We may also be required to add a traditional direct
sales force and customer support personnel to market and support new or existing products, which would cause us to experience substantially lower product
margins or increase our operating expenses. Adding a traditional direct sales force or customer support personnel would reduce our operating income and may
not be successful.Our operating expenses are increasing as we make expenditures to enhance and expand our operations.Over the past several years, we have
increased our expenditure on infrastructure to support our anticipated growth. We are continuing to make significant investments in information systems, hiring
more administrative personnel, using more professional services and expanding our operations outside the United States. We intend to make additional
investments in systems and personnel and continue to expand our operations to support anticipated growth in our business. As a result, we expect our operating
expenses to increase.In addition, we may need in the future to build a traditional direct sales force to market and sell our products or provide additional
resources or cooperative funds to our distributors. Such changes to our existing sales model would likely result in higher selling, general and administrative
expenses as a percentage of our revenues.We rely on third-party software and services to conduct our enterprise resource planning, financial planning and
analysis, and financial reporting. We also rely on third party software and service for our computing, storage, bandwidth, and other services. Any disruption of
or interference with these services would negatively affect our operations and seriously harm our business.We currently use NetSuite and other software and
services to conduct our order management and financial processes. The availability of this service is essential to the management of our business. As we expand
our operations, we expect to utilize additional systems 25and service providers that may also be essential to managing our business. Although the systems and
services that we require are typically available from a number of providers, it is time consuming and costly to qualify and implement these relationships.We rely
on third party service providers, such as G-Suite, Google Cloud and Amazon Web Services, to provide distributed computing infrastructure platforms for
business operations, or what is commonly referred to as a 4€ceclouda€ computing service. Any transition of the cloud services currently provided by these
service providers to another cloud provider would be difficult to implement and will cause us to incur significant time and expense. If our existing cloud service
providers experience interruptions in service regularly or for a prolonged basis, or other similar issues, our business would be seriously harmed. Additionally,
our existing cloud service providers have broad discretion to change and interpret its terms of service and other policies with respect to us, and they may take
actions beyond our control that could harm our business.Our ability to manage our business would suffer if one or more of our providers suffer an interruption in
their business, or experience delays, disruptions or quality control problems in their operations, or we have to change or add additional systems and services.
We may not be able to control the quality of the systems and services we receive from third party service providers, which could impair our financial reporting
and may negatively impact our business, results of operations and financial condition.Our debt levels could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital
to pay dividends, repurchase our shares of common stock and fund our operations or limit our ability to react to changes in our industry or the economy.As of
JuneA 30, 2024, our balance outstanding under the Amended Credit Agreement for our Term Facilities and Revolving Facility (each as defined herein), was
$533.1A million and $175.0A million, respectively. In the future we may need to raise additional capital to finance our payment of dividends or repurchase
shares of our common stock and fund our growth and operational goals. If additional financing is not available when required or on acceptable terms, we may
not be able to pay dividends, repurchase shares of common stock, expand our business, develop or enhance our products, take advantage of business
opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, which could result in lower revenues and reduce the competitiveness of our products.In addition, any
potential debt level increases could have important consequences, including:a€¢requiring a substantial portion of cash flows from operations to be dedicated to
the payment of principal and interest on our indebtedness, thereby reducing our ability to use our cash flows to fund our operations and capital expenditures,
pay dividends, repurchase shares of our common stock and pursue business opportunities;a€¢increasing our vulnerability to general industry and economic
conditions;a€¢limiting our ability to make strategic acquisitions or causing us to make non-strategic divestitures;a€¢limiting our ability to obtain additional
financing for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements, acquisitions and general corporate or other purposes; anda€¢limiting our ability
to adjust to changing market conditions and placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared to competitors who are less highly leveraged or have access to
more capital.If we are unable to integrate future acquisitions successfully, our business, results of operations and prospects could be harmed.We may make
acquisitions to improve or expand our product offerings. Our future acquisition strategy will depend on our ability to identify, negotiate, complete and integrate
acquisitions. These transactions involve numerous risks, including:a€¢difficulties or delays in integrating and managing the operations, systems, technologies,
personnel and products of the companies we acquire, particularly in light of our lean organizational structure;a€¢diversion of our managementa€™ s attention
from normal daily operation of our business;a€¢our inability to maintain the key business relationships and the brand equity of the businesses we acquire;a€
¢our inability to retain key personnel of the acquired business, particularly in light of the demands we place on individual contributors;&€¢uncertainty of entry



into markets in which we have limited or no prior experience and in which competitors have stronger market positions;a€¢our dependence on unfamiliar
affiliates and partners of the companies we acquire;a€ ¢insufficient revenues to offset our increased expenses associated with acquisitions;a€¢our responsibility
for the liabilities of the businesses we acquire, including those which we may not anticipate; anda€¢our inability to maintain internal standards, controls,
procedures and policies, particularly in light of our lean organizational structure.We may be unable to secure the equity or debt funding necessary to finance
future acquisitions on terms that are acceptable to us. Completing acquisitions could consume significant amounts of cash. If we finance acquisitions by issuing
equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders will likely experience dilution, and if we finance future acquisitions with debt funding, we will
incur interest expense and may have to comply with covenants and secure that debt obligation with our assets.260ur investments in new businesses, products,
services, technologies, joint ventures and other strategic transactions are inherently risky, and could disrupt our current operations.We have invested and
expect to continue to invest in new businesses, products, services, technologies, joint ventures and other strategic initiatives. These investments may involve
significant risks and uncertainties, including insufficient revenues from such investments to offset any new liabilities assumed and expenses incurred in
connection with these new investments, inadequate return of or loss of our investments, distraction of management from current operations, and unidentified
issues not discovered in our due diligence of such investments that could cause us to fail to realize the anticipated benefits of such investments and incur
unanticipated costs, expenses and liabilities. Because these investments are inherently risky, no assurance can be given that such investments will be successful
and will not adversely affect our reputation, business prospects, results of operation and financial condition.Compliance with conflict mineral disclosure
requirements necessitates additional compliance cost and may create reputational challenges.Pursuant to Section 1502 of the Dodd-Frank Act, United States
publicly-traded companies are required to disclose use or potential use of certain minerals and their derivatives, including tantalum, tin, gold and tungsten, that
are mined from the Democratic Republic of Congo and adjoining countries and deemed conflict minerals.These requirements necessitate due diligence efforts to
assess whether such minerals are used in our products in order to make the relevant required annual disclosures. There are, and will be, ongoing costs
associated with complying with these disclosure requirements, including diligence to determine the sources of those minerals that may be used or necessary to
the production of our products. Accordingly, our ability to determine with certainty the origin and chain of custody of these raw materials is limited. We may
face reputational challenges that could impact future sales if we determine that certain of our products contain minerals not determined to be conflict free or if
we are unable to verify with sufficient accuracy the origins of all conflict minerals used in our products.Risks Related to Our Common StockOur Chief Executive
Officer owns a majority of our common stock.Robert J. Pera, our founder, Chairman, and Chief Executive Officer, is able to exercise voting rights with respect to
a majority of the voting power of our outstanding stock and therefore has the ability to control the outcome of matters submitted to our stockholders for
approval, including the election of directors and any merger, consolidation, or sale of all or substantially all of our assets. This concentrated control could delay,
defer, or prevent a change of control, merger, consolidation, or sale of all or substantially all of our assets that our other stockholders support, or conversely this
concentrated control could result in the consummation of such a transaction that our other stockholders do not support. This concentrated control could also
discourage certain potential investors from acquiring our common stock and might harm the trading price of our stock. In addition, Mr. Pera has the ability to
control the management and major strategic investments of our company as a result of his position as our Chief Executive Officer and his ability to control the
election or replacement of our directors. In the event of his death, the shares of our stock that Mr. Pera owns will be transferred to his successors, who may
desire or be required to sell a significant portion of such shares. As a board member and officer, Mr. Pera owes a fiduciary duty to our stockholders and must act
in good faith in a manner he reasonably believes to be in the best interests of our stockholders. As a stockholder, even a controlling stockholder, Mr. Pera is
entitled to vote his shares in his own interests, which may not always be in the interests of our stockholders generally.As of AugustA 23, 2024, Mr. Pera
beneficially owned 56,278,181 shares of our common stock. These shares are eligible for resale into the public market within the restrictions imposed by Rule
144 under the Securities Act of 1933. Sales of a significant amount of Mr. Peraa€™s shares could adversely affect the market price for our common stock. Mr.
Pera has indicated to us that he may in the future from time to time pledge shares of common stock as collateral for margin or other loans, enter into derivative
transactions based on the value of our common stock, dispose of shares of common stock, otherwise monetize shares of his common stock and/or engage in
other transactions relating to shares of our common stock and/or other securities of the company. In the event Mr. Pera pledges shares of common stock as
collateral for margin or other loans, Mr. Pera may need to sell shares of our common stock to meet applicable repayment requirements. Upon a default under
such loans, the lender could sell the pledged shares into the market without limitation on volume or manner of sale. Any of these activities by Mr. Pera may
adversely affect the price of our common stock. However, Mr. Pera has also indicated that he intends to continue to own at least a majority of our outstanding
shares of common stock.Not paying cash dividends to our stockholders, or repurchasing shares of our common stock could cause the market price for our
common stock to decline.Our payment of cash dividends is subject to, among other things, declaration by the Board of Directors of the Company, our financial
position and results of operations, available cash and cash flow, capital requirements, our obligations, contingent liabilities, applicable corporate legal
requirements, and other factors. If the Company fails to meet expectations related to dividends, its stock price may decline, which could have a material adverse
impact on investor confidence and employee retention. These and other factors may also 27affect our ability to repurchase shares of our common stock. Failure
to pay cash dividends could cause the market price of our common stock to decline. Failure to repurchase shares of our common stock could also result in a
lower market price of our common stock.Fluctuations in our results of operations could cause the market price of our common stock to decline. Our quarterly
results of operations fluctuate significantly due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control and are difficult or impossible to predict. We
expect our results of operations will continue to fluctuate. You should not rely on our past results as an indication of our future performance. If our revenues or
results of operations fall below the expectations of investors or securities analysts, or below any estimates we may provide to the market, the price of our
common stock would likely decline substantially, which could have a material adverse impact on investor confidence and employee retention. Our common stock
has experienced substantial price volatility since our initial public offering. In addition, the stock market as a whole has experienced major price and volume
fluctuations that have affected the stock price of many technology companies in ways that may have been unrelated to these companiesa€™ operating
performance.Factors that could cause our results of operation and stock price to fluctuate include:a€¢varying demand for our products due to the financial and
operating condition of our distributors and their customers, distributor inventory management practices and general economic conditions;a€ ¢shifts in our
fulfillment practices including increasing inventory levels as part of efforts to decrease our delivery lead times;a€¢failure of our suppliers to provide
components;a€¢failure of our contract manufacturers and suppliers to meet our demand;a€¢success and timing of new product introductions by us, and our
competitors;a€¢increased warranty costs;a€¢announcements by us or our competitors regarding products, promotions or other transactions;a€¢costs related to
legal proceedings or responding to government inquiries;a€¢our ability to control and reduce product costs; anda€¢expenses of our entry into new markets.In
addition, our business may be subject to seasonality, although our recent growth rates and timing of product introductions may have historically masked our
seasonal changes in demand. For example, our products may be subject to general seasonal spending trends associated with holidays.Risks Related to
Regulatory, Legal and Tax MattersWe are subject to export control and economic sanctions laws in the United States and elsewhere which could impair our
ability to compete in international markets and subject us to liability if we do not comply with applicable laws.A substantial majority of our sales are into
countries outside of the United States. Sales of our products into certain countries are restricted or prohibited under U.S. export control and economic sanctions
laws. In addition, certain of our products incorporate encryption components that are subject to export control regulations.In May 2011, we filed a self-
disclosure statement with the U.S. Commerce Department, Bureau of Industry and Securitya€™s (a€eBISa€) Office of Export Enforcement (4€ceOEE&€)
relating a review conducted by us regarding certain export transactions from 2008 through March 2011 in which products may have been later sold into Iran by
third parties. In June 2011, we also filed a self-disclosure statement with the U.S. Department of the Treasurya€™s Office of Foreign Asset Control
(&€0eOFACa€) regarding these compliance issues. We resolved the matters described in our self-disclosures with the BIS and OFAC, and have taken significant
steps towards ensuring our compliance with export control regulations and embargoes. It is, however, possible that violations may occur in the future. If
violations should occur in the future, the response of regulators may be more severe in light of prior compliance concerns.In addition to U.S. export regulations,
various other countries regulate the import of certain encryption technology and products, and these laws could limit our ability to distribute our products or
our customersa€™ ability to implement our products in those countries. Changes in our products or changes in export and import regulations may create delays
in the introduction of our products in other countries, prevent our customers with international operations from deploying our products or, in some cases,
prevent the transfer of our products to certain countries altogether. Any change in export or import regulations or related legislation, shift in approach to the
enforcement or scope of existing regulations, or change in the countries, persons or technologies targeted by such regulations, could negatively impact our
ability to sell our products to existing customers or the ability of our current and potential distributors, network operators and service providers outside the
United States.Even though we take precautions to prevent our products from being provided to targets of U.S. sanctions, our products, including our firmware
updates, could be provided by our distributors, resellers and/or end users despite such precautions. Any such provision could 28have negative consequences,
including government investigations, penalties and reputational harm. Our failure or inability to obtain required import or export approval for our products
could harm our international and domestic sales and adversely affect our revenue.Existing and new regulations, changes in existing regulations, or the
enforcement of any regulations related to our products may result in unanticipated burdens, reduced demand, costs and liabilities and could materially and
adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, and our brand.Our products are subject to governmental regulations in a variety of jurisdictions. In
order to achieve and maintain market acceptance, our products must continue to comply with these regulations as well as a significant number of industry
standards. For example, our wireless communication products operate through the transmission of radio signals, and radio emissions are subject to regulation in
the United States and in other countries in which we do business. In the United States, various federal agencies including the Center for Devices and
Radiological Health of the Food and Drug Administration, the Federal Communications Commission, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration and
various state agencies have promulgated regulations that concern the use of radio/electromagnetic emissions standards. Member countries of the European
Union and other countries have enacted similar standards concerning electrical safety and electromagnetic compatibility and emissions, and chemical
substances and use standards.As these regulations and standards evolve, and if new regulations or standards are implemented, we will be required to modify
our products or develop and support new versions of our products, and our compliance with these regulations and standards may become more burdensome.
The failure of our products to comply, or delays in compliance, with the various existing and evolving industry regulations and standards could prevent or delay
introduction of our products, which could harm our business. End customer uncertainty regarding future policies may also affect demand for communications
products, including our products. For example, changes in government regulations providing funding for capital investment in new industries, products or
services, such as any government funding of products supporting wireline connectivity rather than wireless connectivity, could adversely impact products that
are purchased by our end customers and adversely impact our business, results of operations and financial condition. Further, government requirements around
the world requiring or providing preference to, domestically produced goods may limit our ability to sell our products to customers in such jurisdictions,
impacting our ability to grow our sales in such jurisdictions, adversely impacting our revenues, operations and financial condition. If existing laws or regulations
regarding the use of our products or services are enforced in a manner not previously contemplated by us, our channel partners or our end customers, it could



expose us or them to liability and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, and our brand. Moreover, channel
partners or end customers may require us, or we may otherwise deem it necessary or advisable, to alter our products to address actual or anticipated changes in
the regulatory environment. Our inability to alter our products to address these requirements and any regulatory changes may have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition, results of operations, and our brand. Further, the enforcement of laws and regulations may force us to withdraw one or more of our
products from sale in certain jurisdictions or to recall one or more of our products in certain jurisdictions. We may incur costs and expenses relating to a
withdrawal from a particular market or a recall of one or more of our products. The process of identifying products that have been widely distributed for
withdrawals and recalls may be lengthy and require significant resources and we may incur significant replacement costs, damage claims and harm to our
reputation. We are and expect to continue to be the subject of investigations, inquiries, data requests, actions, orders, and audits by government authorities and
regulators in the United States, the European Union, and around the world. Orders issued by, or inquiries or enforcement actions initiated by, government or
regulatory authorities could cause us to incur substantial costs, expose us to unanticipated liability or penalties or require us to change our business practices in
a manner materially adverse to our financial condition, results of operations, and our brand.Our failure to comply with U.S. and foreign laws related to privacy,
data security, cybersecurity and data protection, such as the E.U. Data Protection Directive and China Cybersecurity Law, could adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations, and our brand.We are or may become subject to a variety of laws and regulations in the United States and abroad regarding
privacy, data security, cybersecurity and data protection. These laws and regulations are continuously evolving and developing. The scope and interpretation of
the laws that are or may be applicable to us and our business, including our webstore sales, are often uncertain and may be conflicting, particularly with respect
to foreign laws.In particular, there are numerous U.S. federal, state, and local laws and regulations and foreign laws and regulations regarding privacy and the
collection, sharing, use, processing, disclosure, and protection of personal information and other user data. Such laws and regulations often have changes in
scope, may be subject to differing interpretations, and may be inconsistent among different jurisdictions. The costs of compliance with, and other burdens
imposed by, these regulations may limit the use and adoption of our products and services and could have an adverse impact on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.For example, in April 2016, the E.U. Parliament approved a new data protection regulation, known as the General Data
Protection Regulation (a€0eGDPRa€), which came into force on May 25, 2018. The GDPR includes operational requirements for companies that receive or
process personal data of residents of the European Union that are different than those previously in place in the European Union, and that include significant
penalties for non-compliance. Another example, in November 2016, the Standing Committee of 29Chinaa€™s National Peoplea€™s Congress passed Chinad€™s
first Cybersecurity Law (a€0eCSL&€), which took effect in June 2017. The CSL is the first Chinese law that systematically lays out the regulatory requirements on
cybersecurity and data protection, subjecting many previously under-regulated or unregulated activities in cyberspace to government scrutiny. More recently,
the Personal Information Security Specification went into effect in October 2020, which has broad but uncertain applications and imposes a number of new
privacy and data security obligations. China is also implementing new legislation on the protection of privacy and personal data, including a Personal
Information Protection Law and a Data Security Law, each of which went into effect in September 2021 and may impose new obligations on us. Additionally,
California enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act, as amended (the &4€0eCCPA4&€) that, among other things, requires covered companies to provide new
disclosures to California consumers, and afford such consumers new abilities to opt-out of certain sales of personal information. The CCPA took effect on January
1, 2020 with the privacy provisions enforceable by the California Attorney General as of July 1, 2020, and the regulations becoming enforceable as of August 1,
2020. The CCPA was significantly expanded on January 1, 2023, when the California Privacy Rights Act (a4€ceCPRA&€) became effective. The CPRA amendments,
among other things, give California residents the ability to limit use of certain sensitive personal information, further restrict the use of cross-contextual
advertising, establish restrictions on the retention of personal information, expand the types of data breaches subject to the CCPA&€™ s private right of action,
provide for increased penalties for CCPA violations concerning California residents under the age of 16, and establish a new California Privacy Protection
Agency to implement and enforce the new law. In addition, data privacy and security laws have been proposed at the federal, state, and local levels in recent
years, which could further complicate compliance efforts. For example, states such as Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, Indiana, lowa, Kentucky, Maryland,
Minnesota, Montana, Nebraska, New Hampshire, New Jersey, Oregon, Tennessee, Texas, Virginia, and Utah have enacted their own data privacy laws. Given
the recent implementation of these regulations, we cannot yet predict the impact of these regulations on our business or operations. We strive to comply with all
applicable laws, policies and legal obligations relating to privacy, data security, cybersecurity and data protection. However, given that the scope,
interpretation, and application of these laws and regulations are often uncertain and may be conflicting, it is possible that these obligations may be interpreted
and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another and may conflict with other rules or our practices. Any failure or perceived failure
by us or third-party service-providers to comply with our privacy or security policies or privacy-related legal obligations, or any compromise of security that
results in the unauthorized release or transfer of personally identifiable information or other user data, may result in governmental enforcement actions,
litigation, or negative publicity, and could have an adverse effect on our brand, results of operations and financial condition.Governments are continuing to focus
on privacy, cybersecurity, data protection and data security and it is possible that new privacy or data security laws will be passed or existing laws will be
amended in a way that is material to our business. Any significant change to applicable laws, regulations, or industry practices regarding our employeesa€™ and
usersa€™ data could require us to modify our business, services and products features, possibly in a material manner, and may limit our ability to develop new
products, services, and features. Although we have made efforts to design our policies, procedures, and systems to comply with the current requirements of
applicable state, federal, and foreign laws, changes to applicable laws and regulations in this area could subject us to additional regulation and oversight, any of
which could significantly increase our operating costs.Government regulations designed to protect personal privacy may make it difficult for us to sell our
products. Our products may transmit and store personal information. The handling of such information is increasingly subject to regulations in numerous
jurisdictions around the world. These regulations are typically intended to protect the privacy and security of personal information that is collected, stored and
transmitted in or from the governing jurisdiction. In addition, because various foreign jurisdictions have different regulations concerning the storage and
transmission of personal information, we may face unknown requirements that pose compliance challenges in new geographic markets that we seek to enter.
Our efforts to protect the privacy of information may also fail if our encryption and security technology is inadequate or fails to operate as expected. The
difficulties in complying with privacy and data protection regulations could subject us to costs, delayed product launches, liabilities or negative publicity that
could impair our ability to maintain or expand our operations into some countries and therefore limit our future growth.The vast majority of our products rely on
the availability of specific unlicensed radio frequency spectrum.The vast majority of our products operate in unlicensed radio frequency (a€ceRFa€) spectrum,
which is used by a wide range of devices such as cordless phones, baby monitors, and microwave ovens, and is becoming increasingly crowded. If such spectrum
usage continues to increase through the proliferation of consumer electronics and products competitive with ours, and others, the resultant higher levels of
clutter and interference in the frequency bands used by our products could decrease the usage of our products. Our business could be further harmed if
currently unlicensed RF spectrum becomes subject to licensing in the United States or elsewhere. Network operators and service providers that use our
products may be unable to obtain licenses for RF spectrum at reasonable prices or at all. Even if the unlicensed spectrum remains unlicensed, existing and new
government regulations may require we make changes in our products. For example, to provide products for network operators and service providers who
utilize unlicensed RF spectrum, we may be required to limit their ability to use our products in licensed RF spectrum. The operation of our products by network
operators 30or service providers in the United States or elsewhere in a manner not in compliance with local law could result in fines, operational disruption, or
harm to our reputation. In addition, if new spectrums, either licensed or unlicensed, are made available by government regulatory agencies for broadband
wireless communication that may disrupt the competitive landscape of our industry and impact our business.We could be adversely affected by unfavorable
results in litigation. We may be involved, from time to time, in a variety of claims, lawsuits, investigations, and proceedings relating to contractual disputes,
intellectual property rights, employment matters, regulatory compliance matters, consumer or securities class-actions and other litigation matters relating to
various claims that arise in the normal course of business and otherwise. It can be difficult or impossible to predict the outcome of legal proceedings with any
degree of certainty, particularly given that laws may be ambiguous and factual findings can often be the result of incomplete evidence, opinions, varying
standards or proof, and extraneous factors. Any such proceedings or matters may adversely affect how we operate the business, divert the attention of
management from the operation of the business, have an adverse effect on our reputation, result in additional costs and adversely affect our results of
operations. If one or more of the legal proceedings to which we may be or become a party are resolved against us, our results of operations and financial
condition could be adversely affected.We may become subject to warranty claims, product liability and product recalls.We have received, and may in the future
receive, warranty or product liability claims that may require us to make significant expenditures to defend these claims or pay damage awards. In the event of a
successful warranty claim, we may also incur costs if we compensate the affected network operator or service provider. Such claims may require a significant
amount of time and expense to resolve and defend against, and could also harm our reputation by calling into question the quality of our products. We also may
incur costs and expenses relating to a recall of one or more of our products. The process of identifying recalled products that have been widely distributed may
be lengthy and require significant resources and we may incur significant replacement costs, contract damage claims and harm to our reputation.Our customers
and the users of our products may expect us to indemnify them against claims for intellectual property infringement, defective products and other losses.Our
customers, users and other parties may expect us to indemnify them for losses incurred in connection with our products, including as a result of intellectual
property infringement, defective products, and security vulnerabilities, even if our agreements with them do not require us to provide this indemnification. In
some instances, we may decide to defend and indemnify them, irrespective of whether we believe that we have an obligation to do so. The expenses associated
with providing indemnification can be substantial. We may also reject demands for indemnification, which may lead to disputes with a customer or other party
and may negatively impact our relationships with them.If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our
financial condition or results of operations or safeguard our assets.Effective internal controls over financial reporting are necessary for us to provide reliable
financial reports and, together with other controls and procedures, are designed to prevent fraud. Any failure to implement required new or improved controls,
or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations, and prevent us from producing accurate and timely
financial statements to manage our business. If we fail to do so, our business could be negatively affected and our independent registered public accounting firm
may be unable to attest to the fair presentation of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (84€0eGAAPA€) and the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud, our reputation and
results of operations could be harmed. Even effective internal controls have inherent limitations, including the possibility of human error, the circumvention or
overriding of controls, or fraud. Therefore, even effective internal controls can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements. The preparation of consolidated financial statements also requires us to make estimates and assumptions. We base our
estimates on historical experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. To the extent that there are differences
between our estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows will be affected.



As events continue to evolve our estimates may change materially in future periods. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting in future periods are subject to the risk that the control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or a deterioration in
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures. We have in the past and may in the future fail to maintain adequate internal controls. For example, as
reported in the Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the years ended June 30, 2015 and 2016, management of the Company determined that the Company did not
maintain an effective control environment, which contributed to three material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting. As described in more
detail in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017, under Item 9A. a€ceControls and Proceduresa€, the Company completed the
remediation efforts of such material weakness, completed testing of the controls to address such material weaknesses and concluded that the previously
reported material weaknesses in internal controls over financial reporting have been satisfactorily remediated as of 31June 30, 2017. Any such failure (including
any failure to implement new or improved controls, difficulties in the execution of such implementation or deterioration of our current control practices) may
result in an inability to prevent fraud, or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. Any such failures may cause a material adverse effect on our business
and financial results, and investor confidence and the market price of our stock may be adversely affected.Failure to comply with the FCPA and similar laws
could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences. We face significant risks if we fail to comply with the FCPA and other laws (such as the U.K.
Bribery Act of 2010) that prohibit improper payments or offers of payment to foreign governments and their officials and political parties by us and other
business entities acting on our behalf for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business, particularly as our foreign operations, such as in Taiwan, become
increasingly important to our business.In many foreign countries, particularly in countries with developing economies, which represent our principal markets, it
may be a local custom that businesses operating in such countries engage in business practices that are prohibited by the FCPA or other laws and regulations.
Although we have implemented a company policy requiring our employees and consultants to comply with the FCPA and similar laws, there can be no assurance
that all of our employees, and agents, as well as those companies to which we outsource certain of our business operations, will not take actions in violation of
our policies, for which we may be ultimately held responsible. Any violation of FCPA or similar laws could result in severe criminal or civil sanctions and
suspension or debarment from U.S. government contracting, which could have a material and adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations
and financial condition.Our results could be adversely affected by unfavorable tax law changes, an unfavorable government review of our tax returns, or changes
in our geographic earnings mix.We are subject to periodic audits or other reviews by tax authorities in the jurisdictions in which we conduct our activities. Tax
authorities could challenge our assertions with respect to how we have conducted our business operations which might result in a claim for larger tax payments
from us, including, but not limited to, income and withholding taxes and potential fines or penalties. The expense of defending and resolving such audits may be
significant. The amount of time to resolve such audits is also unpredictable and may divert managementa€™s attention from our business operations. We
regularly assess the likelihood of favorable or unfavorable outcomes resulting from these audits or other reviews to determine the adequacy of our provision for
income taxes. Although we believe our interpretation of tax laws and tax estimates are reasonable, there can be no assurance that any final determination by
taxing authorities will not be materially different from the treatment reflected in our historical income tax provisions and accruals, which could materially and
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.In the ordinary course of our business, there are many instances where the
determination of tax implications is uncertain. We record a liability for unrecognized tax benefits associated with uncertain tax positions which often involves
significant management judgment as to the interpretations of applicable tax laws in the jurisdictions in which we file. The final determination of our income tax
liabilities by taxing authorities may be materially different than what is reflected in our income tax provisions and accruals which could materially affect our tax
obligations and effective tax rate.The legislative bodies in many jurisdictions regularly consider proposed legislation that, if adopted, could affect our tax rate in
such jurisdictions, and the carrying value of our deferred tax assets or our tax liabilities. Multi-jurisdictional changes enacted in response to the guidelines
provided by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (4€ceOECD&£) to address base erosion and profit shifting (4€ceBEPSa€), and
additional amendments or guidance regarding comprehensive U.S. tax reform, among other things, may change certain U.S. tax rules impacting the way U.S.
multinationals are taxed, increase tax uncertainty and adversely impact our provision for income taxes.As a global company, we conduct operations in multiple
jurisdictions, and therefore our effective tax rate is influenced by the amounts of income and expense attributed to each such jurisdiction and the amount and
type of presence in each such jurisdiction. If such amounts were to change so as to increase the amounts of our net income subject to taxation in higher tax
jurisdictions, or if we were to increase our operations in jurisdictions assessing relatively higher tax rates, our effective tax rate could be adversely affected.
Additionally, withholding taxes vary by jurisdiction and any changes to our operations in each jurisdiction could result in greater taxation to the company. A
number of factors may affect our future effective tax rates including, but not limited to:a€¢ the interpretation of country-by-country reports and outcome of
discussions with various tax authorities regarding intercompany transfer pricing arrangements;a€¢ changes that involve Ubiquitia€™s supply chain outside of
the United States;a€¢ changes in the composition of earnings in countries or states with differing tax rates;a€¢ the resolution of issues arising from tax audits
with various tax authorities,a€¢ changes to tax laws regarding R&D tax credits;a€¢ changes in share-based compensation; and32&€¢ changes in tax law and/or
generally accepted accounting principles.From time to time the United States, foreign and state governments make substantive changes to tax laws and
regulations. For example, in 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, which made a
number of changes, including changing the taxation of certain foreign earnings and the requirement to capitalize and amortize research and development
expenditures. Further, in 2022, the U.S. government enacted the Inflation Reduction Act, which made a number of changes, including adding a 1% excise tax on
stock buybacks by publicly-traded corporations and a 15% corporate minimum tax for companies with higher than $1 billion of certain adjusted financial
statement income. As a result of the 1% excise tax, the cost to us of making repurchases will increase. Changes in tax laws and regulations and interpretations
of such laws and regulations, including taxation of earnings outside of the U.S., may materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition.33Item 1B. Unresolved Staff CommentsNone.Iltem 1C. Cybersecurity Risk Management and StrategyAs part of our overall enterprise risk
management function, we have implemented and currently maintain various information security processes designed to assess, identify, and manage material
risks from cybersecurity threats to our critical computer network, third-party hosted services, and our critical data (collectively, our &€celnformation
Systemsa€). We have engaged an outside consultant that assists our efforts to prevent threats toward our Information Systems. This consultant monitors data
feeds from certain of our key Information Systems. The consultant notifies and works with the Company to investigate and resolve any potential cybersecurity
threats identified.Internally, to help manage risk from potential cybersecurity threats, we require our employees to participate in mandatory cybersecurity
trainings provided by a third-party specialist which focuses on building awareness of common tactics by threat actors, such as phishing. This training is provided
on an annual basis.All of our offices use our own gateway consoles, which have intrusion detection features built in. Additionally, access to our key Information
Systems requires an in-office network or VPN with multi-factor authentication, and we employ additional protective measures including the use of our
proprietary identity management tool. We also use third-party tools to protect our employee laptops and self-hosted servers and have implemented a public bug
bounty program that helps to identify vulnerabilities in our products.We and certain of our vendors have experienced cyber-attacks in the past and may
experience cyber-attacks in the future. For example, as previously disclosed, we became aware in January 2021 that certain of our information technology
systems hosted by a third-party cloud provider were improperly accessed and certain of our source code and the credentials used to access the information
technology systems themselves had been compromised. We received a threat to publicly release these materials unless we made a payment, which we have not
done. As a result, it is possible that the source code and other information could be publicly disclosed or made available to our competitors. Due to the nature of
the source code and the other information that we believe was improperly accessed, we at this time do not believe that any public disclosure will have a material
adverse effect on our business or operations, but it is impossible to gauge the precise impact of any such disclosure.Except as described above, to date, risks
from cybersecurity threats have not previously materially affected us, and we currently do not expect that the risks from cybersecurity threats are reasonably
likely to materially affect us, including our business, strategy, results of operations or financial condition. For additional information about cybersecurity risks,
see Item 1A. a€ceRisk Factors.a€GovernanceRole of the BoardOur Board of Directors (the &€ceBoarda€) has the responsibility for the oversight of risk
management, including those risks related to cybersecurity. Our Board holds strategic planning sessions with senior management to discuss strategies, key
challenges, risks and opportunities for us. This involvement of our Board in setting our business strategy is a key part of its oversight of risk management, its
assessment of managementa€™ s appetite for risk, and its determination of what constitutes an appropriate level of risk for us. Our senior management attends
meetings of our Board and its committees on a quarterly basis, and as otherwise needed, and are available to address any questions or concerns raised by our
Board on risk management and any other matters.Role of ManagementOur senior management, with the oversight of the Board, is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the material risks we face, including those related to cybersecurity. We believe it is important to work cross functionally within the Company to
manage cybersecurity risks and threats. Therefore, our cybersecurity team is made up of individuals from multiple different departments throughout the
Company, including but not limited to our security, IT, R&D and legal teams. The cybersecurity team as a whole has academic degrees related to cybersecurity,
technical know-how, and real-world experience managing cybersecurity incidents and risks. Material issues identified by our cybersecurity team are brought to
the attention of our Chief Executive Officer and/or our Executive Vice President of Operations and Legal Affairs who in turn will update the Board, as necessary.
34Item 2. PropertiesOur headquarters are located in New York, NY, which we lease through September 30, 2027. In addition, we also lease office and building
space around the world and within the facilities of certain suppliers for use as research and development facilities, business development and support offices,
warehouses and logistics centers, and test facilities. The size and location of these properties change from time to time based on business requirements. For our
research and development and business development and support personnel, we have leased offices in Taiwan, Lithuania, Latvia, Poland, India, Ukraine, the
Czech Republic, the Netherlands and elsewhere, including various locations within China and the United States of America. We believe that our existing
properties are in good condition and suitable for the conduct of our business.Below are our material locations as of JuneA 30, 2024, all of which we

lease AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA A LocationSq. FtLease expirationPurposeNew York6,4009/30/2027Corporate
OfficeTaiwan328,0007/31/2027R&D and AdministrationCzech Republic64,0003/31/2029WarehouseUtah72,0006/30/2028Warehouse and
R&DUtah86,00010/31/2028WarehouseSuzhou93,0006/16/2025Manufacturing FacilityNetherlands149,0005/31/2036WarehouseMemphis
161,0008/31/2031WarehouseChicago - Schaumburg30,0007/31/2031R&D and Administrationltem 3. Legal ProceedingsInformation with respect to this item may
be found in Note 9 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included under Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.Item 4. Mine Safety
DisclosuresNot applicable.PART Illtem 5. Market for Registranta€™s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
SecuritiesCommon Stock InformationAs of AugustA 22, 2024, the number of record holders of our common stock, which is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange under the ticker symbol "UI", was 6. Because most of our shares are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to
estimate the total number of beneficial stockholders represented by these record holders.Stock Performance GraphThe following graph compares the
cumulative total stockholder return for our common stock from JulyA 1, 2019 to JuneA 30, 2024, ‘with the comparable cumulative return the NYSE Composite
Index and the S&P Computer & Retail Index. The graph assumes that $100 was invested on JulyA 1, 2019 in our common stock, the NYSE Composite Index and
the S&P Computer & Retail Index and assumes reinvestment of any dividends. The stock price performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative



of future stock price performance. This performance graph shall not be deemed &€cefileda€ for purposes of SectionA 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the d€ceExchange Acta€), or incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act,
except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.A 35COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*Among Ubiquiti Inc.,
the NYSE Composite Index and the S&P 500 Computer & Electronics Retail Index*$100 invested on JulyA 1, 2019 in stock or index, including reinvestments of
dividends. Issuer Purchases of Equity SecuritiesNone.DividendsThe following tables provides information with respect to the Companya€™s cash dividends
declared and frequency of payments during fiscal year ended JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023: Year ended June 30, 2024Q1Q2Q3Q4Dividends declared dateAugust 25,
2023November 2, 2023February 5, 2024May 7, 2024Dividends payment dateSeptember 11, 2023November 20, 2023February 26, 2024May 28, 2024Cash
dividend paid per common stock$0.60$0.60$0.60$0.60Year ended June 30, 2023Q1Q2Q3Q4Dividends declared dateAugust 26, 2022November 4, 2022]January
31, 2023May 5, 2023Dividends payment dateSeptember 13, 2022November 21, 2022February 21, 2023May 22, 2023Cash dividend paid per common
stock$0.60$0.60$0.60$0.60360n AugustA 23, 2024, the Company announced that its Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of $0.60 per share payable on
SeptemberA 9, 2024 to shareholders of record at the close of business on SeptemberA 3, 2024. The Company intends to pay regular quarterly cash dividends of
at least $0.60 per share during each remaining quarter of fiscal 2025, however any future dividends will be subject to the approval of the Companya€™s Board
of Directors. In determining whether to approve future dividends, the Companya€™s Board of Directors will take into account such matters as our financial
position and results of operations, available cash and cash flow, capital requirements, growth opportunities, applicable corporate legal requirements, and other
factors deemed relevant.Unregistered Securities Sold During fiscal 2024We did not sell any unregistered securities during fiscal 2024.Item 6. Reservedltem 7.
Managementa€™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations OverviewWe develop technology platforms for high-capacity
distributed Internet access, unified information technology, and consumer electronics for professional, home and personal use. We categorize our solutions into
three main categories: high performance networking technology for enterprises, service providers and consumers. We target the enterprise and service provider
markets through our highly engaged community of service providers, distributors, value added resellers, webstores, systems integrators and corporate IT
professionals, which we refer to as the Ubiquiti Community. We target consumers through digital marketing, including through our webstores, retail chains and,
to a lesser extent, the Ubiquiti Community.In addition to Mr. Pera, our founder, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, who is central to our
business, the majority of our human capital resources consist of entrepreneurial and de-centralized research and development (a€ceR&Da€) personnel. We do
not employ a traditional direct sales force, but instead drive brand awareness through online reviews and publications, our website, our distributors and our
user community where customers can interface directly with our R&D, marketing, and support teams. Our technology platforms were designed from the ground
up with a focus on delivering highly-advanced and easily-deployable solutions that appeal to a global customer base.We offer a broad and expanding portfolio of
networking products and solutions for operator-owners of wireless internet services (a€ceWISPsa€), enterprises and smart homes. Our operator-owner service-
provider-product platforms provide carrier-class network infrastructure for fixed wireless broadband, wireless backhaul systems and routing and the related
software for WISPs to easily control, track and bill their customers. Our enterprise product platforms provide wireless LAN (a€0eWLANA&€) infrastructure, video
surveillance products, switching and routing solutions, security gateways, door access systems, and other complimentary WLAN products along with a unique
software platform, which enables users to control their network from one simple, easy to use software interface. Our consumer products are targeted to the
smart home and highly connected consumers. We believe that our products are differentiated due to our proprietary software, firmware expertise, and hardware
design capabilities.We distribute our products through a worldwide network of over 100 distributors and online retailers and direct to customers through our
webstores.Supply Constraints and Risks a€“ We have experienced significant supply constraints in the past, especially during the COVID-19 pandemic. Our
efforts to mitigate these supply constraints have included, for example, increasing our inventory build in an attempt to secure supply and meet customer
demand, paying higher component and shipping costs to secure supply and modifying our product designs to leverage alternate suppliers. Although these
mitigation efforts are intended to optimize our access to the components required to meet customer demand for our products, we have limited visibility into
future sales, which makes it difficult to forecast our future results of operations. These mitigation efforts have caused our inventory and vendor deposit balances
to increase in the past, and they may cause such increases in the future. These mitigation efforts therefore significantly increase the risks of future material
excess, obsolete inventory and related losses. We believe that we have taken the right actions to mitigate these supply constraints; however, we recognize the
associated risks.Russia-Ukraine Military Conflict - We are monitoring the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine, escalating tensions in surrounding
countries, and associated economic sanctions. While the impact on our operations in Ukraine and its surrounding countries has not been material to our
business or results of operations as of the date hereof, the full impact of the military conflict on our business and results of operations remains uncertain. The
extent to which the conflict may impact our business or results of 37operations in future periods will depend on future developments, including the severity and
duration of the conflict, its impact on regional and global economic conditions, as well as its impact on surrounding countries, including its impact on our
operations in Ukraine and its surrounding countries, and its impact on global supply chains. Refer to 4€cePart I 4€“ Item IA. Risk Factorsa€ for a discussion of
these factors and other risks.China-Taiwan Tensions - We are monitoring the escalating tensions between China and Taiwan, and associated tensions between
the U.S. and China. While the impact on our operations in Taiwan has not been material to our business or results of operations as of the date hereof, the full
impact of the escalating tensions and potential military conflict on our business and results of operations remains uncertain. The extent to which the conflict
may impact our business or results of operations in future periods will depend on future developments, including the severity and duration of the conflict, its
impact on regional and global economic conditions, as well as its impact on China-U.S. relations, including its impact on our operations in Taiwan, and its impact
on global supply chains. Refer to a€cePart I a€“ Item IA. Risk Factorsa€ for a discussion of these factors and other risks.Key Components of Our Results of
Operations and Financial ConditionRevenuesWe operate our business as one reportable and operating segment. Further information regarding Segments can be
found in Note 13, "Segment Information, Revenues by Geography and Significant Customers," to our Consolidated Financial Statements. Our revenues are
derived principally from the sale of networking hardware. Because we have historically included implied post-contract customer support (3€ePCSéa€) free of
charge in many of our arrangements, we attribute a portion of our systems revenues to this implied PCS.We classify our revenues into two primary product
categories: Enterprise Technology and Service Provider Technology.a€¢Enterprise Technology includes our UniFi platforms, including UniFi Cloud Gateways,
UniFi WiFi, UniFi Switches, UniFi Protect, UniFi Access, UniFi Talk, UniFi Connect and our AmpliFi platform.a€¢Service Provider Technology includes our
airMAX, UISP, EdgeMAX, UFiber, Wave, GPON and airFiber platforms, as well as embedded radio products and other 802.11 standard products including base
stations, radios, backhaul equipment and CPE.We sell our products and solutions globally to enterprises and service providers primarily through our extensive
network of distributors, and, to a lesser extent, through sales through our webstores. Sales to distributors accounted for 62% and 64% of our revenues during
the years ended JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Webstore sales accounted for 38% and 36% of our revenues during the years ended JuneA 30, 2024 and
2023, respectively.Cost of RevenuesOur cost of revenues is comprised primarily of the costs of procuring finished goods from our contract manufacturers and
certain key components that we consign to certain of our contract manufacturers. In addition, cost of revenues includes labor and other costs which include
salary, benefits and share-based compensation, in addition to costs associated with tooling, testing and quality assurance, warranty costs, logistics costs, tariffs
and excess and obsolete inventory write-downs.We currently operate warehouses located in the U.S., Europe and Asia Pacific. In addition, we outsource other
logistics warehousing and order fulfillment functions located in Vietnam and to a lesser extent in other countries. We also evaluate and utilize other vendors for
various portions of our supply chain from time to time. Our operations organization consists of employees and consultants engaged in the management of our
contract manufacturers, new product introduction activities, logistical support and engineering.Gross ProfitOur gross profit has been, and may in the future be,
influenced by several factors including changes in product mix, target end markets for our products, channel inventory levels, tariffs, pricing due to competitive
pressure, production costs and global demand for electronic components. Although we procure and sell our products mostly in U.S. dollars, our contract
manufacturers incur many costs, including labor costs, in other currencies. To the extent that the exchange rates move unfavorably for our contract
manufacturers, they may try to pass these additional costs on to us, which could have a material impact on our future average selling prices and unit costs. In
June 2018, the Office of the United States Trade Representative announced new proposed tariffs for certain products imported into the U.S. from China. The
vast majority of our products that are imported into the U.S. from China are currently subject to tariffs that range between 7.5% and 25%. These tariffs have
affected our operating results and margins. For so 38long as such tariffs are in effect, we expect it will continue to affect our operating results and margins. As a
result, our historical and current gross profit margins may not be indicative of our gross profit margins for future periods. Refer to a€cePart I a€” Item 1A. Risk
Factors a€” Risks Related to Our International Operations a€” Our business may be negatively affected by political events and foreign policy responsesa€ for
additional information.Operating ExpensesWe classify our operating expenses as research and development and sales, general and administrative

expenses.A A 4€¢Research and development expenses consist primarily of salary and benefit expenses, including share-based compensation, for employees and
costs for contractors engaged in research, design and development activities, as well as costs for prototypes, licensed or purchased intellectual property,
facilities and travel. Over time, we expect our research and development costs to increase as we continue making significant investments in developing new
products in addition to new versions of our existing products.a€¢Sales, general and administrative expenses include salary and benefit expenses, including
share-based compensation, for employees and costs for contractors engaged in sales, marketing and general and administrative activities, as well as the costs
associated with credit card processing fees, legal expenses, trade shows, marketing programs, promotional materials, bad debt expense, professional services,
facilities, general liability insurance and travel. As our product portfolio and targeted markets expand, we may need to employ different sales models, such as
building a traditional direct sales force. These sales models would likely increase our costs. Over time, we expect our sales, general and administrative expenses
to increase in absolute dollars due to continued growth in headcount, expansion of our efforts to register and defend trademarks and patents and to support our
business and operations.Provisions for Income TaxesWe use the asset and liability method to account for income taxes.A Significant management judgment is
required in determining theA provisionA forA incomeA taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded against net deferred tax
assets. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, we are required to estimate income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. We must
assess potential exposures and, where necessary, provide a reserve to cover any expected loss. To the extent that we establish a reserve, the provision for
income taxes would be increased. If we ultimately determine that payment of these amounts is unnecessary, we reverse the liability and recognize a tax benefit
during the period in which we determine that the liability is no longer necessary. We record an additional charge in our provision for taxes in the period in which
we determine that tax liability is greater than our original estimate. We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits on the income tax
expense line in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income. Refer to a€cePart [ 4€”Item 1A. Risk Factors a€” Risks
Related to Regulatory, Legal and Tax Matters a€” Changes in applicable tax regulations could negatively affect our financial resultsa€ for additional
information.Critical Accounting Policies and EstimatesWe prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (4€0eGAAPA€). In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP and
does not require managementa€™s judgment in its application. In other cases, managementa€™s judgment is required in selecting among available alternative
accounting standards that provide for different accounting treatment for similar transactions. The preparation of consolidated financial statements also requires



us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts we report as assets, liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses and affect the related disclosures.
We base our estimates on historical experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. In many instances, we could
reasonably use different accounting estimates, and in some instances changes in the accounting estimates are reasonably likely to occur from period to period.
Accordingly, our actual results could differ significantly from the estimates made by our management. To the extent that there are differences between our
estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows will be affected. As events
continue to evolve our estimates may change materially in future periods. We believe that the accounting policies discussed below are critical to understanding
our historical and future performance, as these policies relate to the more significant areas involving managementa€™s judgments and estimates.Recognition of
RevenuesRevenue consists of revenue from sales of hardware and the related essential software (&€ceProductsa€) as well as related implied PCS. We recognize
revenue when obligations under the terms of a contract with our customers are satisfied, generally, upon transfer of control of promised goods or services to
customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to receive in exchange for those goods or services. We apply the following five-
step revenue recognition model:39a€ ¢Identification of the contract, or contracts with a customera€¢Identification of the performance obligations in the
contracta€¢Determination of the transaction pricea€¢Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracta€¢Recognition of
revenue when, or as, we satisfy the performance obligationTransfer of control to the customer for products generally occurs at the point in time when products
have been shipped to our customer as this represents the point in time when the customer has a present obligation to pay and physical possession including title
and risk of loss have been transferred to the customer. Revenue for PCS is recognized ratably over time over the estimated period for which implied PCS
services will be delivered.PCS is the right to receive, on a when-and-if available basis, future unspecified software upgrades and features relating to the
producta€™s essential software as well as technical support and bug fixes.We account for a contract with a customer when there is an approval and
commitment from both parties, the rights of the parties are identified, payment terms are identified, the contract has commercial substance and collectability of
the consideration is probable. Our distinct performance obligations consist mainly of transferring control of our products identified in the contracts, purchase
orders or invoices and implied PCS services.Our contracts with the majority of our distribution customers do not include provisions for cancellations, returns,
inventory swaps, or refunds that materially impact recognized revenue. Internet or Web based sales include regulatory provisions which allow customers to
return the goods, generally within 30 days. We record a provision for returns related to this variable consideration based upon its historical returns experience
with these customers.We record amounts billed for shipping and handling costs as revenues. We classify shipping and handling costs incurred by us as cost of
revenue. Deposits payments received from distributors in advance of recognition of revenues are included in current liabilities of our balance sheet and are
recognized as revenues when all the criteria for recognition of revenues are met.Transaction price and allocation to performance obligationsTransaction prices
are typically based on contracted rates. Although payment terms vary, payment is generally due from distribution customers within 60 days of the invoice date
and the contracts do not have significant financing components or include extended payment terms. We are directly responsible for fulfilling the performance
obligations in contracts with customers and do not rely on another party to fulfill our promise. We use observable list prices to determine the stand-alone selling
price of our performance obligation related to our products, and we utilize a cost-plus margin approach to estimate the stand-alone selling price of our implied
PCS obligation. When our contracts contain multiple performance obligations, we allocate the transaction price based on the estimated standalone selling prices
of the promised products or services underlying each performance obligation.The expected costs associated with our base warranties continue to be recognized
as an expense when the products are sold and is not considered a separate performance obligation.Costs for research and development and sales and marketing
are expensed as incurred. If the estimated life of the hardware product should change, the future rate of amortization of the revenues allocated to PCS could
also change.Key factors considered by the Company in developing the estimated cost in the cost plus margin approach for PCS include reviewing the activities of
specific employees engaged in support and software enhancements to determine the amount of time that is allocated to the development of the undelivered
elements, determining the cost of the development effort, and then adding an appropriate level of gross profit to these costs. Inventory and Inventory
ValuationOur inventories are comprised of finished goods and raw materials. Inventories are stated at the lower of actual cost, computed using the first-in, first-
out method, or net realizable value (NRV). NRV is based upon an estimated average selling price reduced by the estimated costs of disposal. The determination
of NRV involves numerous judgments including estimating average selling prices based upon recent sales. Should actual market conditions differ from our
estimates, future results of operations could be materially affected. We reduce the value of our inventory for estimated obsolescence or lack of marketability by
the difference between the cost of the affected inventory and the NRV. Write-downs are not reversed until the related inventory has been subsequently sold or
scrapped.40The valuation of inventory also requires us to estimate excess and obsolete inventory. The determination of excess or obsolete inventory is estimated
based on a comparison of the quantity and cost of inventory on hand to our forecast of customer demand which is dependent on various factors and requires us
to use judgment in forecasting future demand for its products. We also consider the rate at which new products will be accepted in the marketplace and how
quickly customers will transition from older products to newer products. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by us, additional
inventory write-downs may be required, which would have a negative impact on our gross margin. If we ultimately sell inventory that has been previously
written down, our gross margins in future periods would be positively impacted.We capitalize manufacturing overhead expenditures as part of inventory costs.
Capitalized costs primarily include managementa€™ s best estimate of the indirect labor, tariffs, shipping and logistics costs incurred related to inventory
acquired or produced but not sold during the respective period. Manufacturing overhead costs are capitalized to inventory and are recognized as cost of
revenues in future periods based on when the inventory is sold or written-down.Income TaxesWe account for income taxes by recognizing deferred tax assets
and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in our financial statements or tax returns. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. We establish valuation allowances when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount
we expect to realize. The assessment of whether or not a valuation allowance is required often requires significant judgment including current operating results,
the forecast of future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning initiatives.In addition, our calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing
with uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws. We may be subject to income tax audits in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate and, as a
result, must also assess exposures to any potential issues arising from current or future audits of current and prior yearsa€™ tax returns. Accordingly, we must
assess such potential exposures and, where necessary, provide a reserve to cover any expected loss. We recognize tax benefits from uncertain tax positions only
if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax
benefits recognized in the financial statements from such positions are then measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of
being realized upon ultimate settlement.The calculation of tax liabilities involves significant judgment in estimating the impact of uncertainties in the application
of GAAP and complex tax laws. Resolution of these uncertainties in a manner inconsistent with managementa€™s expectations could have a material impact on
our financial condition and operating results. We reflect changes in recognition or measurement in the period in which our change in judgment occurs.We
recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits on the income tax expense line in the consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive income. Accrued interest and penalties are included on the related tax liability line in the consolidated balance sheet.41Results of
OperationsComparison of Years Ended JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023A Year ended June 30,A 20242023A (In thousands,

excepfA percentages)Revenues$1 928,490A 100A %$1,940,512A 100A %Cost of revenues (1)1,188,728A 62A %1,179,781A 61A %Gross

profit739, 762A 38A %760,73 1A 39A %Operating expenses: Research and development (1)159, 768A 8A %145,172A 7A %Sales, general and administrative
(1)80,997A 4A %70,993A 4A %Total operating expenses240,765A 12A %216,165A 11A %Income from operations498,997A 26A %544,566A 28A %Interest
expense and other, net75,169A 4A %58,224A 3A %Income before income taxes423,828A 22A %486,342A 25A %Provision for income

taxes73,868A 4A %78,701A 4A %Net income$349,960A 18A %$407 641A 21A %(1)A A A A Includes share-based compensation as followsCost of
revenues$159A $73A Research and development4, 831A 3,541A Sales, general and administrativel,368A 1,120A Total share-based .
compensation$6,358A $4,734A RevenuesTotal revenues decreased $12.0A million, or 0.6%, from $1,940.5A million in fiscal 2023 to $1,928.5A million in fiscal
2024. The decrease in revenue was driven by a decrease in revenue from both our Enterprise Technology platform and our Service Provider Technology
platform. During fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, we experienced an increase in direct sales through our webstores compared to fiscal 2023 and a
corresponding decline in sales through distributors.Revenues by Product TypeA Year ended June 30,20242023(in thousands, except percentages)Enterprise
Technology$1,617,665A 84A %$1,621,426A 84A %Service Provider Technology310,825A 16A %319,086A 16A %Total .

revenues$1,928,490A 100A %$1,940,512A 100A %Enterprise Technology revenues decreased $3.8A million, or 0.2%, from $1,621.4A million in fiscal 2023 to
$1,617.7A million in fiscal 2024, primarily due to decline in revenue from our Enterprise Technology platform in the Europe, the Middle East, and Africa
(@€eEMEAA4€) and Asia Pacific regions.Service Provider Technology revenues decreased $8.3A million, or 2.6%, from $319.1A million in fiscal 2023 to

$310.8A million in fiscal 2024, primarily due to decline in revenue in our Service Provider Technology platform in South America and Asia Pacific
regions.Revenues by GeographyWe have determined the geographical distribution of our product revenues based on our customersa€™ ship-to destinations. A
majority of our sales are to distributors who either sell to resellers or directly to end customers, who may be located in different countries than the initial ship-to
destination. The following are our revenues by geography for fiscal 2024 and fiscal 2023:42A Year ended June 30,A 20242023(in thousands, except
percentages)North America (1)$946,428A 49%$922,230A 48%Europe, the Middle East and Africa740,113A 38%759,405A 39%Asia

Pacific127,901A 7%148,502A 8%South Americall4,048A 6%110,375A 5%Total revenues$1,928,490A 100%$1,940,512A 100%A (1) Revenue for the United
States was $881.0 and $855.3 in fiscal 2024 and fiscal 2023, respectively.North AmericaRevenues in North America increased $24.2 million, or 2.6%, from
$922.2A million in fiscal 2023 to $946.4 million in fiscal 2024. The year-over-year increase was due to increased revenue from both our Enterprise Technology
products and Service Provider Technology products.Europe, the Middle East, and Africa (4€ccEMEA&€)Revenues in EMEA decreased $19.3 million, or 2.5%,
from $759.4 million in fiscal 2023 to $740.1 million in fiscal 2024. The year-over-year decrease was due to a decline in revenues from our Enterprise Technology
products, partially offset by an increase in revenue from our Service Provider Technology products.Asia PacificRevenues in the Asia Pacific region decreased
$20.6 million, or 13.9%, from $148.5 million in fiscal 2023 to $127.9 million in fiscal 2024. The year-over-year decrease was due to a decline in revenues from
both our Enterprise Technology products and Service Provider Technology products.South AmericaRevenues in South America increased $3.7 million, or 3.3%,
from $110.4 million in fiscal 2023 to $114.0 million in fiscal 2024. The year-over-year increase was due to increased revenues from Enterprise Technology
products, partially offset by decreased revenue from Service Provider Technology products.Gross Profit MarginGross profit margin decreased to 38.4% in fiscal
2024 from 39.2% in fiscal 2023. The decline in gross profit margin for fiscal 2024 as compared to fiscal 2023 was primarily driven by incremental excess and
obsolete inventory charges and warehouse-related operating expenses, partially offset by lower shipping costs and lower tariffs.Operating ExpensesResearch
and DevelopmentR&D expenses increased $14.6 million, or 10.1%, from $145.2 million in fiscal 2023 to $159.8 million in fiscal 2024. As a percentage of
revenues, R&D expenses increased from 7% in fiscal 2023 to 8% in fiscal 2024. The increase in R&D expense for fiscal 2024 versus fiscal 2023 was primarily



driven by higher prototype-related expenses and employee-related expenses.Sales, General and AdministrativeSales, general and administrative (a€ceSG&Aa€)
expenses increased $10.0 million, or 14.1%, from $71.0 million in fiscal 2023 to $81.0 million in fiscal 2024. As a percentage of revenues, SG&A expenses
remained consistent at 4% for both fiscal 2023 and 2024. The increase in fiscal 2024 SG&A expenses as compared to fiscal 2023 was primarily driven by higher
fees associated with webstore credit card processing, marketing expenses, employee-related expenses and professional fees.43Interest Expense and Other,
netInterest expense and other, net ("1&0") expenses increased $16.9 million, or 29.1%, from $58.2 million in fiscal 2023 to $75.2 million in fiscal 2024. As a
percentage of Revenue, 1&O expense increased from 3% in fiscal 2023 to 4% in fiscal 2024. The increase in I&O expense for fiscal 2024 as compared to fiscal
2023 was primarily driven by higher interest expense due to increased levels of average debt outstanding and higher interest rates.Provision for Income
TaxesOur provision for income taxes decreased 6.1% from $78.7 million for fiscal 2023 to $73.9 million for fiscal 2024. Our effective tax rate increased to 17.4%
in fiscal 2024 as compared to 16.2% for fiscal 2023. The change in effective tax rates for fiscal 2024 as compared to fiscal 2023 was primarily driven by changes
in the mix of income earned in various tax jurisdictions.During 2021 the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) announced an
agreed-upon framework for its members to implement a global minimum corporate tax of 15% for multinational enterprises, commonly referred to as Pillar Two.
Many countries have already proposed or enacted legislation to implement elements of the framework which will apply to Ubiquiti beginning in fiscal year 2025.
While we are monitoring developments and evaluating the potential impact on future periods, we do not expect Pillar Two to have a significant impact on our
fiscal year 2025 financial results. As additional jurisdictions enact Pillar Two legislation, transactional rules lapse, and other provisions of the minimum tax
legislation become effective in our fiscal year 2026, we anticipate that our effective tax rate and cash tax payments may increase in future years.Comparison of
Year Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022Pursuant to Regulation S-K item 303, a detailed review of our fiscal 2023 performance compared to our fiscal 2022
performance is incorporated by reference from Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended JuneA 30, 2023 under the caption
a€ceManagementa€™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operationsa€, filed with the SEC on AugustA 25, 2023.Liquidity and Capital
ResourcesSources and Uses of CashOur principal sources of liquidity are cash and cash equivalents, cash generated by operations and the availability of
additional funds under the Facilities (as defined herein). We had cash and cash equivalents of $126.3 million and $114.8 million at JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.Consolidated Cash Flow DataThe following table sets forth the major components of our consolidated statements of cash flows data for the periods
presented (in thousands):A Year ended June 30,A 20242023Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities$541,516A $(145,428)Net cash used in investing
activities(l1,975)(2(},934)Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities(518,025)144,964A Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash

equivalents$11,516A $(21,398)Cash Flows from Operating ActivitiesFor fiscal 2024 the net cash provided by operating activities was $541.5 million, primarily
due to net income of $350.0 million, and the benefit of decreasing inventories by $250.7 million and non-cash adjustments of $59.5 million. These cash inflows
were partially offset by other changes in operating assets and liabilities that resulted in net cash outflows of $118.6 million. This net change in operating assets
and liabilities consisted primarily of a $70.5 million decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, a $17.1 million decrease in income taxes payable, a
$18.3 million increase in vendor deposits, a $17.6 million increase in prepaid expenses and other assets partially offset by a $6.6 million increase in deferred
revenues.44For fiscal 2023 the net cash used in operating activities was $145.4 million, primarily due to a significant increase in inventory and to a lesser
extent, increases in vendor deposits and accounts receivable. The key uses of cash resulting in the net cash outflow from operations was a $487.9 million
increase in inventory, a $39.5 million increase in vendor deposits and a $48.2 million increase in accounts receivable, partially offset by $407.6 million of net
income. The increase in inventories is a result of the strategic decision to secure inventory while components were available in an effort to increase product
availability. The increase in account receivable is a result of higher sales.Cash Flows from Investing ActivitiesWe used $12.0 million of cash in investing
activities during fiscal 2024. Our investing activities consisted primarily of $12.0 million of capital expenditures.We used $20.9 million of cash in investing
activities during fiscal 2023. Our investing activities consisted primarily of $20.9 million of capital expenditures and purchase of intangible assets.Cash Flows
from Financing ActivitiesWe had cash outflows of $518.0 million from financing activities during fiscal 2024, which primarily consisted of repayments of debt
and payment of common stock dividends. During fiscal 2024, we repaid $215.0 million on our Revolving Facility, $157.5 million on our Term Loan Facilities, and
paid $145.1 million for dividends on our common stock. See NoteA 7A a4€“ Debt of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part IV, Item
15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding the Facilities.We had cash inflows of $145.0 million from financing activities during
fiscal 2023. During fiscal 2023, in order to support the increase in inventories, we borrowed a net of $291.9 million under our facilities. We also paid $145.0
million for dividends on our common stock and debt issuance costs of $1.2 million. During fiscal 2023 we increased the size of our facility to include an
additional $250.0 million term loan. The proceeds from this new term loan were used to repay a portion of the outstanding revolver loans under the revolving
facility. See NoteA 7A &€“ Debt of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for
additional information regarding the Facilities.LiquidityWe believe our existing cash and cash equivalents, in addition to the ability to draw cash under the
Revolving Facility, if needed, will be sufficient to meet our near-term working capital requirements, dividends, and capital expenditure needs for the next twelve
months, as well as long-term liquidity requirements in the event that the cash from operations is not adequate to meet our cash needs. However, this estimate is
based on a number of assumptions that may prove to be wrong and we could exhaust our available cash and cash equivalents earlier than presently anticipated
or need to rely more heavily on the Facilities or other sources of liquidity to continue to meet our needs. Our future capital requirements may vary materially
from those currently planned and will depend on many factors, including our rate of revenue growth, the timing and extent of spending to support development
efforts, the timing of new product introductions, market acceptance of our products, management of inventory and vendor deposits, the availability of additional
funds under the Facilities and overall economic conditions. Inflation and the current geopolitical environment have caused and may continue to cause significant
volatility in financial markets and the domestic and global economy. This volatility can contribute to potential payment delays or defaults in our accounts
receivable, affect asset valuations resulting in impairment charges, and affect the availability of financing credit as well as other segments of the credit markets.
See a€cePart I-Item 1A. Risk Factors a€“ Risks Related to Our Business and Industry - Our contract manufacturers, logistics centers and certain administrative
and research and development operations, as well as our customers and suppliers, are located in areas likely to be subject to natural disasters, public health
problems, military conflicts and geopolitical tensions, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial conditiona€ and a€cePart I-
Item 1A. Risk Factors a€“ Risks Related to Our Business and Industry - General global economic downturns and macroeconomic trends, including inflation or
slowed economic growth, may negatively affect our customers and their ability to purchase our products. A downturn or such other trends may decrease our
revenues and increase our costs and may increase credit risk with our customers and impact our ability to collect account receivable and recognize revenue," for
additional information. We expect to continue to maintain financing flexibility in the current market conditions. However, due to the rapidly evolving global
situation, it is not possible to predict whether unanticipated consequences of global economic downturns and macroeconomic trends are reasonably likely to
materially affect our liquidity and capital resources in the future.Warranties and IndemnificationsOur products are generally accompanied by a twelve to twenty-
four month warranty from date of purchase, which covers both parts 45and labor. Generally, the distributor is responsible for the freight costs associated with
warranty returns, and we absorb the freight costs of replacing items under warranty. In accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Boarda€™s
("FASB's"), Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC"), 450-20, Loss Contingencies, we record an accrual when we believe it is reasonably estimable and
probable based upon historical experience. We record a provision for estimated future warranty work in cost of goods sold upon recognition of revenues, and we
review the resulting accrual regularly and periodically adjust it to reflect changes in warranty estimates.We have entered and may in the future enter into
standard indemnification agreements with certain distributors as well as other business partners in the ordinary course of business. These agreements may
include provisions for indemnifying the distributor, OEM or other business partner against any claim brought by a third-party to the extent any such claim
alleges that a Ubiquiti product infringes a patent, copyright or trademark or violates any other proprietary rights of that third-party. The maximum amount of
potential future indemnification is unlimited. The maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification
agreements is not estimable.We have agreed to indemnify our directors, officers and certain other employees for certain events or occurrences, subject to
certain limits, while such persons are or were serving at our request in such capacity. We may terminate the indemnification agreements with these persons
upon the termination of their services with us, but termination will not affect claims for indemnification related to events occurring prior to the effective date of
termination. The maximum amount of potential future indemnification is unlimited. We have a Directors and Officers insurance policy that limits our potential
exposure for our indemnification obligations to our directors, officers and certain other employees. We believe the fair value of these indemnification
agreements is minimal. We have not recorded any liabilities for these agreements as of JuneA 30, 2024 or 2023.Based upon our historical experience and
information known as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we do not believe it is likely that we will have material liability for the above indemnities
as of JuneA 30, 2024. Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet ArrangementsOur contractual obligations represent material expected or contractually
committed future payment obligations. We believe that we will be able to fund these obligations through our existing cash and cash equivalents, cash generated
from operations and the availability of additional funds under the Facilities.Purchase ObligationsWe subcontract with third parties to manufacture our products
and supply key components. As of JuneA 30, 2024 we had $981.7 million of purchase commitments with these third parties. If we cancel all or part of the orders,
we may still be liable to the contract manufacturers for the cost of the components purchased by the subcontractors to manufacture our products. There have
been no significant liabilities for current or anticipated cancellations recorded as of JuneA 30, 2024. Our consolidated financial position and results of operations
could be negatively impacted if we were required to compensate these third parties. In addition, we may be subject to additional purchase obligations to our
contract manufacturers for supply agreements and components ordered by them based on manufacturing forecasts we provide them each month. See

NoteA 9A 4€“ Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Part IV, Item 15, of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for future payment commitments under purchase commitments as of JuneA 30, 2024.Transition TaxWe have obligations of $50.6 million as of

JuneA 30, 2024, related to the mandatory transition tax on accumulated foreign earnings from the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. Payment of these obligations are
expected to be $22.5 million for fiscal 2025 and $28.1 million for fiscal 2026. These obligations are included within Income tax payable and Long-term taxes
payable on our consolidated balance sheets.Other ObligationsAs of JuneA 30, 2024, we have other obligations of $6.1 million which consisted primarily of
commitments related to research and development projects.Unrecognized Tax BenefitsAs of JuneA 30, 2024, we had $33.0 million of unrecognized tax benefits
and an additional $4.8 million of accrued interest classified as non-current liabilities. At this time, we are unable to make a reasonably reliable estimate of timing
of payments in individual years in connection with these tax liabilities.46Recent Accounting PronouncementsFor a discussion of recent accounting
pronouncements, refer to Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.ItemA 7A.A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market RiskInterest Rate
SensitivityWe had cash and cash equivalents of $126.3 million and $114.8 million as of JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023. Cash and cash equivalents includes securities
that have a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase. These amounts were held primarily in cash deposit accounts in U.S. dollars. The fair value
of our cash and cash equivalents would not be significantly affected by either a 10% increase or decrease in interest rates due mainly to the short-term nature of
these instruments.DebtWe are exposed to interest rates risks primarily through borrowing under our credit facility. Interest on our borrowings is based on
variable rates. Based on a sensitivity analysis, as of JuneA 30, 2024, an instantaneous and sustained 200-basis-point increase in interest rates affecting our



floating rate debt obligations, and assuming that we take no counteractive measures, would result in an incremental charge to our income before income taxes
of approximately $14.2 million over the next twelve months.Foreign Currency RiskCertain of our sales, labor and other costs included in costs of revenue and
operating expenses are denominated in the currencies of the countries in which our operations are located and may be subject to fluctuations due to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the Chinese Yuan, Euro, and Taiwan Dollar. A 10% appreciation or depreciation in the value of the U.S.
dollar relative to the other currencies in which our revenue and expenses are denominated would result in a charge or benefit to our income before income taxes
of approximately $1.9 million for fiscal year JuneA 30, 2024.We have certain bank accounts outside the US, which are denominated in the currencies of the
countries in which our operations are located, and may be subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates , particularly changes in the
Chinese Yuan, Euro, and Taiwan Dollar. A 10% appreciation or depreciation in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to the other currencies in which bank
accounts as at June 30,2024 are denominated would result in a charge or benefit to our income before income taxes of approximately $ 4.7 million for fiscal year
June 30, 2024.Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary DataThe response to this Item is submitted as a separate section of this Form 10-K. See

ItemA 15.Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial DisclosureNone.ItemA 9A. Controls and ProceduresEvaluation of
Disclosure Controls and ProceduresManagement, with the participation of the Companya€™s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting and Finance Officer,
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of JuneA 30, 2024. The term a€cedisclosure controls and procedures,a€ as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 4€ceExchange Acta€), means controls and other procedures of a
company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SECa€™s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include,
without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits
under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the companya€™s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers,
as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of
JuneA 30, 2024, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting and Finance Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective.47Managementa€ ™ s Report on Internal Control over Financial ReportingOur management is responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). A companya€™s internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting and Finance Officer, and effected by
such companya€™s board of directors, management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and
procedures thatAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA (i)pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;(ii)provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and(iii)provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the companya€™ s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting and
Finance Officer, has conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of JuneA 30, 2024, based on the framework
set forth in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on
this assessment, management has concluded that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of JuneA 30, 2024.The
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of JuneA 30, 2024 has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting
firm, as stated in their report which appears herein.Changes in Internal Control Over Financial ReportingThere were no changes in the Companya€™s internal
control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended JuneA 30, 2024, that materially affected, or that are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.Item 9B. Other InformationNone.Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent
Inspections Not applicable.PART IIlltem 10. Directors and Executive Officers and Corporate GovernanceThe information required by this ItemA 10 is
incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within
120 days of our JuneA 30, 2024 fiscal year end) under the headings "Executive Officers," "Proposal One Election of Directors &€“ Information Regarding
Nominees,a€ "Proposal One Election of Directors - Information Regarding Continuing Directors," and 4€ceCorporate Governance.a€ltem 11. Executive
CompensationThe information required by this ItemA 11 is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to
be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of our JuneA 30, 2024 fiscal year end) under the headings 4€ceExecutive
Compensationa€, a€ceProposal One Election of Directors &€ Directorsa€™ Compensationa€ and &€ceCorporate 48Governance 4€“ Compensation Committee
Interlocks and Insider Participation.&€Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder MattersThe
information required by this ItemA 12 with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated by reference to our Proxy
Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of our JuneA 30, 2024 fiscal
year end) under the headings &€eSecurity Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management Related Stockholder Matters,a€ and "Equity
Compensation Plan Information."Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director IndependenceThe information required by this ItemA 13
is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
within 120 days of our JuneA 30, 2024 fiscal year end) under the headings &€ceCertain Relationships and Related Party Transactionsa€ and &€ceCorporate
Governancea€”Committees of the Board of Directors.a€Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and ServicesThe information required by this ItemA 14 is
incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within
120 days of our JuneA 30, 2024 fiscal year end) under the headings 4€ceProposal Two Ratification of the Appointment of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firmé&€”Audit and Non-Audit Feesa€ and 4€ceAudit Committee Pre-Approval Policies.&€49PART IV Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement
Schedules(a) A A A A 1. Financial StatementsThe financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are identified in the Index to
Consolidated Financial Statements on page 54 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.2. Financial Statement SchedulesSee ItemA 15(c) below.3. Exhibits See
ItemA 15(b) below.(b) ExhibitsThe following exhibits are filed herewith or are incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Ubiquiti Inc. (the 4€ceRegistranta€) shall furnish copies of exhibits for a reasonable fee (covering the expense of furnishing copies) upon
request.ExhibitNumberDescriptionIncorporatedA by Reference from FormIncorporatedA byReference fromExhibit NumberDate FiledFiledHerewith3.1Third
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Ubiquiti Inc., as amended10-KAugust 21, 20193.2Amended and Restated Bylaws, as amended, as of
December 17, 20208-K3.1December 18, 20204.1Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Ubiquiti Networks, Inc.S-14.10ctober 3, 20114.2Registration
Agreement, dated March 2, 2010, between Ubiquiti Networks, Inc. and certain holders of Ubiquiti Networks, Inc.a€™ s capital stock named therein.S-14.2June
17, 20114.3Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of March 2, 2010, between Ubiquiti Networks, Inc. and certain holders of Ubiquiti Networks, Inc.4€™s capital
stock named therein.S-14.3June 17, 20114.4Descriptions of the Companya€™s SecuritiesX10.1Form of Indemnification Agreement between Ubiquiti Networks,
Inc. and its directors and officers.S-110.10ctober 3, 201110.2#Amended and Restated 2010 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of agreement thereunder.S-
110.2June 17, 201110.3#Ubiquiti Inc. 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan8-K10.1December 11, 202010.4#Employment Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2016,
between Ubiquiti Networks, Inc. and Kevin Radigan.10-K10.6August 22, 201610.5]Jinyong Ji Investment Taiwan Lease, dated as of March 16, 2010, between
Ubiquiti Networks, Inc. and Jinyong Ji Investment Co., Ltd.S-110.1June 17, 201110.6Taiwan Lease, dated as of July 20, 2011, between Jin Yeoung Ji Co., Ltd. and
Ubiquiti Networks International Limited, Taiwan Branch.10-Q10.15November 14, 20115010.7Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of March
30, 2021, by and among Ubiquiti Inc. as borrower, certain domestic subsidiaries of the borrower, as guarantors, the lenders and other financial institutions
party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent.8-K10.1April 5, 202110.8First Amendment to Third Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement, dated as of April 3, 2023, by and among Ubiquiti Inc., as borrower, certain domestic subsidiaries of the borrower, as guarantors, the lenders
and other financial institutions party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative and collateral agent.8-K10.1April 7, 202319Insider
Trading PolicyX21.1List of subsidiaries of Ubiquiti Inc.X23.1Consent of independent registered public accounting firmX31.1Certification of Principal Executive
Officer Required Under RuleA 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.X31.2Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Required Under RuleA 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.X32.1Certification of Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer Required Under RuleA 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and 18 U.S.C. A§13504X97Ubiquiti Inc.
Incentive Compensation Clawback PolicyX101.INSInline XBRL Instance DocumentX101.SCHInline XBRL Taxonomy Schema Linkbase DocumentX101.CALInline
XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase DocumentX101.DEFInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase DocumentX101.LABInline XBRL Taxonomy
Labels Linkbase DocumentX101.PREInline XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase DocumentX104Cover Page Interactive Date File - (formatted as Inline XBRL
and contained in Exhibit 101)#Management contracts or compensation plans or arrangements in which directors or executive officers are eligible to
participate.51~In accordance with ItemA 601 (b)(32)(ii) of Regulation S-K and SEC Release No.A 33-8238 and 34-47986, Final Rule: Managementa€™s Reports
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Certification of Disclosure in Exchange Act Periodic Reports, the certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 hereto
are deemed to accompany this Form 10-K and will not be deemed a€cefileda€ for purposes of SectionA 18 of the Exchange Act. Such certifications will not be
deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the registrant specifically
incorporates it by reference.(c) Financial Statement Schedules.Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not applicable or required, or the
information required to be set forth therein is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.ltem 16. Form 10-K SummaryNot
applicable.52SIGNATURESPursuant to the requirements of SectionA 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. A A Ubiquiti Inc.Dated: August 23, 2024A By: A /s/ Robert J. PeraA A Robert J.
PeraA A Chief Executive OfficerA and Director(Principal Executive Officer)Dated:August 23, 2024A By:A /s/ Kevin RadiganA A Kevin RadiganA A Chief
Accounting and Finance Officer(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates

indicated.A SignatureTitleA Date/s/ Robert J. PeraRobert J. PeraChief Executive Officer and Director(Principal Executive Offlcer)A August 23, 2024/s/ A Kevin
RadiganKevin RadiganChief Accounting and Finance Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)A August 23, 2024/s/A A Ronald A.
SegeRonald A. SegeDirectorA August 23, 2024/s/ Rafael TorresRafael TorresDirectorA August 23, 2024/s/ A Brandon ArrindellBrandon ArrindellDirectorAugust



23, 202453UBIQUITI INC.INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSA A PageReport of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB
ID 185)55Consolidated Balance Sheets57Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income58Consolidated Statements of Stockholdersa€™
Equity (Deficit)59Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows60Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements6154Report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting FirmTo the Stockholders and Board of DirectorsUbiquiti Inc.:Opinions on the Consolidated Financial Statements and Internal Control Over Financial
ReportingWe have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Ubiquiti Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023,
the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, stockholdersa€™ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-
year period ended June 30, 2024, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). We also have audited the Companya€™s internal
control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control a€“ Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended June 30, 2024, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control a€“ Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.Basis for OpinionsThe Companya€™ s management is
responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companya€™s consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Companya€™s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.Our audit of
the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.Definition and Limitations
of Internal Control Over Financial ReportingA companya€™s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A companya€™s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and 55procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the companya€™s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.Critical Audit MatterThe critical audit matter communicated below
is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit
committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements,
taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts
or disclosures to which it relates.Valuation of excess or obsolete inventoryAs discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Companya€™s
inventories are stated at the lower of actual cost, computed using the first-in, first-out method, and net realizable value (NRV). The Company reduces the value
of its inventory for estimated obsolescence or lack of marketability by the difference between the cost of the affected inventory and the NRV. The Companya€™s
determination of the valuation of excess or obsolete inventory is based on a comparison of the quantity and cost of inventory on hand to anticipated demand,
alternative uses, and other factors. As of June 30, 2024, the Companya€™ s inventories totaled $462.0 million.We identified the assessment of the valuation of
certain excess or obsolete finished goods inventory as a critical audit matter. Subjective auditor judgement was required to evaluate the Companya€™s
estimates of anticipated demand, alternative uses, and other factors, which can be affected by market and economic conditions outside the Companya€™s
control.The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the Companya€™s finished goods inventory valuation process. This included controls related to the
development of estimates of anticipated demand of inventory. We evaluated current year estimates of anticipated demand used to determine the value of excess
or obsolete inventory when they differed significantly from historical sales volumes. We selected certain inventory items and compared the Companya€™s prior
year estimate of anticipated demand to actual sales results to assess the Companya€™s ability to accurately forecast./s/ KPMG LLPWe have served as the
Companya€™ s auditor since 2016.New York, New YorkAugustA 23,A 202456UBIQUITI INC.Consolidated Balance Sheets(In thousands, except share and per
share data)June 30,20242023AssetsCurrent assets:Cash and cash equivalents$126, 342A $114,826A Investments 4€” short-terma€”A 109A Accounts receivable,
net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $498 and $92 at JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023 respectively169, 147A 167,787A Inventories462,032A 737,121A Vendor
deposits 123,461A 125,227A Prepaid expenses and other current assets35,031A 21,974A Total current assets916,013A 1,167,044A Property and equipment,
net81,126A 86,845A Operating lease right-of-use assets, net47,768A 57,485A Deferred tax assets35,934A 23,701A Other long-term assets73,571A 71,324A Total
assets$1,154,412A $1,406,399A Liabilities and Stockholdersa€™ Equity (Deficit)Current liabilities:Accounts payable$51,095A $154,157A Income taxes
payable23,475A 19,309A Debt 4€” short-term36,508A 36,508A Other current liabilities173,713A 141,845A Total current liabilities284,791A 351,819A Income
taxes payable 4€” long-term53,599A 74,880A Operating lease liabilities 4€” long-term37,176A 46,052A Debt 4€” long-term669, 878A 1,041,381A Deferred tax
liability &€” long- -term492A 226A Other long-term liabilities13,416A 7,774A Total liabilities1,059,352A 1,522,132A Commitments and contingencies

(NoteA 9)Stockholdersa€™ equity (deficit):Preferred stocka€”$0.001 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized; none issueda€”A a€”A Common stocka€”$0.001
par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized:60,462,539 and 60,441,896 issued and outstanding at JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively60A 60A Additional
paida€“in capitallO,645A 4,721A Retained earnings (deficit)84,355A (120,514)Total stockholdersa€™ equity (deficit)95,060A (115,733)Total liabilities and
stockholdersa€™ equity (deficit)$1,154, 412A $1,406,399A See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.57UBIQUITI INC.Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income(In thousands, except per share amountS)A Year ended June

30,202420232022Revenues$1,928, 490A $1,940,512A $1,691,692A Cost of revenues1,188,728A 1,179,781A 1,021,880A Gross

profit739,762A 760,731A 669,812A Operating expenses:Research and development159,768A 145,172A 137,689A Sales, general and

administrative80,997A 70,993A 69,859A Total operating expenses240,765A 216,165A 207,548A Income from operations498,997A 544,566A 462,264A Interest
expense and other, net75,169A 58,224A 17,815A Income before income taxes423,828A 486,342A 444,449A Provision for income

taxes73,868A 78,701A 65,792A Net 1nc0me$349 960A $407 641A $378,657A Net income per share of common

stock:Basic$5.79A $6.75A $6.14A Diluted$5.79A $6.74A $6.13A Weighted average shares used in computing net income per share of common
stock:Basic60,454A 60,435A 61,689A Diluted60,458A 60,451A 61,723A Other comprehensive income:Unrealized losses on available-for-sale

securitiesa€”A a4€”A (475)Other comprehensive lossa€”A a€”A (475)Comprehensive income$349,960A $407,641A $378,182A See accompanying notes to
consolidated financial statements.58UBIQUITI INC.CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERSa€™ EQUITY (DEFICIT)In thousands, except share
dataA Common StockAdditional Paid-In CapitalRetained Earnings (Deficit)Accumulated Other Comprehensive LossTotal Stockholders' Equity

(Deficit)A SharesAmountAmountAmountAmountAmountBalance at June 30, 202162,582,858A A$63AA$é€"1} $2,635A $1A $2,699A Net

Incomea€”A a€”A a€”A 378,657A a€”A 378,657A Other comprehensive income (loss)a€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A (475)(475)Stock options

exercised8,413A a€”A 98A 4€”A a4€”A 98A Restricted stock units issued, net of tax withholdings23,107A 4€”A (1,185)a€”A a4€”A (1,185)Repurchase of Common
Stock(2,193,853)(3)(1,779)(616,349)a€”A (618,131)Share-based compensation expensea€”A a€”A 3,516A a4€”A a€”A 3,516A Dividends paid on Common Stock
($2.40 per Share)a€"A a€”A a€”A (148, 055)a€"A (148,055)Balance at June 30, 202260,420,525A $60A $650A $(383,112)$(474)$(382,876)Net

Incomea€”A 4€”A a€”A 407,641A a€”A 407,641A Reclassification adjustment for loss on investments included in net

incomea€”A A€”A a€”A 4€”A 474A 474A Stock options exercised2,112A 4€”A 23A a4€”A 4€”A 23A Restricted stock units issued, net of tax

withholdings19,259A 4€”A (686)a€”A 4€”A (686)Share-based compensation expensea€”A a€”A 4,734A 4€”A a€”A 4,734A Dividends paid on Common Stock
($2.40 per share)a€”A a€”A a€”A (145,043)a€”A (145,043)Balance at June 30, 202360,441,896A $60A $4,721A $(120,514)$4€”A $(115,733)Net

Incomea€”A 4€”A 4€”A 349,960A &€”A 349,960A Restricted stock units issued, net of tax withholdings20,643A &€”A (434)a€”A &€”A (434)Share-based
compensation expensed€”A a€”A 6,358A a€”A a€”A 6,358A Dividends paid on Common Stock ($2.40 per share)a€”A a€”A a€”A (145,091)a€”A (145,091)Balance
at June 30, 202460,462,539A $60A $10,645A $84,355A $a€”A $95,060A See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.59UBIQUITI
INC.Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows(In thousands)Years Ended June 30,202420232022Cash Flows from Operating Activities:Net

income$349,960A $407, 641A $378,657A Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:Depreciation and
amortization19,251A 16,292A 13,689A Amortization of debt issuance costs1,725A 1,405A 1,319A Non-cash lease expenseZSlA 362A 1,142A Premium
amortization and (discount accretion), neta€”A a€”A 88A Provision for excess and obsolete inventory 23,905A 13,391A 2,413A Provision for loss on vendor
deposits20,019A (3,913)8,907A Share-based compensation6,358A 4,734A 3,516A Deferred taxes(11,967)(16,857)(1,842)Change in unrealized loss on available-
for-sale securities109A 792A 4€”A Provision for sales returns(574)553A 1,004A Other, net405A 365A (555)Changes in operating assets and liabilities:Accounts
receivable(1,765)(48,200)52,657A Inventories250,665A (487,922)(29,565)Vendor deposits(18,253)(39,457)(79,034)Prepaid expenses and other assets(17,564)
(10,252)1,841A Accounts payahle(103,0A86)69,730A (28,686)Income taxes payable(17,115)(14,041)(10,288)Deferred revgnuesﬁ,595A (1,321)(3,593)Accrued and
other liabilities32,617A (38,730)58,589A Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities541,516A (145,428)370,259A Cash Flows from Investing
Activities:Purchase of property and equipment and other long-term assets(11,975)(20,934)(13,468)Purchase of investmentsa€”A a4€”A (1,479)Proceeds from sale



of investmentsa€”A 4€”A 2,457A Proceeds from maturities of investmentsa€”A 4€”A 1,310A Net cash used in investing activities(11,975)(20,934)(11,180)Cash
Flows from Financing Activities:Proceeds from borrowing under the credit facility - Terma€”A 250,000A 4€”A Proceeds from borrowing under the credit facility-
Revolvera€”A 415,000A 345,000A Repayment against_ credit facility- Revolver(215, 000)(345 000)(25 000)Repayment against credit facility- Term(157,500)
(28,125)(25,000)Debt issuance costs a€”A (1,205)a€”A Repurchases of common stocka€”A a€”A (618,131)Payment of common stock cash dividends(145,091)
(145,043)(148,055)Proceeds from exercise of stock optionsa€”A 23A 98A Tax withholdings related to net share settlements of restricted stock units(434)(686)
(1,185)Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities(518, 025)144 964A (472 273)Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalentsl 1,516A (21,398)
(113,194)Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period114, 826A 136,224A 249,418A Cash and cash equivalents at end of

period$126,342A $114, 826A $136, 224A Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:Income taxes paid, net of

refunds$108, 572A,$109 68§>A $78, 189A Interest paid$75,094A $53,870A $11,561A Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities:Right-of-use asset
recognized$4,393A $7,201A $34,516A Unpaid property and equipment and other long-term assets$1,300A $1,274A $511A See accompanying notes to
consolidated financial statements.60UBIQUITI INC.NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTSNOTEA 14€”BUSINESS AND BASIS OF
PRESENTATIONBusinessa€” Ubiquiti Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries (collectively, a€ceUbiquitia€ or the a€ceCompanya€) develop high performance
networking technology for service providers, enterprises and consumers globally. The Company operates on a fiscal year ending June 30. In these notes, Ubiquiti
refers to the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023 and 2022 as fiscal 2024, fiscal 2023 and fiscal 2022, respectively.Basis of Presentationa€” The
Companya€™s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principle
(&€eGAAPa€) and include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.
The Company has reclassified certain amounts reported in the previous period to conform to the current period presentation.NOTEA 2a4€”SUMMARY OF
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIESUse of Accounting EstimatesThe preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes. Those
estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to, revenue recognition and deferred revenue; sales return reserves; inventory valuation and vendor
deposits; accounting for income taxes, including the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets and reserves for uncertain tax positions. We evaluate our
estimates and assumptions based on historical experience and other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results
could differ materially from those estimates. SegmentsManagement has determined that it operates as one reportable and operating segment as the
Companya€™s Chief Executive Officer, who is the Company&€™s chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), does not make decisions about resources to be
allocated or assess performance on a disaggregated segment basis. Further information regarding Segments can be found in NoteA 13, to the consolidated
financial statements.Recognition of RevenuesRevenue consists of revenue from sales of hardware and the related essential software (a&€ceProductsa€) as well as
related implied post-contract customer support (&4€ePCSa€). We recognize revenue when obligations under the terms of a contract with our customers are
satisfied, generally, upon transfer of control of promised goods or services to customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration we expect to be entitled to
receive in exchange for those goods or services. We apply the following five-step revenue recognition model:a€¢Identification of the contract, or contracts with a
customera€¢Identification of the performance obligations in the contracta€¢Determination of the transaction priced€¢Allocation of the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contracta€¢Recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy the performance obligationTransfer of control to the customer for
products generally occurs at the point in time when products have been shipped to our customer as this represents the point in time when the customer has a
present obligation to pay and physical possession including title and risk of loss have been transferred to the customer. Revenue for PCS is recognized ratably
over time over the estimated period for which implied PCS services will be delivered.PCS is the right to receive, on a when-and-if available basis, future
unspecified software upgrades and features relating to the producta€™s essential software as well as technical support and bug fixes. The Company accounts
for a contract with a customer when there is an approval and commitment from both parties, the rights of the parties are identified, payment terms are
identified, the contract has commercial substance and collectability of the consideration is probable. The Companya€™s distinct performance obligations consist
mainly of transferring control of its products identified in the 61contracts, purchase orders or invoices and implied PCS services. Our contracts with the majority
of our distribution customers do not include provisions for cancellations, returns, inventory swaps, or refunds that materially impact recognized revenue.
Internet or Web based sales include regulatory provisions which allow customers to return the goods, generally within 30 days. The Company records a
provision for returns related to this variable consideration based upon its historical returns experience with these customers.We record amounts billed for
shipping and handling costs as revenues. We classify shipping and handling costs incurred by us as cost of revenue. Deposit payments received from distributors
in advance of recognition of revenues are included in current liabilities of our balance sheet and are recognized as revenues when all the criteria for recognition
of revenues are met. Transaction price and allocation to performance obligationsTransaction prices are typically based on contracted rates. Although payment
terms vary, payment is generally due from distribution customers within 60 days of the invoice date and the contracts do not have significant financing
components or include extended payment terms. The Company is directly responsible for fulfilling its performance obligations in contracts with customers and
does not rely on another party to fulfill its promise. We use observable list prices to determine the stand-alone selling price of our performance obligation
related to our products, and we utilize a cost-plus margin approach to estimate the stand-alone selling price of our implied PCS obligation. When our contracts
contain multiple performance obligations, we allocate the transaction price based on the estimated standalone selling prices of the promised products or
services underlying each performance obligation.The expected costs associated with our base warranties continue to be recognized as an expense when the
products are sold and are not considered a separate performance obligation. Costs for research and development and sales and marketing are expensed as
incurred. If the estimated life of the hardware product should change, the future rate of amortization of the revenues allocated to PCS could also change.Key
factors considered by the Company in developing the estimated cost in the cost plus margin approach for PCS includes reviewing the activities of specific
employees engaged in support and software enhancements to determine the amount of time that is allocated to the development of the undelivered elements,
determining the cost of the development effort, and then adding an appropriate level of gross profit to these costs. As of JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company
had deferred revenues of $33.7 million and $25.7 million, respectively.Cash and Cash EquivalentsThe Company considers investments purchased with a
maturity period of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost which approximates fair
value. The Company deposits cash and cash equivalents with financial institutions that management believes are of high credit quality. The Companya€™s cash
and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash deposited in U.S. dollar denominated interest-bearing deposit accounts and money market funds. We maintain
domestic cash deposits in Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (4€eFDIC&a€) insured banks that exceed the FDIC insurance limits. We also maintain cash
deposits in foreign banks where we operate, some of which are not insured or are only partially insured by the FDIC or similar agencies. An immaterial portion
of our cash balances are covered by FDIC insurance.Concentration of RiskFinancial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit
risk consist of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities and accounts receivable. The Company limits its exposure by primarily placing its cash in
interest-bearing deposit accounts and marketable securities with high credit quality financial institutions. The Company derives its accounts receivable from
revenues earned from customers located worldwide. The Company bases credit decisions primarily upon a customera€™s past credit history. If upfront deposits
or prepayments are not required, customers then may be granted standard credit terms, which range from net 30 to 60 days.The Company subcontracts with
third parties to manufacture most of our products. The Company relies on the ability of these contract manufacturers to produce the products sold to its
distributors. A significant portion of the Companya€™s products are manufactured by a few contract manufacturers.62Inventory and Inventory ValuationThe
Companya€™s inventories are finished goods and raw materials. Inventories are stated at the lower of actual cost, computed using the first-in, first-out method,
and net realizable value (4€eNRVa€). NRV is based upon an estimated average selling price reduced by the estimated costs of disposal. The determination of
net realizable value involves certain judgments including estimating average selling prices based on recent sales. Should actual market conditions differ from
the Companya€™s estimates, future results of operations could be materially affected. The Company reduces the value of its inventory for estimated
obsolescence or lack of marketability by the difference between the cost of the affected inventory and the NRV. Write-downs are not reversed until the related
inventory has been subsequently sold or scrapped.The valuation of inventory also requires the Company to estimate excess and obsolete inventory. The
determination of excess or obsolete inventory is estimated based on a comparison of the quantity and cost of inventory on hand to the Companya€™ s forecast of
customer demand, which is dependent on various factors and requires the Company to use judgment in forecasting future demand for its products. The
Company also considers the rate at which new products will be accepted in the marketplace and how quickly customers will transition from older products to
newer products. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional inventory write-downs may be required, which
would have a negative impact on the Companya€™s gross margin. If the Company ultimately sells inventory that has been previously written down, the
Companya€™s gross margins in future periods would be positively impacted.The Company capitalizes manufacturing overhead expenditures as part of inventory
costs. Capitalized costs primarily include managementa€™s best estimate of the indirect labor, tariffs, shipping and logistics costs incurred related to inventory
acquired or produced but not sold during the respective period. Manufacturing overhead costs are capitalized to inventory and are recognized as cost of
revenues in the future periods based on when the inventory is sold or written-down.Product WarrantiesThe Company offers warranties on certain products,
generally for a period of one to two years, and records a liability for the estimated future costs associated with potential warranty claims. The warranty costs are
reflected in the Companya€™s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income within cost of revenues. The warranties are typically in effect
for 12 to 24 months from the distributora€™s and webstore customer's purchase date of the product. The Company assesses the adequacy of its accrued
warranty liabilities and adjusts the amounts as necessary based on historical experience factors and changes in future estimates. Historical factors include
product failure rates, material usage and service delivery costs incurred in correcting product failures. In certain circumstances, the Company may have
recourse from its contract manufacturers for the replacement cost of defective products, which it also factors into its warranty liability assessment. Allowance
for Credit LossesThe Company records an allowance for its estimate of expected credit losses on its trade receivables based on its assessment of various factors,
including historical experience, age of the accounts receivable balances, credit quality of the Companya€™s customers, current economic conditions and other
factors that may affect the customersa€™ abilities to pay.In cases where the Company is aware of circumstances that may impair a specific customera€™s
ability to meet its obligations to the Company, the Company records a specific allowance against amounts due from the customer, and thereby reduces the net
recognized receivable to the amounts it reasonably believes will be collected.The changes in the estimate of expected credit losses for the Company's trade
receivables were as follows (in thousands):A A Year ended June 30,A 202420232022Beginning balance$92A $52A $47A Charged to

expenses406A 40A 5A Ending balance$498A $92A $52A Long Lived AssetsIn accordance with the authoritative guidance for impairment or disposal of long-lived
assets (ASC 360), we assess potential impairments to our long-lived assets, including property and equipment, when there is evidence that events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carryingA valueA may not be recoverable. We recognize an impairment loss when the undiscounted cash flows expected to be
generated by an asset or group of assets, are less than the asseta€™s carryingA value. Any required impairment 63loss would be measured as the amount by
which the assetd€™ s carryingA valueA exceeds itsA fairA value, and would be recorded as a reduction in the carryingA valueA of the related asset and charged



to results of operations. The Company did not recognize any material impairment losses for fiscal years 2024, 2023 and 2022.Property and EquipmentFurniture,
fixtures and equipment are recorded at cost. The Company computes depreciation or amortization using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives, as
follows:A EstimatedA UsefulA LifeTesting equipment3A toA 5 yearsComputer and other equipment3 to 5 yearsFurniture and fixtures3 to 5 yearsSoftwareup to 3
yearsCorporate aircraft15 yearsLeasehold improvementsshorterA ofA leaseA termA orA usefulA lifeUpon retirement or disposition, the asset cost and related
accumulated depreciation are removed with any gain or loss recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs
are charged to operations as incurred.Intangible AssetsThe Companya€™s intangible assets consist primarily of domain name purchase and legal costs
associated with application for and registration of the Companya€ ™ s trademarks, which are all included in other long-term assets. The Company amortizes all
definite-lived intangible assets that are subject to amortization over the estimated useful life based on economic benefit. Domain names are amortized over 15
years, while other intangible assets are generally amortized over 5 years. All patent filing and defense costs are expensed as incurred, however, to date these
costs have not been significant.LeasesThe Company enters into agreements under which we lease various real estate spaces, including warehouse facilities and
office space, that are generally leased under noncancelable agreements and include various renewal options for additional periods and/or have options to early
terminate. At contract inception, the Company determines if an arrangement is a lease, or contains a lease, of an identified asset for which the Company has the
right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from its use and the right to direct its use. Right-of-use (4€ceROUA&€) assets represent the
Companya€™s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term, while lease liabilities represent the Companya€™s obligation to make lease payments arising
from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at lease commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the
lease term. The implicit discount rate in the Companya€™s leases generally cannot readily be determined and therefore, the Company uses its incremental
borrowing rate based on information available at lease commencement date in determining the present value of future payments. ROU assets are determined
based upon the calculated lease liability, adjusted by unamortized initial direct costs, unamortized lease incentives received and cumulative deferred or prepaid
lease payments. The Company has options to renew or terminate certain leases. These options are included in the determination of lease term when it is
reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such options. The Company does not separate lease and non-lease components in determining ROU assets or
lease liabilities for operating leases. Additionally, the Company does not recognize ROU assets or lease liabilities for leases with original terms or renewals of
one year or less. Lease expense for our operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Advertising CostsAdvertising costs are
expensed as incurred and are included in selling, general and administrative expenses.Income TaxesThe Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with
accounting guidance which requires recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included
in its financial statements or tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the temporary difference between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or 64settled. The Company establishes
valuation allowances when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount it expects to realize. The assessment of whether or not a valuation allowance
is required often requires significant judgment including current operating results, the forecast of future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax
planning initiatives. The Companya€™s calculation of its tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations. The
Company may be subject to income tax audits in all of the jurisdictions in which it operates and, as a result, must also assess exposures to any potential issues
arising from current or future audits of current and prior yearsa€™ tax returns. Accordingly, the Company must assess such potential exposures and, where
necessary, provide a reserve to cover any expected loss. The Company recognizes tax benefits from uncertain tax positions only if it is more likely than not that
the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the
financial statements from such positions are then measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate
settlement. The calculation of tax liabilities involves significant judgment in estimating the impact of uncertainties in the application of GAAP and complex tax
laws. Resolution of these uncertainties in a manner inconsistent with managementa€™s expectations could have a material impact on the Companya€™s
financial condition and operating results. We reflect changes in recognition or measurement in the period in which our change in judgment occurs. The
Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits on the income tax expense line in the accompanying consolidated statement of
operations. Accrued interest and penalties are included on the related tax liability line in the consolidated balance sheet.Share-based CompensationThe
Company measures share-based compensation cost at the grant date, based on the estimatedA fairA valueA of the award, and recognizes expense for restricted
stock units and stock options on a straight-line basis over the employeea€™ s requisite service period. The Company did not grant any stock options during fiscal
2024, fiscal 2023 or fiscal 2022. Restricted stock units are valued based on the fair value of the Companya€™s common stock on the date of grant.Commitments
and ContingenciesThe Company periodically evaluates all pending or threatened contingencies and any commitments, if any, that are reasonably likely to have a
material adverse effect on its results of operations, financial position or cash flows. The Company assesses the probability of an adverse outcome and determines
if it is remote, reasonably possible or probable. If information available prior to the issuance of the Companya€™s financial statements indicates that it is
probable that an asset had been impaired or a liability had been incurred at the date of the Companya€™s financial statements, and the amount of the loss, or
the range of probable loss can be reasonably estimated, then such loss is accrued and charged to operating expenses. If no accrual is made for a loss
contingency because one or both of the conditions pursuant to the accounting guidance are not met, but the probability of an adverse outcome is at least
reasonably possible, the Company discloses the nature of the contingency and provides an estimate of the possible loss or range of loss, or states that such an
estimate cannot be made.Foreign Currency RemeasurementThe functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar. For foreign
operations, local currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured at the period end exchange rates, and revenues, costs and expenses are
remeasured at the average exchange rates during the fiscal year. Foreign exchange gains and losses have been immaterial to the Companya€™s results of
operations to date.Research and Development CostsResearch and development expenses are expensed as incurred and consist primarily of payroll and payroll-
related costs and facilities costs. Research and development expenses associated with software development are typically expensed as incurred as our software
is usually released to end customers immediately after technological feasibility has been established. However, the Company capitalizes development costs
when material costs are incurred subsequent to technological feasibility but prior to commercial release.Earnings Per ShareThe Company applies the treasury
stock method for calculating and presenting earnings per share (a3€0eEPSa€). Basic EPS is computed by dividing the net income available to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS available to common stockholders is computed by
dividing the amount of net income available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, including potential
dilutive common shares assuming the dilutive effect of outstanding stock options and restricted stock units using the treasury stock method.65Newly Adopted
Accounting StandardsThe Company did not adopt any new accounting standards in fiscal 2024 that were significant to the Company.Recent Accounting
Pronouncements Not Yet EffectiveSegment ReportingIln November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280) (4€ccASU 2023-
07a€), which enhances the segment disclosure requirements for public entities on an annual and interim basis. Under this proposal, public entities will be
required to disclose significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the CODM and included within each reported measure of segment profit or loss.
Additionally, current annual disclosures about a reportable segmenta€™s profit or loss and assets will be required on an interim basis. Entities will also be
required to disclose information about the CODMa&€™s title and position at the Company along with an explanation of how the CODM uses the reported
measures of segment profit or loss in their assessment of segment performance and deciding whether how to allocate resources. Finally, ASU 2023-07 requires
all segment disclosures for public entities, even those with a single reportable segment. The amendments in ASU 2023-07 will become effective on a
retrospective basis for annual disclosures in the Company's fiscal year beginning July 1, 2024, with interim period disclosures required effective with the
Company's fiscal year beginning July 1, 2025. Early adoption of ASU 2023-07 is permitted. We do not expect this ASU to have a significant impact on our
disclosures or results of operations, cash flows, and financial condition.Income TaxesIn December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic
740) ("ASU 2023-09"), which amends the existing guidance relating to the annual disclosures for accounting for income taxes. ASU 2023-09 requires a public
business entity to disclose a tabular rate reconciliation using specified categories and providing additional information for reconciling items that exceed a
quantitative threshold. In addition, ASU 2023-09 requires the disaggregation of federal, state and foreign income taxes paid (net of funds received), with further
disaggregation required for individual jurisdictions in which the income taxes paid exceed five percent of the Company's total income taxes paid. The provision
for income taxes in the Company's statement of operations will also be required to be disaggregated by federal, state and foreign jurisdictions. The amendments
in ASU 2023-09 will become effective for annual disclosures in the Company's fiscal year beginning July 1, 2025, with early adoption permitted. The FASB
indicated ASU 2023-09 should be applied on a prospective basis, but retrospective application is permitted. We expect this ASU to only impact our disclosures
with no impact to our results of operations, cash flows, and financial condition.NOTEA 34€”REVENUESRevenue is primarily generated from the sale of
hardware as well as the related implied PCS.Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration we expect to receive in exchange for transferring goods or
providing services. Revenue is recognized when obligations under the terms of a contract with our customers are satisfied; generally, this occurs with the
transfer of control of our products and PCS to our customers. Transfer of control to the customer for products generally occurs at the point in time when
products have been shipped to our customer as this represents the point in time when the customer has a present obligation to pay and physical possession
including title and risk of loss have been transferred to the customer. Revenue for PCS is recognized ratably over time over the estimated period for which
implied PCS services will be delivered. Disaggregation of RevenueSee NoteA 13 4€ceSegment Information, Revenues by Geography and Significant Customersa€
for disaggregation of revenue by product category and geography. Contract BalancesThe timing of revenue recognition, billing and cash collections results in
billed accounts receivable, deferred revenue primarily attributable to PCS and customer deposits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Accounts receivable are
recognized in the period the Companya€ ™s right to the consideration is unconditional. Our contract liabilities consist of advance payments (customer deposits)
as well as billing in excess of revenue recognized primarily related to deferred revenue. We classify customer deposits as a current liability, and deferred
revenue as a current or non-current liability based on the timing of when we expect to fulfill these remaining performance obligations. The current portion of
deferred revenue is included in other current liabilities and the non-current portion is included in other long-term liabilities in our consolidated balance
sheets.As of]uneA 30, 2024 and 2023, the Companya€™s customer deposits were $1.3 million and $1.2 million, respectively.As of_]uneA 30, 2024, the
Companya€™s deferred revenue, included in other current liabilities and other long-term liabilities, was $20.3 66million and $13.4 million, respectively. As of
JuneA 30, 2023, the Companya€™s deferred revenue, included in other current liabilities and other long-term liabilities, was $17.9 million and $7.8 million,
respectively. We expect the majority of our deferred revenue to convert to revenue in two years. For fiscal years 2024 and 2023 we recognized revenues
amounting to $17.9 million and $20.8 million, respectively from previous years' deferred revenue balances.Variable ConsiderationThe Company provides for
rights of return to certain customers on product sales and therefore records a provision for returns related to this variable consideration based upon its
historical returns experience with these customers. The Company also provides certain customers with discounts that are recorded as a reduction of revenue in
the period the related product revenue is recognized and are reflected as a reduction of outstanding accounts receivable. The Companya€™s contracts with



customers generally do not contain other forms of variable consideration, however when additional variable consideration is included, the Company estimates
the amount of variable consideration and determines what portion of that, if any, has a high probability of significant subsequent revenue reversal, and if so,
that amount is excluded from the transaction price. NOTEA 44€”EARNINGS PER SHAREThe following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted
earnings per share for the periods indicated (in thousands, except per share data):A Year ended June 30,A 202420232022Numerator:Net

income$349,960A $407,641A $378,657A Denominator:Weighted-average shares used in computing basic earnings per

share60,454A 60,435A 61,689A Adda€”dilutive potential common shares:Stock optionsa€”A &€”A 7A Restricted stock units4A 16A 27A Weighted-average shares
used in computing diluted earnings per share60, 458A 60,451A 61,723A Net income per share of common

stock:Basic$5.79A $6.75A $6.14A Diluted$5.79A $6.74A $6.13A The Company excludes potentially dilutive securities from its diluted earnings per share
calculation when their effect would be anti-dilutive to earnings per share amounts.A The following table summarizes the total potential shares of common stock
that were excluded from the diluted per share calculation, because to include them would have been anti-dilutive for the period (in thousands):A Year ended
June 30,A 202420232022Restricted stock units80A 2A 8A NOTEA 5a€”BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTSInventoriesInventories consisted of the following (in
thousands):June 30,20242023Finished goods$387,447A $643,499A Raw materials74,585A 93,622A Total$462,032A $737, 121A Property and Equipment,
NetProperty and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):June 30,20242023Testing equipment$18, 964A $18,265A Tooling .
equipment26,892A 22,687A Leasehold improvements26,264A 24,968A Computer and other equipment10,482A 10,860A Software9,375A 9,421A Furniture and
fixtures1,913A 1,716A Corporate aircraft65,807A 65,807A Property and equipment, gross159,697A 153,724A Less: Accumulated depreciation and
amortization(78,571)(66,879)Property and equipment, net$81,126A $86,845A The Company recorded depreciation and amortization expense of $17.7 million,
$14.7 million and $12.1 million in fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.Other Long-term AssetsOther long-term assets consisted of the following (in
thousands) :June 30,20242023Hong Kong tax dep051t (1)$60,402A $60,106A Intangible assets, net (2)4, 164A 5,695A Other long-term

assets9,005A 5,523A Total$73,571A $71,324A (1) The Company expects the deposits made with Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department ("IRD") to be refunded
upon completion of the audit. See NoteA 12 to the consolidated financial statements for additional details regarding this ongoing tax audit.(2) Accumulated
amortization was $7.5 million and $5.9 million for the periods ending JuneA 30, 2024 and JuneA 30, 2023, respectively.Other Current LiabilitiesOther current
liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):June 30,20242023Deferred revenue a€” short term$20 332A $17,911A Accrued

expenses26,600A 23,426A Lease liability 4€” current13,724A 14,333A Warranty accruall0,825A 8,745A Accrued compensation and

benefits8,453A 7,330A Customer deposits1, 283A 1,211A Reserves for sales returns3,906A 4,999A Inventory received not billed72,560A 56,862A Other
payables16,030A 7,028A Total$173,713A $141,845A Other Long-Term Liabilities Other long-term liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):June
30,20242023Deferred revenue 4€” long-term$13,416A $7,774A Total$13,416A $7,774A NOTEA 64€”ACCRUED WARRANTYWarranty obligations, included in
other current liabilities, were as follows (in thousands):June 30,20242023Beginning balance$8, 745A $6 394A Accruals for warranties issued during the
period12,823A 11,325A Changes in liability for pre-existing warranties during the periodl, 043A 606A Settlements made during the period(11,786)
(9,580)Total$10,825A $8,745A NOTEA 74€”DEBTOn March 30, 2021, the Company, as borrower and certain domestic subsidiaries, as guarantors (the
"Domestic Guarantors"), entered into an amended and restated credit agreement (the &€0eThird Amended and Restated Credit Agreementa€) with Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association (a€ceWells Fargoa€), the other financial institutions named as lenders therein, and Wells Fargo as administrative agent and collateral
agent for the lenders, that extended the $700 million senior secured revolving credit facility (the &€ceRevolving Facility,a€ together with the Term Loan
Facilities, as defined below, the "Facilities") and provided a $500 million senior secured term loan facility (the a€celnitial Term Loan Facilitya€), and extended
the maturity of the Facilities to March 30, 2026. In addition, the Facilities include an option to request increases in the amounts of such credit facilities by up to
an additional $500 million in the aggregate. The loans under the Initial Term Loan Facility are payable in quarterly installments of $6.25A million per quarter,
commencing with the quarter ending June 30, 2021. On April 3, 2023, the Company as borrower and the Domestic Guarantors entered into a first amendment
(the &€eFirst Amendmenta€) to the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (as amended, the &€ceAmended Credit Agreementa€) with the financial
institutions named as lenders therein and Wells Fargo. The First Amendment added a new term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of $250 million
(the a€eFirst Amendment Term Loan Facility,a€ together with the Initial Term Loan Facility, the "Term Loan Facilities") which is payable in quarterly
installments equal to $3.125 million, commencing with the quarter ended June 30, 2023, and has a maturity date of March 30, 2026. The obligations of the
Company and certain domestic subsidiaries under the Amended Credit Agreement are required to be guaranteed by the Domestic Guarantors and are
collateralized by substantially all assets (excluding intellectual property) of the Company and the Domestic Guarantors.The Company's unamortized balance of
debt issuance costs are $1.7 million as of ]uneA 30, 2024, which are amortized as interest expense over the }ife of the Facilities.67Table of ContentsOur debt
consisted of the following (in thousands):June 30,20242023Initial Term Loan - short term$25,000A $25,000A First Amendment Term Loan - short-
term12,500A 12,500A Debt issuance costs, net(992)(992)Total Debt - short term36,508A 36,508A Initial Term Loan - long term393,750A 418,750A First
Amendment Term Loan - long-term101,875A 234,375A Revolver - long term175,000A 390,000A Debt issuance costs, net(747)(1,744)Total Debt - long
term$669,878A $1,041,381A The Revolving Facility includes a sub-limit of $25.0 million for letters of credit and a sub-limit of $25.0 million for swingline loans.
The Facilities are available for working capital and general corporate purposes that comply with the terms of the Amended Credit Agreement, including to
finance the repurchase of the Companya€™s common stock or to make dividends to the holders of the Company's common stock. Under the Amended Credit
Agreement, revolving loans and swingline loans may be borrowed, repaid and reborrowed until March 30, 2026, at which time all amounts borrowed must be
repaid. Loans under the Facilities may be prepaid at any time without penalty.The revolving loans and term loans under the Initial Term Loan Facility bear
interest, at the Companya€ ™s option, at either (i) a floating rate per annum equal to the Base Rate (as defined below) plus a margin of between 0.50% and
1.25%, depending on the Companya€™s consolidated total leverage ratio as of the most recently ended fiscal quarter or (ii) a floating per annum rate equal to
the Adjusted Term SOFR (as defined below) for a specified period, plus a margin of between 1.50% and 2.25%, depending on the Companya€™s consolidated
total leverage ratio as of the most recently ended fiscal quarter. Swingline loans bear interest at a floating rate per annum equal to the Base Rate plus a margin
of between 0.50% and 1.25%, depending on the Companya€™s consolidated total leverage ratio as of the most recently ended fiscal quarter. The loans under
the First Amendment Term Loan Facility bear interest, at the Company's option, at either (i) a floating rate per annum equal to Base Rate plus a margin of
between 1.00% and 1.75%, depending on the Companya€™s consolidated total leverage ratio as of the most recently ended fiscal quarter or (ii) a floating per
annum rate equal to the applicable Adjusted Term SOFR rate for a specified period, plus a margin between 2.00% and 2.75%, depending on the Company's
consolidated total leverage ratio as of the most recently ended fiscal quarter. Base Rate is defined in the Amended Credit Agreement as the highest of (a) the
Prime Rate (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement), (b) the Federal Funds Rate (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) plus 0.50% and (c)
Adjusted Term SOFR for a one-month tenor in effect on such day plus 1.00%; each change in the Base Rate shall take effect simultaneously with the
corresponding change or changes in the Prime Rate, the Federal Funds Rate or Adjusted Term SOFR, as applicable (provided that clause (c) shall not be
applicable during any period in which Adjusted Term SOFR is unavailable or unascertainable). The Base Rate shall not be less than 1.00%. Adjusted Term SOFR
is Term SOFR (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) plus 0.10% per annum; provided that Adjusted Term SOFR shall in no event be less than 0.00%.A
default interest rate shall apply on all obligations during certain events of default under the Amended Credit Agreement at a rate per annum equal to 2.00%
above the applicable interest rate. The Company will pay to each lender a facility fee on a quarterly basis based on the unused amount of each lendera€™s
commitment to make revolving loans, of between 0.20% and 0.35%, depending on the Companya€™s consolidated total leverage ratio as of the most recently
ended fiscal quarter. The Company will also pay to the applicable lenders on a quarterly basis certain fees based on the daily amount available to be drawn
under each outstanding letter of credit, including aggregate letter of credit commissions of between 1.50% and 2.25%, depending on the Companya€™s
consolidated total leverage ratio as of the most recently ended fiscal quarter, and issuance fees of 0.125% per annum. The Company is also obligated to pay
Wells Fargo, as agent, fees customary for a credit facility of this size and type.The Amended Credit Agreement requires the Company to maintain during the
term of the Facilities a maximum consolidated total leverage ratio of 3.50 to 1.00 and a minimum consolidated interest coverage ratio of 3.50 to 1.00. In
addition, the Amended Credit Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, including covenants that limit or restrict the ability of the
Company and its subsidiaries to, among other things, grant liens or enter into agreements restricting their ability to grant liens on property, enter into mergers,
dispose of assets, change their accounting or reporting policies, change their business and incur indebtedness, in each case subject to customary exceptions for
a credit facility of this size and type. The Amended Credit Agreement includes customary events of default that include, among other things, non-payment of
principal, interest or fees, inaccuracy of representations and warranties, violation of covenants, cross default to certain other indebtedness, bankruptcy and
insolvency events, material judgments, change of control and certain ERISA events. The occurrence of an event of default could result in the 68Table of
Contentsacceleration of the obligations under the Amended Credit Agreement.The FacilitiesAs of JuneA 30, 2024, $418.8A million was outstanding on the Initial
Term Loan Facility, $114.4A million was outstanding on the First Amendment Term Loan Facility, and $175.0A million was outstanding on the Revolving
Facility, leaving $525. 0A million available on the Revolving Facility.Term Facility:During fiscal year 2024, the Company made aggregate payments of

$209.2A million under the Term Loan Facilities, of which $157.5A million was a repayment of principal and $51.7A million was a payment of interest.Revolving
Facility:During fiscal year 2024, the Company made aggregate payments of $238.4 million under the Revolving Facility, of which $215.0 million was a
repayment of principal and $23.4 million was a payment of interest.The following table summarizes our estimated debt and interest payment obligations as of
JuneA 30, 2024, for fiscal 2025 and future fiscal years (in thousands):Fiscal Year20252026202720282029ThereafterTotalDebt payment

obhgatlons$37 500A $670 625A $a€"A $a€”A $a€"A $a€”A $708,125A Interest and other payments on debt payment obligations

(1)51,959A 37,075A a€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A 89,034A Tota1$89 459A $707,700A $a€”A $4€”A $a4€”A $4€”A $797,159A (1) - Interest payments are calculated based
on the applicable rates and payment dates as ofA JuneA 30, 2024. Although our interest rates on our debt obligations may vary, we have assumed the most
recent available interest rates for all periods presented.NOTEA 8a€”LEASESThe Company has entered into agreements under which we lease various real
estate spaces in North America, Europe and Asia Pacific, under non-cancellable leases that expire on various dates through fiscal 2036. Some of our leases
include options to extend the term of such leases for a period from 12 months to 60 months, and/or have options to early terminate the lease. As of JuneA 30,
2024, we included such options in determining the lease terms for certain of our leases as we were reasonably certain that we would exercise those options.
Most of our leases require us to pay certain operating expenses in addition to base rent, such as taxes, insurance and maintenance costs. The following table
summarizes our lease costs for fiscal years ended JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):June 30,202420230perating lease costs:Financial Statement
ClassificationFixed lease costsOperating expenses$11,671A $11,199A Fixed lease costsCost of revenues4,038A 4,030A Variable lease costsOperating
expenses655A 548A Variable lease costsCost of revenues807A 555A Total lease costs$17,171A $16,332A The operating lease costs in the table above include
costs for long-term and short-term leases. Total short-term costs for fiscal years JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023 were $0.2 million and $0.6 million, respectively.
Variable lease costs primarily include maintenance, utilities and operating expenses that are incremental to the fixed base rent payments and are excluded from
the calculation of operating lease liabilities and ROU assets. For fiscal years JuneA 30, 2024 and 2023, the cash paid for amounts associated with our operating



lease liabilities were approximately $17.3 million and $16.1 million, respectively. Cash paid for amounts associated with the Company's operating lease liabilities
were classified as operating activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.69Table of ContentsThe following table shows our undiscounted future fixed
payment obligations under our recognized operating leases and a reconciliation to the operating lease liabilities as of JuneA 30, 2024:Fiscal 2025$15,193Fiscal
202610,787Fiscal 20276,806Fiscal 20285,435Fiscal 20293,663Thereafter13,848Total future fixed operating lease payments$55,732Less: Imputed
interest$4,832Total operating lease liabilities$50,900Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leasesSix yearsWeighted-average discount rate -
operating leases3.5A %NOTEA 94€”COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIESPurchase ObligationsWe subcontract with third parties to manufacture our
products and supply key components. As of JuneA 30, 2024 we had $981.7 million of purchase commitments with these third parties. If we cancel all or part of
the orders, we may still be liable to the contract manufacturers for the cost of the components purchased by the subcontractors to manufacture our products.
There have been no significant liabilities for current or anticipated cancellations recorded as of JuneA 30, 2024. Our consolidated financial position and results
of operations could be negatively impacted if we were required to compensate these third parties. In addition, we may be subject to additional purchase
obligations to our contract manufacturers for supply agreements and components ordered by them based on manufacturing forecasts we provide them each
month.Transition TaxWe have an obligation of $50.6 million as of JuneA 30, 2024, related to the mandatory transition tax on accumulated foreign earnings from
the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. We expect to make payments of $22.5 million and $28.1 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2025 and 2026, respectively, in
relation to this obligation. This obligation is included within Income tax payable and Long-term taxes payable on our consolidated balance sheets.Other
ObligationsAs of JuneA 30, 2024, the Company has other obligations of $6.1 million which consisted primarily of commitments related to research and
development projects.Indemnification ObligationsThe Company enters into standard indemnification agreements with many of its business partners in the
ordinary course of business. These agreements include provisions for indemnifying the business partner against any claim brought by a third-party to the extent
any such claim alleges that a Company product infringes a patent, copyright or trademark, or violates any other proprietary rights of that third-party. The
maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is not estimable and the
Company has not incurred any material costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification agreements to date.Legal MattersThe Company
may be involved, from time to time, in a variety of claims, lawsuits, investigations, and proceedings relating to contractual disputes, intellectual property rights,
employment matters, regulatory compliance matters and other litigation matters relating to various claims that arise in the normal course of business. The
Company determines whether an estimated loss from a 70Table of Contentscontingency should be accrued by assessing whether a loss is deemed probable and
can be reasonably estimated. The Company assesses its potential liability by analyzing specific litigation and regulatory matters using available information. The
Company develops its views on estimated losses in consultation with inside and outside counsel, which involves a subjective analysis of potential results and
outcomes, assuming various combinations of appropriate litigation and settlement strategies. Taking all of the above factors into account, the Company records
an amount where it is probable that the Company will incur a loss and where that loss can be reasonably estimated. However, the Companya€™s estimates may
be incorrect and the Company could ultimately incur more or less than the amounts initially recorded. The Company may also incur significant legal fees, which
are expensed as incurred, in defending against these claims. The Company is not currently aware of any pending or threatened litigation that would have a
material adverse effect on the Companya€™s financial statements.Vivato/XROn April 19, 2017, XR Communications, LLC, d/b/a Vivato Technologies
(a€ceVivatoa€), filed a complaint against the Company in the United States District Court for the Central District of California, alleging that at least one of the
Companya€™s products infringes United States Patent Numbers 7,062,296 (the 4€ce'296 Patenta€), 7,729,728 (the d€ce'728 Patentd€), and 6,611,231 (the
a€0e'231 Patenta€ and, collectively, the a€cePatents-in-Suita€). (the &€eOriginal Actiona€). On April 11, 2018, the Court stayed the Original Action pending
completion of certain inter partes review (d€ceIPR&a€) proceedings before the Patent Trial and Appeal Board (&€0ePTOa€). The PTO invalidated asserted claims
of two of the three Patents-in-Suit.On June 16, 2021, Vivato filed a new suit against the Company in the Central District of California, alleging that various
Company products infringe some of the non-invalidated claims of the a€™ 728 Patent and U.S. Patent No. 10,594,376 (the a€ceNew Actiona€). On November 24,
2021, the Company and the remaining defendants in the Original Action filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings regarding the '231 Patent. On January 4,
2022, the Court granted defendantsa€™ motion and dismissed Vivatoa€™s claims based on the '231 Patent. The Federal Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the
invalidity of the '231 Patent on May 18, 2023. All claims asserted against the Company in the Original Action have been dismissed.On July 28, 2022, Vivato
voluntarily dismissed, with prejudice, its remaining claims related to the '728 patent, as well as claims 22-31 of the '376 Patent. On October 20, 2022, an IPR
was instituted with respect to the asserted claims of the '376 Patent. On October 26, 2022, the court stayed the case pending completion of the IPR. On October
3, 2023, the IPR with respect to the '376 Patent was terminated after the petitioners entered into a settlement agreement with Vivato. On December 4, 2023, the
court lifted the stay. On May 16, 2024, the court entered a stipulated 30-day stay pending settlement discussions. On June 18, 2024 and July 19, 2024, the court
issued further stipulated 30-day stays pending settlement discussions. Those discussions are ongoing.The Company plans to vigorously defend itself against
these claims; however, there can be no assurance that the Company will prevail in the lawsuit. The Company cannot currently estimate the possible loss or
range of losses, if any, that it may experience in connection with this litigation.Network-1 Technologies, Inc.On October 5, 2022, Network-1 Technologies, Inc.
("Network-1") filed a patent infringement lawsuit against the Company in the District of Delaware, alleging that various Company products infringe United
States Patent Number 6,218,930, which relates to 802.3af and 802.3at &€cePower over Etherneta€ standards. Network-1 seeks compensatory and enhanced
damages, attorneys' fees and costs, and pre- and post-judgment interest. The Company plans to vigorously defend itself against these claims; however, there can
be no assurance that the Company will prevail in the lawsuit. The Company cannot currently estimate the possible loss or range of losses, if any, that it may
experience in connection with this litigation.Intellectual Ventures I LLC v. Ubiquiti Inc.On August 8, 2023, Intellectual Ventures I LLC ("IV") filed a patent
infringement lawsuit against the Company in the District of Delaware, alleging that various Company products infringe United States Patent Number 8,594,122,
which relates to 802.11ac a€ceBeamforminga€ standards. IV seeks compensatory and enhanced damages, attorneys' fees and costs, and pre- and post-judgment
interest. The Company plans to vigorously defend itself against these claims; however, there can be no assurance that the Company will prevail in the lawsuit.
The Company cannot currently estimate the possible loss or range of losses, if any, that it may experience in connection with this litigation.71Table of
ContentsNOTEA 104€”COMMON STOCK AND TREASURY STOCKCommon Stock RepurchasesOn MayA 3, 2022, the Board of Directors of the Company
approved a $200A million stock repurchase program (the 4€0e2022 May Programa€). Under the 2022 May Program, the Company was authorized to repurchase
up to $200A million of common stock. The 2022 May Program expired on SeptemberA 30, 2023, and the Company did not make any repurchases under the 2022
May Program. The following table summarizes total activity related to our stock repurchase programs for the fiscal year end as indicated (in millions, except
average price per share):June 30,202420232022Number of shares repurchased and retireda€”A a4€”A 2.2A Average price per shareN/AN/A$281.75A Aggregate
purchase priceN/AN/A$618.1A NOTEA 114€”SHARE-BASED COMPENSATIONShare-Based Compensation Plans2010 Equity Incentive PlanIln March 2010, the
Companya€™s Board of Directors and stockholders approved the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (the &€0e2010 Plana€). Under the terms of the 2010 Plan, non-
statutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, and restricted stock units (4€eRSUsa€) may be granted to employees or non-employee
service providers. Incentive stock options may be granted only to employees.2020 Equity Incentive PlanIn December 2020, the Company's stockholders
approved the Ubiquiti Inc. 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the 4€0e2020 Equity Plana€) that replaced the 2010 Plan, and no additional awards will be granted
under the 2010 Plan. Under the terms of the 2020 Equity Plan, the Company is authorized to grant awards for up to five million shares of common stock over the
term of the 2020 Equity Plan. Outstanding awards under the 2010 Plan remain in effect pursuant to the terms of the 2010 Plan.The 2020 Equity Plan and the
2010 Plan are each administered by the Company&a€™s Board of Directors or a committee of the Companya€™s Board of Directors. Subject to the terms and
conditions of the 2020 Equity Plan and the 2010 Plan, the administrator has the authority to select the persons to whom awards are to be made, to determine
the number of shares to be subject to awards and the terms and conditions of awards, and to make all other determinations and to take all other actions
necessary or advisable for the administration of the 2020 Equity Plan and the 2010 Plan. The administrator is also authorized to adopt, amend or rescind rules
relating to administration of the 2020 Equity Plan and the 2010 Plan. Options and RSUs generally vest over a four-year period from the date of grant and
generally expire 10 years from the date of grant. The terms of the 2020 Equity Plan and the 2010 Plan provide that an option price shall not be less than 100% of
fair market value on the date of grant.As of JuneA 30, 2024, the Company had 4,876,805 authorized shares available for future issuance under all of its stock
incentive plans.72Table of ContentsShare-based CompensationThe following table shows total share-based compensation expense included in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations for fiscal 2024, 2023 and 2022 (in thousands):Year ended June 30,A 202420232022Cost of revenues$159A $73A $74A Research and
development4,831A 3,541A 2,541A Sales, general and administrative1,368A 1,120A 901A $6,358A $4,734A $3,516A Stock OptionsDuring fiscal 2024, 2023 and
2022, the aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised under the Companyé ™s stock incentive plans was $0.0 million, $0.6 million, and $2.3 million,
respectively, as determined as of the date of option exercise.As of JuneA 30, 2024, the Company had no unrecognized compensation cost related to stock
options.The Company did not grant any stock options during fiscal 2024, fiscal 2023, or fiscal 2022.Forfeiture rateThe Company estimates its forfeiture rate
based on an analysis of its actual forfeitures and will continue to evaluate the adequacy of the forfeiture rate based on actual forfeiture experience, analysis of
employee turnover behavior and other factors. The impact from a forfeiture rate adjustment will be recognized in full in the period of adjustment, and if the
actual number of future forfeitures differs from that estimated, the Company may be required to record adjustments to share-based compensation expense in
future periods.Restricted Stock Units (4€ceRSUs&€)The following table summarizes the activity of the RSUs made by the Company: NumberA of SharesWeighted
AverageA Grant DateA FairA ValueNon-vested RSUs, JuneA 30, 202362,948A $256 78A RSUs granted65, 143A $147.53A RSUs vested(23,311)$237.72A RSUs
forfeited(2,814)$267.64A Non-vested RSUs, JuneA 30, 2024101,966A $191.04A The intrinsic value of RSUs vested in fiscal 2024, 2023, and 2022 was $3.5
million, $5.8 million and $8.2 million, respectively. The total intrinsic value of all outstanding RSUs was $14.9 million as of JuneA 30, 2024.As of JuneA 30, 2024,
there was unrecognized compensation costs related to RSUs of $13.6 million which the Company expects to recognize over a weighted average period of 3.1
years.73Table of ContentsNOTEA 124€”INCOME TAXESThe components of income before provision for income taxes were as follows (in thousands): A Year
ended June 30,A 202420232022Domestic$149,523A $102,930A $102,145A Foreign274,305A 383,412A 342,304A $423,828A $486,342A $444,449A The
provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands): :A Year ended June
30,A 2024202320220urrentFederal$67 870A $78,774A $55,259A State8,019A 9,443A 6,814A Foreign9, 946A 7,341A 5,561A Current tax
expense85, 835A 95,558A 67,634A DeferredFedera1(7 1 10)(15 338)(882)State(627)(1 745)(960)Foreign(4, 230)226A a€”A Deferred tax benefit (expense)(11,967)
(16,857)(1,842)Provision for income taxes$73,868A $78,701A $65,792A For tax years beginning after December 31, 2021, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017
("TCJA") eliminates the right to deduct research and development expenditures for tax purposes in the period the expenses were incurred and instead requires
all U.S. and foreign research and development expenditures to be amortized over five and fifteen tax years, respectively. Congress has considered legislation
that would defer the amortization requirement to later years, but as of JuneA 30, 2024, the requirement has not been modified. Accordingly, the Company has
capitalized research and development expenses for tax purposes, resulting in higher cash paid for taxes as compared to prior years.The reconciliation of federal
statutory income tax to the Companya€™s provision for income taxes is as follows:A Year ended June 30,A 202420232022Statutory .
rate21.0A %21.0A %21.0A %Effect of foreign operations(5.7)(6.8)(8.0)State tax expensel.3A 1.3A 1.0A Share-based compensation0.3A 0.1A (0.1)Subpart F



income0.4A 1.1A 1.0A Other permanent items0.1A (0.5)(0.1)Effective tax rate17.4A %16.2A %14.8A %74Table of ContentsSignificant components of the
Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities as of JuneA 30, 2024 are as follows (in thousands): AJune 30,A 20242023Deferred tax assetsReserves and
allowances$5,63 1A $11,041A Share-based compensat10n452A 380A Accrued expensesSZ4A 703A Capitalized research expenditures30, 296A 15,617A State
tax721A 1,504A Investments1,325A 1,296A Lease liabilities5,286A 5,581A Other14,974A 11,945A Total deferred tax assets59,509A 48,067A Deferred tax
liabilitiesProperty and equipment(8,046)(6,558)Right of use assets(4,929)(5,304)Other liabilities(9,767)(11,434)Total deferred tax liabilities(22,742)
(23,296)Valuation allowance(1,325)(1, 296)Net deferred tax assets$35,442A $23,475A A reconciliation of the beglnmng and ending balances of the unrecognized
tax benefits during the years ended JuneA 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022 consists of the following (in thousands): A A Year ended June

30,A 202420232022Unrecognized benefita€”beginning of year$32, 382A $32,685A $32,092A Gross increasesa€”current year tax

positions5, 3Q7A 5, 361A 4,629A Gross decreasesa€”prior year tax positions due to statute lapse(4,680)(5,664)(4,036)Unrecognized benefita€”end of
year$33,049A $32,382A $32,685A As of JuneA 30, 2024, the Company had approximately $33.0 million of unrecognized tax benefits, substantially all of which
would, if recognized, affect its tax expense. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within the income tax expense
line in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income. Accrued interest and penalties are included within the related tax
liability line in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of_]uneA 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company had $4.8 million and $2.9 million accrued interest related to
uncertain tax matters, respectively.The Company and one or more of its subsidiaries, file income tax returns in the United States federal jurisdiction, and
various state, local, and foreign jurisdictions and is currently undergoing income tax examinations by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (3€®IRS&€) and the
Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department ("IRD"). All material consolidated federal, state and local income tax matters have been concluded for years through
2014. The majority of the Company's foreign jurisdictions have been concluded through 2014, with the exception of Hong Kong which has been reviewed
through 2009 and is currently under audit for the 2010-2018 statutory tax years.In July 2018, the Company received a draft Notice of Proposed Adjustment
(&€ceDraft NOPA&€) from the IRS proposing an adjustment to income for the fiscal 2015 and fiscal 2016 tax years based on its interpretation of certain
obligations of the non-US entities under the credit facility. This Draft NOPA was superseded by an Acknowledgement of Facts (4€eAOF&€) issued to the
Company by the IRS on January 17, 2020. The IRS in its AOF continued to propose an adjustment to the Companya€™s income for its fiscal 2015 and fiscal 2016
tax years based on the IRSa€™ interpretation of certain obligations of the Companya€™s foreign subsidiaries under the Companya€™s credit facilities. On May
12, 2020, the IRS issued a final NOPA to the Company with respect to the 2015/2016 tax years. The Company formally protested the adjustment and the case
was moved from the Examination Division to the IRS Appeals Division where a formal review of the facts and the applicable law took place on May 9, 2022. The
Appeals Officer issued a Notice of 75Table of ContentsDeficiency on August 3, 2022, which upheld the position of the Examination Division. The Company filed a
petition with the United States Tax Court seeking to have the Notice of Deficiency reversed. On November 8, 2023, the Company filed a Motion for Summary
Judgement. The IRS responded to the Company's Motion on December 26, 2023 and filed a Cross-Motion for Summary Judgement. On January 22, 2024, the
judge assigned to this case rejected both Motions for Summary Judgement. As such, the Company is awaiting a trial date to be set which it currently expects to
receive by the end of December 2024. The Company continues to believe that its tax position filed with the IRS with regard to this matter is more likely than not
to be sustained based on technical merits. However, there can be no assurance that this matter will be resolved in the Companya€™ s favor. Regardless of
whether the matter is resolved in the Companya€™s favor, the final resolution of this matter could be expensive and time-consuming to defend and/or settle. The
Company estimates the incremental tax liability associated with the income adjustment proposed in the AOF would be approximately $50.0A million, excluding
potential interest and penalties, after adjusting for the impact of an adjustment on the amount of transition tax payable in future years by the Company. As the
Company believes that the tax originally paid in fiscal 2015 and fiscal 2016 is correct, it has not provided a reserve for this tax uncertainty. However, an adverse
outcome may have a material and adverse effect on the Companya€™ s results of operations and financial condition.Between fiscal years 2018 and 2023, the
Company made payments totaling a combined amount of $60.4 million as deposits, with the Hong Kong IRD in connection with extending the statute of
limitation for income tax examinations currently under audit for 2010-2017 statutory tax years. On March 27, 2024, the Company received notification that the
Hong Kong IRD is seeking an additional $0.8 million deposit covering the 2018 statutory tax year. The Company filed a formal protest in response to this notice
and the Assessor's office agreed to a reduced deposit of under $0.1 million covering the 2018 statutory tax year. The refundable deposits are included within
other long-term assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The IRD is examining the Companya€™s claims that its revenue is generated through activities
performed wholly outside of the Hong Kong tax jurisdiction and are therefore exempt from Hong Kong tax. The Company is fully cooperating with the
examination including submitting documentation in support of its position. The Company continues to believe that its tax positions filed with IRD are more likely
than not to be sustained based on their technical merits and therefore no reserve has been provided for this tax uncertainty and the Company expects the $60.4
million (net of foreign currency impact) of deposits made with IRD to be refunded upon completion of the audit. However, there can be no assurance that this
matter will be resolved in the Companya€™s favor and therefore it's possible that an adverse outcome of the matter could have a material effect on the
Companya€™s results of operations and financial condition. NOTEA 134€”SEGMENT INFORMATION, REVENUES BY GEOGRAPHY AND SIGNIFICANT
CUSTOMERSManagement has determined that the Company operates as one reportable and operating segment as the Companya€ ™ s Chief Executive Officer,
who is the Companya€™s CODM, does not make decisions about resources to be allocated or assess performance on a segment basis. Furthermore, the
Company does not organize or report its costs on a segment basis. The Company presents its revenue by product type in two primary categories: Service
Provider Technology and Enterprise Technology.RevenueRevenues by product type were as follows (in thousands, except
percentages)AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA Year ended June 30,A 202420232022Enterprise

Technology$1,617,665A 84A %$1,621,426A 84A %$1,316,685A 78A %Service Provider Technology310,825A 16A %319,086A 16A %375,007A 22A %Total
revenues$1,928,490A 100A %$1,940,512A 100A %$1,691,692A 100A %Revenues by geography based on customer&€™s ship-to destinations were as follows (in
thousands, except percentages):Year ended June 30,A 202420232022North America (1)$946,428A 49A %$922,230A 48A %$790,809A 47A %Europe, the Middle
East and Africa740,113A 38A %759,405A 39A %675,306A 40A %Asia Pacific127,901A 7A %148,502A 8A %134,961A 8A %South

Americal14,048A 6A %110,375A 5A %90,616A 5A %Total revenues$1,928,490A 100A %$1,940,512A 100A %$1,691,692A 100A %(1) Revenue for the United
States was $881.0 million, $855.3 million and $734.5 million for fiscal 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. 76Table of ContentsFor the periods presented, there
were no customers with an accounts receivable balance of 10% or greater or customers with net revenues of 10% or greater of total revenues.

NOTEA 144€”SUBSEQUENT EVENTSDividendsOn AugustA 23, 2024, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had approved a quarterly cash
dividend of $0.60 per share payable on SeptemberA 9, 2024 to shareholders of record at the close of business on SeptemberA 3, 2024. Any future dividends will
be subject to the approval of the Companya€™s Board of Directors.77DocumentExhibit 4.4DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANTa€™ S
SECURITIESREGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIESEXCHANGE ACT OF 1934As of JuneA 30, 2024, Ubiquiti Inc. (A€cewea€,
a€ceoura€, a€ceusa€ or the &€ceCompanya€) has its common stock, $0.001 par value per share (d€cecommon stocka€) registered under Section 12 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.The following description of our common stock, which is not complete and is subject to, and qualified in its
entirety by reference to, our third amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, each of which is filed or incorporated by
reference as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this Exhibit is a part, and the Delaware General Corporation Law (&€eDGCL&€). You should
read our third amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and the applicable provisions of the DGCL for a complete
statement of the provisions described under the caption &€ceCommon Stocka€ and for other provisions that may be important to you.Common Stock Our
authorized capital stock under our third amended and restated certificate of incorporation consists of 500,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.001
per share. As of AugustA 22, 2024, there were 60,469,583A shares of our common stock outstanding. As of such date, there were 107,371 shares of common
stock subject to outstanding RSUs.Holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share of common stock held of record for the election of
directors and on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. Holders of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends ratably, if any, as may be
declared by our board of directors out of legally available funds, subject to any preferential dividend rights of any preferred stock then outstanding. Upon our
dissolution, liquidation or winding up, holders of our common stock are entitled to share ratably in our net assets legally available after the payment of all our
debts and other liabilities, subject to the preferential rights of any preferred stock then outstanding. Holders of our common stock have no preemptive,
subscription, redemption or conversion rights. The rights, preferences and privileges of holders of common stock are subject to, and may be adversely affected
by, the rights of the holders of shares of any series of preferred stock that we may designate and issue in the future. All of our outstanding shares of common
stock are fully paid and nonassessable.Preferred StockOur authorized capital stock consists of 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share.
As of AugustA 22, 2024, there were noA shares of our preferred stock outstanding. Our board of directors has the authority, without further vote or action by the
stockholders, to issue from time to time shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to fix or alter the designations, powers, preferences and rights, and
the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of the shares of each such series of preferred stock, including the dividend rights, dividend rates, conversion rights,
voting rights, rights and terms of redemption (including sinking fund provisions), redemption price or prices, liquidation preferences and the number of shares
constituting any series or designations of such series, any or all of which may be greater than the rights of common stock. The issuance of preferred stock could
adversely affect the voting power of holders of our common stock and the likelihood that holders of our common stock will receive dividend payments and
payments upon liquidation and could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control.Registration RightsCertain holders of shares of our
common stock, including but not limited to 56,278,181 shares of our common stock held by our chief executive officer, have the registration rights set forth
below with respect to registration of the resale of such shares under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the &€ceSecurities Acta€) pursuant to a registration
agreement by and among us and certain of our stockholders. As applicable, we refer to these shares collectively as &€ceregistrable securities.4€Long-form
demand registration rights.A At any time the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding registrable securities that were issued upon conversion of our
Series A preferred stock in our initial public offering may demand that we effect a registration under the Securities Act on Form S-1 covering the public offering
and sale of all or part of the registrable securities held by such stockholders, provided that the value of the registrable securities that such holders propose to
sell in such offering is at least $25.0 million. Upon any such demand, we must use our commercially reasonable efforts to effect the registration of the
registrable securities which we have been requested to register together with all other registrable securities that we may have been requested to register by
other stockholders pursuant to the incidental registration rights described below. We are only obligated to effect two registrations in response to these demand
registration rights for the holders of the registrable securities. We may defer any such registration for up to 120 days if our board of directors reasonably
determines such registration would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on a transaction we plan or propose to engage in.Short form
registration rights. At any time after we qualified to file a registration statement on Form S-3, the holders of a majority of the outstanding registrable securities
that were issued upon conversion of our Series A preferred stock in our initial public offering may request in writing that we effect a registration on Form S-3,
provided that the value of the registrable securities that such holders propose to sell in such offering is at least $5.0 million, subject to certain exceptions. We
are obligated to file up to two registration statements on Form S-3 in any 12-month period.Incidental registration rights.A If we register any of our securities for



public sale, including pursuant to any stockholder initiated demand registration, holders of the registrable securities will have the right to include their shares in
the registration statement, subject to certain exceptions relating to employee benefit plans and mergers and acquisitions. The underwriters of any underwritten
offering will have the right to limit the number of registrable securities to be included in the registration statement on a pro rata basis, subject to certain
restrictions.Expenses of registration.A We will pay all registration expenses related to any long-form demand, short-form demand or incidental registration other
than underwriting discounts and selling commissions which will be borne by the holders of the registrable securities.Indemnification.A The registration
agreement contains indemnification provisions pursuant to which we are obligated to indemnify the selling stockholders, underwriters and certain of their
affiliates in the event of material misstatements or omissions in the registration statement or related violations of federal and state securities law by us. As a
condition to including their securities in any registration statement filed pursuant to demand or incidental registration rights, we may require the selling
stockholders to agree to indemnify us for misstatements or omissions attributable to them.Anti-takeover Effects of Delaware Law and our Certificate of
Incorporation and BylawsOur third amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws contain certain provisions that
could have the effect of delaying, deferring or discouraging another party from acquiring control of us. We expect these provisions and certain provisions of
Delaware law, which are summarized below, to discourage coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also designed, in
part, to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to negotiate first with our board of directors. We believe that the benefits of increased protection of
our potential ability to negotiate more favorable terms with an unfriendly or unsolicited acquirer outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging a proposal to
acquire us.Undesignated preferred stock.A As discussed above, our board of directors has the ability to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or
preferences that could impede the success of any attempt to change control of us. These and other provisions may have the effect of deterring hostile takeovers
or delaying changes in control or management of our company.Limits on the ability of stockholders to act by written consent or call a special meeting.A Our
third amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that our stockholders may not act by written consent, which may lengthen the amount of time
required to take stockholder actions. As a result, a holder controlling a majority of our capital stock would not be able to amend our certificate of incorporation
or bylaws or remove directors without holding a meeting of our stockholders called in accordance with our bylaws.In addition, our third amended and restated
certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that special meetings of the stockholders may be called only by the board of directors
acting pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the total authorized directors, the chairperson of our board of directors, our chief executive officer or
president (in the absence of the chief executive officer). Stockholders may not call a special meeting, which may delay the ability of our stockholders to force
consideration of a proposal or for holders controlling a majority of our capital stock to take any action, including the removal of directors.Requirements for
advance notification of stockholder nominations and proposals.A Our amended and restated bylaws establish advance notice procedures with respect to
stockholder proposals and the nomination of candidates for election as directors, other than nominations made by or at the direction of our board of directors.
These provisions may have the effect of precluding the conduct of certain business at a meeting if the proper procedures are not followed. These provisions may
also discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirera€™s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting
to obtain control of our company.Board classification.A Our third amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that our board of directors will be
divided into three classes, one class of which is elected each year by our stockholders. The directors in each class will serve for a three-year term. Our classified
board of directors may discourage a third party from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us, because it generally makes it more
difficult for stockholders to replace a majority of the directors.Election and removal of directors.A Our third amended and restated certificate of incorporation
and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that establish specific procedures for appointing and removing members of our board of directors. Under
our third amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, vacancies and newly created directorships on our board of
directors may be filled only by a majority of the directors then serving on the board of directors. Under our third amended and restated certificate of
incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, directors may be removed only for cause.No cumulative voting.A The Delaware General Corporation Law
provides that stockholders are not entitled to the right to cumulate votes in the election of directors unless our restated certificate of incorporation provides
otherwise. Our third amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws do not expressly provide for cumulative voting.
Without cumulative voting, a minority stockholder may not be able to gain as many seats on our board of directors as the stockholder would be able to gain if
cumulative voting were permitted. The absence of cumulative voting makes it more difficult for a minority stockholder to gain a seat on our board of directors to
influence our board of directorsa€™ decision regarding a takeover.Delaware anti-takeover statute.A We are subject to the provisions of SectionA 203 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law regulating corporate takeovers. In general, SectionA 203 prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging,
under certain circumstances, in a business combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years following the date the person became an
interested stockholder unless:A a€¢prior to the date of the transaction, our board of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction which
resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;A 4€¢upon completion of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested
stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, calculated
as provided under SectionA 203; ora€¢at or subsequent to the date of the transaction, the business combination is approved by our board of directors and
authorized at an annual or special meeting of stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding voting
stock which is not owned by the interested stockholder.Generally, a business combination includes a merger, asset or stock sale or other transaction resulting in
a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. An interested stockholder is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns or, within three years
prior to the determination of interested stockholder status, did own 15% or more of a corporationa€™ s outstanding voting stock. We expect the existence of this
provision to have an anti-takeover effect with respect to transactions our board of directors does not approve in advance. We also anticipate that SectionA 203
may discourage attempts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares of common stock held by stockholders.The provisions of Delaware
law and the provisions of our third amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, could have the effect of discouraging
others from attempting hostile takeovers and, as a consequence, they might also inhibit temporary fluctuations in the market price of our common stock that
often result from actual or rumored hostile takeover attempts. These provisions might also have the effect of preventing changes in our management. It is
possible that these provisions could make it more difficult to accomplish transactions that stockholders might otherwise deem to be in their best
interests.Transfer Agent and RegistrarThe transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Computershare Trust Company, N.A. The transfer agenta€™s
address is 150 Royall St., Suite 101, Canton, MA 02021.ListingOur common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol
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18 A INTRODUCTION Ubiquiti Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, the &€ ceCompanya€) opposes the unauthorized disclosure of
any nonpublic information acquired in the course of your service with the Company and the misuse of material nonpublic information in securities trading. Any
such actions will be deemed violations of this Insider Trading Policy (the a€cePolicya€). Legal prohibitions on insider trading The antifraud provisions of U.S.
federal securities laws prohibit directors, officers, employees and other individuals who possess material nonpublic information from trading on the basis of that
information. Transactions will be considered &€ceon the basis ofa€ material nonpublic information if the person engaged in the transaction while aware of the
material nonpublic information at the time of the transaction. It is not a defense that the person did not a€ceusea€ the information for purposes of the
transaction. Disclosing material nonpublic information directly or indirectly to others who then trade based on that information or making recommendations or
expressing opinions as to transactions in securities while aware of material nonpublic information (which is sometimes referred to as a€cetippinga€) is also often
illegal. Both the person who provides the information, recommendation or opinion and the person who trades based on it may be liable. These illegal activities
are commonly referred to as a€ceinsider trading.a€ State securities laws and securities laws of other jurisdictions also impose restrictions on insider trading. In
addition, a company, as well as individual directors, officers and other supervisory personnel, may be subject to liability as &€cecontrolling personsa€ for failure
to take appropriate steps to prevent insider trading by those under their supervision, influence or control. Detection and prosecution of insider trading The U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (the 4€ceSECA&€), the Financial Institutions Regulatory Authority (a4€ceFINRAa€) and the New York Stock Exchange
(a&€weNYSEA&€) use sophisticated electronic surveillance techniques to investigate and detect insider trading, and the SEC and the U.S. Department of Justice
pursue insider trading violations vigorously. Cases involving trading through foreign accounts, trading by family members and friends and trading involving only
a small number of shares have been successfully prosecuted. Penalties for violation of insider trading laws and this Policy Civil and criminal penalties. As of the
effective date of this Policy, potential penalties for insider trading violations under U.S. federal securities laws include: &€¢ damages in a private lawsuit; 4€¢
disgorging any profits made or losses avoided; a€¢ imprisonment for up to 20 years; a€¢ criminal fines of up to $5 million for individuals and $25 million for
entities; 4€¢ civil fines of up to three times the profit gained or loss avoided; A -2- 4€¢ a bar against serving as an officer or director of a public company; and 4€
¢ an injunction against future violations. Civil and criminal penalties also apply to tipping. The SEC has imposed large penalties in tipping cases even when the
disclosing person did not trade or gain any benefit from another persona€™s trading. Controlling person liability. Controlling persons may be subject to
significant civil penalties, criminal penalties, and/or imprisonment. Company disciplinary actions. If the Company has a reasonable basis to conclude that you
have failed to comply with this Policy, you may be subject to disciplinary action by the Company, up to and including dismissal for cause, regardless of whether
or not your failure to comply with this Policy results in a violation of law. It is not necessary for the Company to wait for the filing or conclusion of any civil or
criminal action against an alleged violator before taking disciplinary action. In addition, the Company may give stop transfer and other instructions to the
Companya€™s transfer agent or prohibit trades through brokerage accounts provided by the Company in connection with its stock plans to enforce compliance
with this Policy. Questions on Policy The Companya€™s legal department, available by email at legal@ui.com (the 4&€ceLegal Departmenta€), is generally
responsible for the implementation and enforcement of this Policy. Please direct any questions, requests, or reports as to any of the matters discussed in this
Policy to the Legal Department. Reporting violations It is your responsibility to help enforce this Policy. You should be alert to possible violations and promptly
report violations or suspected violations of this Policy to the Legal Department by email at legal@ui.com. If your situation requires that your identity be kept
secret, your anonymity will be preserved to the greatest extent reasonably possible. If you wish to remain anonymous, send a letter addressed to Legal at
Ubiquiti Inc., 685 Third Avenue, 27th Floor, New York, New York 10017. Alternatively, you may report any good faith concerns through Ubiquitid€™s
anonymous reporting helpline, available at ui.ethicspoint.com or via telephone at +1 (844) 983-0440. If you make an anonymous report, please provide as much
detail as possible, including any evidence that you believe may be relevant to the issue. Personal responsibility The ultimate responsibility for complying with
this Policy and applicable laws and regulations rests with you. You should use your best judgment at all times and consult with your legal and financial advisors,
as needed. We advise you to seek assistance if you have any questions at all. The rules relating to insider trading can be complex, and a violation of insider
trading laws can carry severe consequences. A -3- PERSONS AND TRANSACTIONS COVERED BY THIS POLICY Persons covered by this Policy This Policy
applies to all directors, officers, employees and agents (such as consultants and independent contractors) of the Company. References in this Policy to
a€ceyoud€ (as well as general references to directors, officers, employees and agents of the Company) should also be understood to include members of your
immediate family, persons with whom you share a household, persons that are your economic dependents and any other individuals or entities whose
transactions in securities you influence, direct or control (including, for example, a trust of which you are a trustee or a venture or other investment fund, if you
influence, direct or control transactions by the trust or fund). You are responsible for making sure that these other individuals and entities comply with this
Policy. Types of transactions covered by this Policy Except as discussed in the section entitled a€ceLimited Exceptionsa€, this Policy applies to all transactions
involving the securities of the Company or the securities of other companies as to which you possess material nonpublic information obtained in the course of
your service with the Company, including, without limitation, distributors, vendors, customers, collaborators, suppliers and competitors. This Policy therefore
applies to purchases, sales, pledges, gifts or other contributions, and other transfers of common stock, options, warrants, preferred stock, debt securities (such
as debentures, bonds and notes) and other securities. This Policy also applies to any arrangements that affect economic exposure to changes in the prices of
these securities. These arrangements may include, among other things, transactions in derivative securities (such as exchange-traded put or call options),
hedging transactions, short sales and certain decisions with respect to participation in benefit plans. This Policy also applies to any offers with respect to the
transactions discussed above. You should note that there are no exceptions from insider trading laws or this Policy based on the size of the transaction.
Responsibilities regarding the nonpublic information of other companies This Policy prohibits the unauthorized disclosure or other misuse of any nonpublic
information of other companies or their industries, such as information related to the Companya€™ s distributors, vendors, customers, collaborators, suppliers
and competitors. This Policy also prohibits insider trading and tipping based on the material nonpublic information of other companies. Applicability of this
Policy after your departure Generally, you are expected to comply with this Policy until such time as you are no longer affiliated with the Company and you no
longer possess any material nonpublic information subject to this Policy. If you are a Section 16 director or officer, please see the section a€cePre-Clearance of
Tradesa€ below. In addition, if you are subject to a trading blackout under this Policy at the time you cease to be affiliated with the Company, you are expected
to abide by the applicable trading restrictions until at least the end of the relevant blackout period. No exceptions based on personal circumstances There may
be instances where you suffer financial harm or other hardship or are otherwise required to forego a planned transaction because of the restrictions imposed by
this Policy. Personal financial emergency or other personal circumstances are not mitigating factors under securities laws and will not excuse a failure to comply
with this Policy. A -4- MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION &€ceMateriala€ information Information should be regarded as material if there is a substantial
likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in deciding whether to buy, hold or sell securities or would view the information as significantly
altering the total mix of information in the marketplace about the issuer of the security. In general, any information that could reasonably be expected to affect
the market price of a security is likely to be material. Either positive or negative information may be material. It is not possible to define all categories of
a€cemateriala€ information. However, some examples of information that would often be regarded as material include information with respect to: &€¢ Financial
results, financial condition, earnings pre-announcements, guidance (or confirmations thereof), projections or forecasts, particularly if inconsistent with the
expectations of the investment community; &€¢ Restatements of financial results, or material impairments, write-offs or restructurings; &€¢ Changes in
independent auditors, or notification that the Company may no longer rely on an audit report; &€¢ Business plans or budgets; 4€¢ Creation of significant
financial obligations, or any significant default under or acceleration of any financial obligation; &€¢ Impending bankruptcy, corporate restructuring,
receivership, or financial liquidity problems; d4€¢ Significant developments involving business relationships, including execution, modification or termination of
significant agreements or orders with customers, suppliers, distributors, manufacturers or other business partners; a€¢ Product introductions, modifications,
defects or recalls or significant pricing changes or other product announcements of a significant nature; 4€¢ Significant developments in research and
development or relating to intellectual property; 4€¢ Significant legal or regulatory developments, whether actual or threatened; &€¢ Major events involving
Company securities, including calls of securities for redemption, adoption of stock repurchase programs, option repricings, stock splits, changes in dividend
policies, public or private securities offerings, modification to the rights of security holders or notice of delisting; 4€¢ Significant corporate events, such as a
pending or proposed merger, joint venture or tender offer, a significant investment, the acquisition or disposition of a significant business or asset or a change
in control of the company; 4€¢ Significant changes in executive compensation policy; A -5- 4€¢ A significant disruption in the Companya€™ s operations, or loss,
potential loss, breach or unauthorized access of the Companya€™s property or assets, including information technology infrastructure and cybersecurity risk
and privacy incidents or events; and a€¢ Major personnel changes, such as changes in senior management or lay-offs. Information that something is likely to
happen or even just that it may happen can be d&€cemateriala€. Courts often resolve close cases in favor of finding the information material. Insiders should keep
in mind that the SEC rules and regulations provide that the mere fact that a person is aware of the information is a bar to trading. It is no excuse that such
persona€™ s reasons for trading were not based on the information. If you have any questions as to whether information should be considered &€cemateriala€,
you should consult with the Legal Department. In general, it is advisable to resolve any close questions as to the materiality of any information by assuming that
the information is material. &€ceNonpublica€ information Information is considered nonpublic if the information has not been broadly disseminated to the public
for a sufficient period to be reflected in the price of the security. As a general rule, information should be considered nonpublic until at least two full trading
days have elapsed after the information is broadly distributed to the public in a press release, a public filing with the SEC, a pre-announced public webcast or
another broad, non-exclusionary form of public communication in compliance with Regulation FD. However, depending upon the form of the announcement and
the nature of the information, it is possible that information may not be fully absorbed by the marketplace until a later time. The information disseminated must
be some form of d€ceofficiald€ announcement or disclosure, which, in the case of information about the Company, must be made by the Company. In other
words, the fact that rumors, speculation, or statements attributed to unidentified sources are public is insufficient to be considered widely disseminated even
when the rumors, speculation, or statements are accurate. Any questions as to whether information is nonpublic should be directed to the Legal Department.
The term &€cetrading daya€ means a day on which national stock exchanges are open for trading. A a€cefulla€ trading day has elapsed when, after the public
disclosure, trading in the relevant security has opened and then closed. A -6- POLICIES REGARDING MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION Confidentiality of
nonpublic information The unauthorized use or disclosure of nonpublic information relating to the Company or other companies is prohibited. All nonpublic
information you acquire in the course of your service with the Company may only be used for legitimate Company business purposes. In addition, nonpublic
information of others should be handled in accordance with the terms of any relevant nondisclosure agreements, and the use of any such nonpublic information
should be limited to the purpose for which it was disclosed. You must use all reasonable efforts to safeguard nonpublic information in the Companya€™s
possession. You may not disclose nonpublic information about the Company or any other company, unless required by law, or unless (i) disclosure is required for




legitimate Company business purposes, (ii) you are authorized to disclose the information and (iii) appropriate steps have been taken to prevent misuse of that
information (including entering an appropriate nondisclosure agreement that restricts the disclosure and use of the information, if applicable). This restriction
also applies to internal communications within the Company and to communications with agents of the Company. In cases where disclosing nonpublic
information to third parties is required, you should coordinate with the Legal Department. All directors, officers and employees of the Company are required to
sign and comply with an At Will Employment Agreement, Non-disclosure Agreement, Invention Assignment Agreement, and Arbitration Agreement or similar
agreement. Consultants and independent contractors are required to sign and comply with an Independent Contractor Agreement or similar agreement. Neither
this Policy nor any policy of the Company, and notwithstanding any other confidentiality or non-disclosure agreement (whether in writing or otherwise, including
without limitation as part of an employment agreement, separation agreement or similar employment or compensation arrangement) applicable to current or
former employees, should be deemed to restrict any current or former employee from communicating, cooperating or filing a complaint with any U.S. federal,
state or local governmental or law enforcement branch, agency or entity (collectively, a 4€eGovernmental Entitya€) with respect to possible violations of any
U.S. federal, state or local law or regulation, or otherwise making disclosures to any Governmental Entity, in each case, that are protected under the
whistleblower provisions of any such law or regulation, provided that (1) in each case such communications and disclosures are consistent with applicable law
and (2) the information subject to such disclosure was not obtained by the current or former employee through a communication that was subject to the
attorney-client privilege, unless such disclosure of that information would otherwise be permitted by an attorney pursuant to 17 CFR 205.3(d)(2), applicable
state attorney conduct rules, or otherwise. Any agreement in conflict with the foregoing is hereby deemed amended by the Company to be consistent with the
foregoing. No trading on material nonpublic information Except as discussed in the section entitled 4€ceLimited Exceptionsa€, you may not, directly or indirectly
through others (e.g., tipping), engage in any transaction involving Company securities while aware of material nonpublic information relating to the Company. It
is not an excuse that you did not &€ceusea€ the information in your transaction. Similarly, you may not engage in transactions involving the securities of any
other company if you are aware of material nonpublic information about that company. For example, you may be involved in a proposed transaction involving a
prospective business relationship or transaction with another company. If information about that transaction constitutes material nonpublic information for that
other company, you would be prohibited from engaging in transactions involving the securities of that other company (as well A -7- as transactions involving
Company securities, if that information is material to the Company). It is important to note that &€cematerialitya€ is different for different companies and is
dependent on the facts of each situation. Information that is not material to the Company may be material to another company and vice versa. No disclosing
material nonpublic information for the benefit of others You may not disclose material nonpublic information concerning the Company or any other company to
friends, family members or any other person or entity not authorized to receive such information. In addition, you may not make recommendations or express
opinions on the basis of material nonpublic information as to trading in the securities of companies to which such information relates. You are prohibited from
engaging in these actions whether or not you derive any profit or personal benefit from doing so. You may not comment on stock price movements or rumors of
other corporate developments (including discussions in Internet message boards or on social media platforms) that are of possible significance to the investing
public unless it is part of your job (such as Investor Relations) or you have been specifically authorized in accordance with Company policy. If you comment on
corporate developments, stock price movements or rumors or disclose material nonpublic information to a third party you must contact the Legal Department
immediately. Obligation to disclose material nonpublic information to the Company You may not enter into any transaction, including those discussed in the
section entitled a€ceLimited Exceptionsa€, unless you have disclosed any material nonpublic information that you become aware of in the course of your service
with the Company, and that senior management is not aware of, to the Legal Department. Responding to outside inquiries for information In the event you
receive an inquiry from someone outside of the Company, such as a stock analyst, for information, you should refer the inquiry to the Legal Department. The
Company is required under Regulation FD (Fair Disclosure) of the U.S. federal securities laws to avoid the selective disclosure of material nonpublic
information. In general, the regulation provides that when a public company discloses material nonpublic information to certain market participants, it must
provide broad, non-exclusionary access to the information. Violations of this regulation can subject the Company and the disclosing employee to SEC
enforcement actions, which may result in injunctions and severe monetary penalties. The Company has established procedures for releasing material
information in a manner that is designed to achieve broad public dissemination of the information immediately upon its release in compliance with applicable
law. A -8- TRADING BLACKOUT PERIODS To limit the likelihood of trading at times when there is a significant risk of insider trading exposure, the Company
has instituted quarterly trading blackout periods and may institute special trading blackout periods from time to time. It is important to note that whether or not
you are subject to blackout periods, you remain subject to the prohibitions on trading on the basis of material nonpublic information and any other applicable
restrictions in this Policy. Quarterly blackout periods Except as discussed in the section entitled &€ceLimited Exceptionsa€, all directors, officers, executive
officers, employees and agents must refrain from conducting transactions involving Company securities during quarterly blackout periods. Even if you are not
specifically identified as being subject to quarterly blackout periods, you should exercise caution when engaging in transactions during quarterly blackout
periods because of the heightened risk of insider trading exposure and the appearance of improper conduct. For the avoidance of doubt, all Company securities
held in a Company administered brokerage account (regardless of whether such securities are owned by a current or former employee of the Company) will be
subject to quarterly blackout periods. Quarterly blackout periods begin at the end of the 15th day of the third month of each fiscal quarter (or the trading day
immediately preceding the 15th day if it is not a trading day) and end at the start of the third full trading day following the date of public disclosure of the
financial results for that fiscal quarter. This period is a particularly sensitive time for transactions involving Company securities from the perspective of
compliance with applicable securities laws due to the fact that, during this period, individuals may often possess or have access to material nonpublic
information relevant to the expected financial results for the quarter. Special blackout periods From time to time, the Company may also prohibit directors,
officers, employees and agents from engaging in transactions involving Company securities when, in the judgment of the Legal Department, a trading blackout
is warranted. The Company will generally impose special blackout periods when there are material developments known to the Company that have not yet been
disclosed to the public. For example, the Company may impose a special blackout period in anticipation of announcing interim earnings guidance or a significant
transaction or business development. However, special blackout periods may be declared for any reason. The Company will notify those persons subject a
special blackout period. Each person who has been so identified and notified by the Company may not engage in any transaction involving Company securities
until instructed otherwise by the Legal Department or its designee, and should not disclose to others the fact of such suspension of trading. Regulation BTR
blackouts Directors and Executive Officers may also be subject to trading blackouts pursuant to Regulation Blackout Trading Restriction under U.S. federal
securities laws (a&€ceRegulation BTRA€, with Directors and Executive Officers having the definitions set forth therein). In general, Regulation BTR prohibits any
director or executive officer from engaging in certain transactions involving Company securities during periods when 401 (k) plan participants are prevented
from purchasing, selling or otherwise acquiring or transferring an interest in certain securities held in individual account plans. Any profits realized from a
transaction that violates Regulation BTR are recoverable by the Company, regardless of the intentions of A -9- the director or executive officer effecting the
transaction. In addition, individuals who engage in such transactions are subject to sanction by the SEC as well as potential criminal liability. The Company has
provided, or will provide, separate memoranda and other appropriate materials to its directors and executive officers regarding compliance with Regulation
BTR. The Company will notify directors and executive officers if they are subject to a blackout trading restriction under Regulation BTR. Failure to comply with
an applicable trading blackout in accordance with Regulation BTR is a violation of law and this Policy. No a€cesafe harborsa€ There are no unconditional
a€cesafe harborsa€ for trades made at particular times, and all persons subject to this Policy should exercise good judgment at all times. Even when a quarterly
blackout period is not in effect, you may be prohibited from engaging in transactions involving Company securities because you possess (or are presumed to
possess) material nonpublic information, are subject to a special blackout period or are otherwise restricted under this Policy. A -10- PRE-CLEARANCE OF
TRADES The Companya€™s directors and officers, as defined by Rule 16a-1(f) under Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (a€ceSection 16a€) and
listed on Schedule I, must refrain from engaging in any transaction involving Company securities without first obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from
the Legal Department, even during an open trading window. Each of the Section 16 directors and officers is expected to comply with the pre-clearance
obligation until 6 months after such director or officer is no longer affiliated with the Company. From time to time, the Company will also notify other persons
that they are subject to the pre-clearance requirements. These procedures also apply to transactions by members of these individualsa€™ immediate family,
persons with whom they share a household, persons that are their economic dependents and any other individuals or entities whose transactions in securities
they influence, direct or control. In addition, the Companya€™s Section 16 directors and officers may only engage in a transaction involving Company securities
if they do so either (1) pursuant to a pre-approved periodic trading plan that is designed in accordance with Rule 10b5-1 of the Exchange Act (a€ceRule 10b5-
14€) and approved by Ubiquitia€™s Legal Department (as described in the d€ceLimited Exceptionsd€ Section herein) or (2) within five days after the end of a
regular quarterly blackout period and with pre-clearance of the Legal Department. These pre-clearance procedures are intended to decrease insider trading
risks associated with transactions by individuals with regular or special access to material nonpublic information. In addition, requiring pre-clearance of
transactions by directors and officers facilitates compliance with Rule 144 resale restrictions under the Securities Act of 1933 (a€ceRule 1444a€), the liability and
reporting provisions of Section 16 and Regulation BTR. Pre-clearance of a trade, however, is not required for purchases and sales of securities under a pre-
approved Rule 10b5-1 trading plan. Any termination or modification of a pre- approved 10b5-1 trading plan, or similar trading arrangement, requires pre-
approval from the Legal Department. Such termination or modification must occur before you become aware of any material nonpublic information and must
comply with the requirements of the rules regarding such trading plans. Pre-clearance of a trade, however, is not a defense to a claim of insider trading and
does not excuse you from otherwise complying with insider trading laws or this Policy. The Legal Department is under no obligation to approve a transaction
submitted for pre-clearance, and may determine not to permit the transaction. A -11- ADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONS AND GUIDANCE This section addresses
certain types of transactions that may expose you and the Company to significant risks. You should understand that, even though a transaction may not be
expressly prohibited by this section, you are responsible for ensuring that the transaction otherwise complies with other provisions in this Policy that may apply
to the transaction, such as the general prohibition against insider trading as well as preclearance procedures and blackout periods, to the extent applicable. If
you are a director, officer, employee or, agent or other person subject to this Policy, regardless of whether you are subject to trading windows or pre-clearance:
Short sales Short sales (i.e., the sale of a security that must be borrowed to make delivery) and a€ceselling short against the boxa€ (i.e., a sale with a delayed
delivery) with respect to Company securities are prohibited. Short sales may signal to the market possible bad news about the Company or a general lack of
confidence in the Companya€™s prospects, and an expectation that the value of Company securities will decline. In addition, short sales are effectively a bet
against the Companya€™s success and may reduce the sellera€™s incentive to improve the Companya€™s performance. Short sales may also create a suspicion
that the seller is engaged in insider trading. Derivative securities and hedging transactions You are prohibited from engaging in transactions in publicly traded
options, such as puts and calls, and other derivative securities (including prepaid variable forward contracts, equity swaps, collars, and exchange funds) with
respect to Company securities. This prohibition extends to any hedging or similar transaction designed to decrease the risks associated with holding Company
securities. Stock options, stock appreciation rights and other securities issued pursuant to Company benefit plans or other compensatory arrangements with the



Company are not subject to this prohibition. Using Company securities as collateral for loans You may pledge Company securities as collateral for loans only
with prior approval of the Board of Directors or an independent committee of the Board of Directors. Decisions will be based on the facts and circumstances of
the request including but not limited to: (1) the percentage of the Company securities held by the individual that is currently pledged, (2) any compelling needs
of the individual justifying the pledge and (3) the magnitude of aggregate pledged shares in terms of total common shares outstanding, market value, or trading
volume. The initiation of new pledging transactions is not permitted during a blackout period. Holding Company securities in margin accounts You may not hold
Company securities in margin accounts. Under typical margin arrangements, if you fail to meet a margin call, the broker may be entitled to sell securities held in
the margin account without your consent. The sale, even though not initiated at your request, is still considered a sale for your benefit and, if made at a time
when you are aware of material nonpublic information or are otherwise not permitted to trade, may result in inadvertent insider trading violations, Section 16
and Regulation BTR violations (for officers and directors), violations of this Policy and unfavorable publicity for you and the Company. For these same reasons,
even if you are not prohibited from holding Company securities in margin accounts, you should exercise caution when doing so. A -12- Placing open orders with
brokers Except in accordance with an approved trading plan under Rule 10b5-1, as discussed below, you should exercise caution when placing open orders,
such as limit orders or stop orders, with brokers, particularly where the order is likely to remain outstanding for an extended period of time. Open orders may
result in the execution of a trade at a time when you are aware of material nonpublic information or otherwise are not permitted to trade in Company securities,
which may result in inadvertent insider trading violations, Section 16 and Regulation BTR violations (for officers and directors), violations of this Policy and
unfavorable publicity for you and the Company. If you are subject to blackout periods or pre-clearance requirements, you should so inform any broker with
whom you place any open order at the time it is placed. A -13- LIMITED EXCEPTIONS The following are certain limited exceptions to the trading restrictions
imposed by the Company under this Policy. Please be aware that even if a transaction is subject to an exception to this Policy, you will need to separately assess
whether the transaction complies with applicable law. For example, even if a transaction is indicated as exempt from this Policy, you need to comply with
Section 16 and Rule 144, to the extent applicable. You are responsible for complying with applicable law at all times. In addition, the following limited
exceptions are not exceptions for individuals subject to the pre-clearance requirements. Transactions pursuant to a trading plan that complies with SEC rules
The SEC has enacted rules that provide an affirmative defense against alleged violations of U.S. federal insider trading laws for transactions pursuant to trading
plans that meet certain requirements. In general, these rules, as set forth in Rule 10b5-1, provide for an affirmative defense if you enter into a contract, provide
instructions or adopt a written plan for trading securities when you are not aware of material nonpublic information. The contract, instructions or plan must (i)
specify the amount, price and date of the transaction, (ii) specify an objective method for determining the amount, price and date of the transaction and/or (iii)
place any subsequent discretion for determining the amount, price and date of the transaction in another person who is not, at the time of the transaction,
aware of material nonpublic information. Consistent with requirements imposed by the SEC, the Company requires that any such trading plan (and any
amendments or terminations thereof) comply with the applicable cooling off period requirements and other restrictions and limitations set forth in Rule 10b5-1.
Transactions made pursuant to a written trading plan that (i) complies with the affirmative defense set forth in Rule 10b5-1 and (ii) is approved in advance by
the Legal Department, are not subject to the restrictions in this Policy against trades made while aware of material nonpublic information or to the pre-
clearance procedures or blackout periods established under this Policy. In approving a trading plan, the Legal Department may, in furtherance of the objectives
expressed in this Policy, impose criteria in addition to those set forth in Rule 10b5-1. You should therefore confer with the Legal Department prior to entering
into any trading plan. Amendments to a trading plan must be approved in advance by the Legal Department. An amendment cannot be made during a quarterly
blackout period or at a time when the individual possesses material nonpublic information. The SEC rules regarding trading plans are complex and must be
complied with completely to be effective. The description provided above is only a summary, and the Company strongly advises that you consult with your legal
advisor if you intend to adopt a trading plan. While trading plans are subject to review and approval by the Company, the individual adopting the trading plan is
ultimately responsible for compliance with Rule 10b5-1 and ensuring that the trading plan complies with this Policy. Trading plans must be filed with the Legal
Department and must be accompanied with an executed certificate stating that the trading plan complies with Rule 10b5-1 and any other criteria established by
the Company. For directors and Section 16 officers, the Company must publicly disclose information regarding trading plans that you may enter. A -14-
Transactions pursuant to an irrevocable power of attorney upon vesting of restricted stock or restricted stock units The trading restrictions under this Policy do
not apply to transactions made by a third party on your behalf pursuant to an irrevocable power of attorney executed during an open trading window at a time
you were not in possession of material nonpublic information if: a€¢ on or after the time you receive a restricted stock or restricted stock unit grant you execute
an irrevocable power of attorney that cannot be terminated by you; a€¢ the sales undertaken are solely for the purpose of funding withholding tax obligations
that arise as restricted stock or restricted stock units granted by the Company to you vest; a€¢ the sales occur without your prior consent (other than as set
forth in the irrevocable power of attorney) at market prices in a brokersa€™ transaction; a€¢ the proceeds of the sales are remitted to the Company or the
applicable tax authority directly; and &€¢ the sales occur within 30 days of the vesting of the restricted stock or restricted stock units. Receipt and vesting of
stock options, restricted stock and stock appreciation rights The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to the acceptance or purchase of stock
options, restricted stock or stock appreciation rights issued or offered by the Company. The trading restrictions under this Policy also do not apply to the
vesting, cancellation or forfeiture of stock options, restricted stock or stock appreciation rights in accordance with applicable plans and agreements. Exercise of
stock options for cash The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to the exercise of stock options for cash under the Companya€™s stock option
plans. Likewise, the trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to the exercise of stock options in a stock-for-stock exercise with the Company or an
election to have the Company withhold securities to cover tax obligations in connection with an option exercise. However, the trading restrictions under this
Policy do apply to (i) the sale of any securities issued upon the exercise of a stock option, (ii) a cashless exercise of a stock option through a broker, since this
involves selling a portion of the underlying shares to cover the costs of exercise, and (iii) any other market sale for the purpose of generating the cash needed to
pay the exercise price of an option. Stock splits, stock dividends and similar transactions The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to a change in
the number of securities held as a result of a stock split or stock dividend applying equally to all securities of a class, or similar transactions. Inheritance The
trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to transfers of Company securities by will or the laws of descent and distribution. A -15- Change in form of
ownership Transactions that involve merely a change in the form in which you own securities are permissible. For example, you may transfer shares to an inter
vivos trust of which you are the sole beneficiary during your lifetime. Other exceptions Any other exception from this Policy must be approved by the Legal
Department, in consultation with the Board of Directors or an independent committee of the Board of Directors. A -16- COMPLIANCE WITH SEC REPORTING
OBLIGATIONS Obligations under Section 16 Section 16, and the related rules and regulations, set forth (i) reporting obligations, (ii) limitations on &€ceshort-
swinga¥€ transactions and (iii) limitations on short sales and other transactions applicable to directors, officers, large shareholders and certain other persons.
The Company has determined that those persons holding the titles listed on Schedule I are required to comply with Section 16 because of their positions with
the Company. The Legal Department may amend Schedule I from time to time as appropriate to reflect the election of new officers or directors, any change in
the responsibilities of officers or other employees and any promotions, demotions, resignations or departures. Schedule I is not necessarily an exhaustive list of
persons subject to Section 16 requirements at any given time. Even if you are not listed on Schedule I, you may be subject to Section 16 reporting obligations
because of your shareholdings, for example. Notification requirements to facilitate Section 16 reporting Generally, Section 16 reports must be filed with the SEC
within two business days following the execution of a transaction in Company securities. To facilitate timely reporting of transactions pursuant to Section 16
requirements, each person subject to Section 16 reporting requirements must provide, or must ensure that his or her broker provides, the Company with
detailed information (e.g., trade date, number of shares, exact price, etc.) regarding his or her transactions involving Company securities, including gifts,
transfers, pledges and transactions pursuant to a trading plan, both prior to (to confirm compliance with pre-clearance procedures, if applicable) and promptly
following execution. Rule 144 Pursuant to Rule 144, if the amount of Company securities to be sold by officers and directors during any three-month period
exceeds 5,000 shares or has an aggregate sale price in excess of $50,000, such officer or director must notify the Securities and Exchange Commission of such
sale by electronically filing a Form 144 via EDGAR concurrently with either placing a sell order with a broker or executing the sale directly with a market maker.
Generally, a broker will make these electronic filings. Personal responsibility The obligation to file Section 16 and Form 144 reports, and to otherwise comply
with Section 16 or Rule 144, is personal. The Company is not responsible for the failure to comply with Section 16 or Rule 144 requirements. A -17-
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION Delivery of Policy This Policy will be delivered to all directors, officers, employees and agents of the Company when they
commence service with the Company. It is available on our website and may be amended from time to time. Each director, officer, employee and contractor of
the Company is required to acknowledge that he or she understands, and agrees to comply with, this Policy. Amendments We are committed to continuously
reviewing and updating our policies and procedures. The Company therefore reserves the right to amend, alter or terminate this Policy at any time and for any
reason, subject to applicable law. A current copy of the Companya€ ™ s policies regarding insider trading may be obtained by contacting the Legal Department
and is also available on the Company website at: https://ir.ui.com/sites/default/files/ubiquiti-insider-trading-policy.pdf . Nothing in this Insider Trading Policy
creates or implies an employment contract or term of employment. Employment at the Company is employment at-will. Employment at-will may be terminated
with or without cause and with or without notice at any time by the employee or the Company. Nothing in this Insider Trading Policy shall limit the right to
terminate employment at-will. No employee of the Company has any authority to enter into any agreement for employment for a specified period of time or to
make any agreement or representation contrary to the Companya€™s policy of employment at-will. Only the Chief Executive Officer of the Company has the
authority to make any such agreement, which must be in writing. The policies in this Insider Trading Policy do not constitute a complete list of Company policies
or a complete list of the types of conduct that can result in discipline, up to and including dismissal for cause, regardless of whether or not your failure to comply
with this Policy results in a violation of law. A -18- SCHEDULE I Individuals subject to Section 16 reporting and liability provisions 1. Directors 2. President,
principal financial officer, principal accounting officer (or, if there is no such accounting officer, the controller), any vice-president of the Company in charge of a
principal business unit, division or function (such as sales, administration or finance), any other officer who performs a policy- making function, or any other
person who performs similar policy-making functions for the Company. A DocumentExhibit 21.1Subsidiaries of Ubiquiti Inc.*UI LimitedTaiwanUbiquiti (Taiwan)
Sales LimitedTaiwanUbiquiti Cayman Development LimitedCayman IslandsUbiquiti Cayman Limited Cayman Islands*Pursuant to Item 601(b)(21)(ii) of
RegulationA S-K, the names of other subsidiaries of Ubiquiti Inc. are omitted because, considered in the aggregate, they would not constitute a significant
subsidiary as of the end of the year covered by this report.DocumentExhibit 23.1CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRMWe
consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-251503, 333-193793, 333-185958 and 333-177310) on Form S-8 of our report
dated AugustA 23, 2024, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Ubiquiti Inc. and subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting. /s/ KPMG LLPNew York, New YorkAugustA 23, 2024 DocumentExhibit 31.1CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TOSECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 20021,
Robert J. Pera, certify that:1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Ubiquiti Inc.;2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such



statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial
information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;4. The registranta€™s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a&€“15(e) and 15da€“15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a4€“15(f) and 15da€“15(f)) for the registrant and have:(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;(b) Designed such internal control over
financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registranta€™s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and(d) Disclosed in this report any change in
the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registranta€ ™s most recent fiscal quarter (the registranta€™s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registranta€™s internal control over financial
reporting; and5. The registranta€™ s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registranta€™s auditors and the audit committee of the registranta€™ s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registranta€™s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that
involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting.A Date: August 23, 2024/s/
Robert J. PeraRobert J. PeraChief Executive Officer and Director(Principal Executive Officer)DocumentExhibit 31.2CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL
OFFICER PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TOSECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF
2002 I, Kevin Radigan, certify that:1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Ubiquiti Inc.;2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial
information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;4. The registranta€™s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13aa€“15(e) and 15da€“15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13aa€“15(f) and 15da€“15(f)) for the registrant and have:(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;(b) Designed such internal control over
financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registranta€™s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and(d) Disclosed in this report any change in
the registrantd€™s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registranta€™s most recent fiscal quarter (the registranta€™s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registranta€™ s internal control over financial
reporting; and5. The registranta€™s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registranta€™s auditors and the audit committee of the registranta€™s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registranta€™s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that
involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting.A Date: August 23, 2024/s/
Kevin RadiganKevin RadiganChief Accounting and Finance Officer(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)DocumentExhibit
32.1CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICERPURSUANT TO18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TOSECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 20021, Robert J. Pera, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SectionA 1350, as adopted pursuant to
SectionA 906 of the Sarbanes- -Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of Ubiquiti Inc. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended JuneA 30, 2024 fully complies
with the requirements of SectionA 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and that information contained in such Annual Report on
Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of Ubiquiti Inc.Date: AugustA 23, 2024 A By:A /s/ Robert J.
PeraName:A Robert J. PeraTitle:A Chief Executive Officer and Director(Principal Executive Officer)l, Kevin Radigan, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.

SectionA 1350, as adopted pursuant to SectionA 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of Ubiquiti Inc. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended JuneA 30, 2024 fully complies with the requirements of SectionA 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and that information
contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of Ubiquiti Inc.Date:
AugustA 23, 2024 A By:A /s/ Kevin RadiganName:A Kevin RadiganTitle:A ChiefA Accounting and FinanceA Officer(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)ui-06302024xex97UBIQUITI INC. Incentive Compensation Clawback Policy 1. Overview. The Compensation Committee (the
a€ceCommitteea€) of the Board of Directors (the a€ceBoarda€) of Ubiquiti Inc. (the &4€ceCompanya€) has adopted this Incentive Compensation Clawback Policy
(this &€cePolicya€) which requires the recoupment of certain incentive-based compensation in accordance with the terms herein and is intended to comply with
the New York Stock Exchange (the &€eNYSEa€) Listing Company Manual Section 303A.14, as such rule may be amended from time to time (the 4€eListing
Rulesa€). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to such terms under Section 12 of this Policy. 2. Interpretation and
Administration. The Committee shall have full authority to interpret and enforce the Policy; provided, however, that the Policy shall be interpreted in a manner
consistent with its intent to meet the requirements of the Listing Rules. As further set forth in Section 10 below, this Policy is intended to supplement any other
clawback policies and procedures that the Company may have in place from time to time pursuant to other applicable law, plans, policies or agreements. 3.
Covered Executives. The Policy applies to each current and former Executive Officer of the Company who serves or served as an Executive Officer at any time
during a performance period in respect of which Incentive Compensation is Received, to the extent that any portion of such Incentive Compensation is (a)
Received by the Executive Officer during the last three completed Fiscal Years or any applicable Transition Period preceding the date that the Company is
required to prepare a Restatement (regardless of whether any such Restatement is actually filed) and (b) determined to have included Erroneously Awarded
Compensation. For purposes of determining the relevant recovery period referenced in the preceding clause (a), the date that the Company is required to
prepare a Restatement under the Policy is the earlier to occur of (i) the date that the Board, a committee of the Board, or the officer or officers of the Company
authorized to take such action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare a
Restatement or (ii) the date a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare a Restatement. Executive Officers subject to this
Policy pursuant to this Section 3 are referred to herein as a€ceCovered Executives.a€ 4. Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation. If any Erroneously
Awarded Compensation is Received by a Covered Executive, the Company shall reasonably promptly take steps to recover such Erroneously Awarded
Compensation in a manner described under Section 5 of this Policy. 5. Forms of Recovery. The Committee shall determine, in its sole discretion and in a manner
that effectuates the purpose of the Listing Rules, one or more methods for recovering any Erroneously Awarded Compensation hereunder in accordance with
Section 4 above, which may include, without limitation: (a) requiring cash reimbursement; (b) seeking recovery or forfeiture of any gain realized on the vesting,
exercise, settlement, sale, transfer or other disposition of any equity-based awards; (c) offsetting the amount to be recouped from any compensation otherwise
owed by the Company to the Covered Executive; (d) cancelling outstanding vested or unvested equity awards; or (e) taking any other remedial and recovery
action permitted by law, as Exhibit 97 A 2 determined by the Committee. To the extent the Covered Executive refuses to pay to the Company an amount equal to
the Erroneously Awarded Compensation, the Company shall have the right to sue for repayment and/or enforce the Covered Executivea€™s obligation to make
payment through the reduction or cancellation of outstanding and future compensation. Any reduction, cancellation or forfeiture of any compensation shall be
done in compliance with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder. 6. No Indemnification.
The Company shall not indemnify any Covered Executive against the loss of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation for which the Committee has determined to
seek recoupment pursuant to this Policy. 7. Exceptions to the Recovery Requirement. Notwithstanding anything in this Policy to the contrary, Erroneously
Awarded Compensation need not be recovered pursuant to this Policy if the Committee (or, if the Committee is not composed solely of Independent Directors, a
majority of the Independent Directors serving on the Board) determines that recovery would be impracticable as a result of any of the following: (a) the direct
expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing the Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered; provided that, before concluding that it would be
impracticable to recover any amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on expense of enforcement, the Company must make a reasonable attempt to
recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation, document such reasonable attempt(s) to recover, and provide that documentation to the NYSE; or (b)
recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet
the requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and the regulations thereunder. 8. Committee Determination Final. Any determination by the
Committee with respect to the Policy shall be final, conclusive and binding on all interested parties. 9. Amendment. The Policy may be amended by the
Committee from time to time, to the extent permitted under the Listing Rules. 10. Non-Exclusivity. Nothing in the Policy shall be viewed as limiting the right of
the Company or the Committee to pursue additional remedies or recoupment under or as required by any similar policy adopted by the Company or under the
Companya€™s compensation plans, award agreements, employment agreements or similar agreements or the applicable provisions of any law, rule or
regulation which may require or permit recoupment to a greater degree or with respect to additional compensation as compared to this Policy (but without
duplication as to any recoupment already made with respect to Erroneously Awarded Compensation pursuant to this Policy). This Policy shall be interpreted in
all respects to comply with the Listing Rules. 11. Successors. The Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Executives and their beneficiaries,
heirs, executors, administrators or other legal representatives. A 3 12. Defined Terms. 4€ceCovered Executivesa€ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3 of
this Policy. a€ceErroneously Awarded Compensationa€ shall mean the amount of Incentive Compensation actually Received that exceeds the amount of Incentive
Compensation that otherwise would have been Received had it been determined based on the restated amounts, and computed without regard to any taxes paid.
For Incentive Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of erroneously awarded Incentive Compensation is not subject
to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in a Restatement: (A) The calculation of Erroneously Awarded Compensation shall be based on a
reasonable estimate of the effect of the Restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon which the Incentive Compensation was Received; and



(B) The Company shall maintain documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to the NYSE. a€ceExecutive
Officera€ shall mean the Companya€™s president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer (or if there is no such accounting officer, the
controller), any vice-president of the Company in charge of a principal business unit, division, or function (such as sales, administration, or finance), any other
officer who performs a policy-making function, or any other person who performs similar policymaking functions for the Company. Executive officers of the
Companya€™s parent(s) or subsidiaries shall be deemed executive officers of the Company if they perform such policy making functions for the Company.
a€ceFinancial Reporting Measuresa€ shall mean measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing
the Companya€™s financial statements, and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures, including, without limitation, stock price and
total shareholder return (in each case, regardless of whether such measures are presented within the Companya€™s financial statements or included in a filing
with the Securities and Exchange Commission). &€ceFiscal Yeara€ shall mean the Companya€™s fiscal year; provided that a Transition Period between the last
day of the Companya€™s previous fiscal year end and the first day of its new fiscal year that comprises a period of nine to 12 months will be deemed a
completed fiscal year. a€celncentive Compensationd€ shall mean any compensation (whether cash or equity- based) that is granted, earned, or vested based
wholly or in part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure, and may include, but shall not be limited to, performance bonuses and long- term
incentive awards such as stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance share units or other equity-based awards.
For the avoidance of doubt, Incentive Compensation does not include awards that vest exclusively upon completion of a specified employment period, without
any performance condition, and bonus awards that are discretionary or based on subjective goals or goals unrelated to Financial Reporting Measures.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, compensation amounts shall not be considered a€celncentive Compensationa€ for purposes of the Policy unless such
compensation is Received (1) while the Aa Company has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange or a national securities association and (2)
on or after October 2, 2023, the effective date of the Listing Rules. a&€ceIndependent Directora€ shall mean a director who is determined by the Board to be
a€mindependenta€ for Board or Committee membership, as applicable, under the rules of the NYSE, as of any determination date. &€ceListing Rulesa€ shall
have the meaning set forth in Section 1 of this Policy. Incentive Compensation shall be deemed d€eReceiveda€ in the Companya€™s fiscal period during which
the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive Compensation award is attained, even if the payment or grant of the Incentive Compensation occurs
after the end of that period. &€ceRestatementa€ shall mean an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial
reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements
that is material to the Companya€™ s previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the
current period or left uncorrected in the current period. &€ceTransition Perioda€ shall mean any transition period that results from a change in the
Companya€™s Fiscal Year within or immediately following the three completed Fiscal Years immediately preceding the Companya€™ s requirement to prepare a
Restatement. Adopted on: November 30, 2023 A



